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Our Values & Vision

Bias for Action :: Seizing opportunities and delivering results
Teamwork :: working together to exceed goals

Courage :: Leading constructive change

Integrity :: Doing what is right

Innovation :: Creating value for customers and shareholders

Through great people who are passionate about serving the evolving
needs of our customers, we will become a leader in specialty

pharmaceuticals.

Strong Pharmaceutical Product Pipeline
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We had a busy year...

Pharmaceuticals Milestones: We expanded our growing pain man-
agement franchise, driving new KADIAN® sales, preparing to launch
the FLECTOR® Patch, gaining “proof of concept” for abuse-deterrent
EMBEDA™, and broadening our development portfolio.

Animal Health Milestones: We launched seven new products, identi-
fied eight new indications, secured approvals in 20 new geographies,
and finalized two acquisitions in China that extended our global reach
and gave us access to new, low-cost manufacturing capabilities.

Research and Development (R&D) Milestones: We ramped up our
investment in new products and technologies, reflecting our deep
commitment to funding R&D and innovation in order to capture
rapidly emerging opportunities in the pain management marketplace.

Active Pharmaceuticals Ingredients Milestones: We entered an
agreement in early 2008 to sell this business to 3i, a global private
equity and venture capital firm, and we laid the groundwork to
redeploy the proceeds to fuel our future growth.

And there’s much more ahead. ..




Consolidated Revenues
Continuing Operitions

(% in millions)

‘03 '04 ‘05 06 ‘07

Years Ended December 31,

Consoliditted Research and Development

Continuing Operations

(5 in millivns)y

‘03 ‘04 '05 ‘06 ‘07

{in miflions, except per share data} 2003 2002 2005 2006 2007
PROFIT AND LOSS
Net revenues $ 479 ¢ 513 § 554 $654 § 722
Operating income (loss) $ 69 $ 63 % 95 $ 96 § 1
Net income {loss) from continuing operations $ O % @47 % 62 % 60 § (14)
SHARE DATA
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

income (loss) from continuing operations $(0.19) $(090 % 117 %11t 5(0.32)
Average common shares outstanding (diluted) 52.0 52.1 530 542 42.9
BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31
Cash and cash equivalents $ 59 ¢ 105 $ 800 $113 § 303
Total assets $2,342  $2,040 91,623 $927 $1,288
Total debt $ 817 § 702 $ 417 % — § 3N
Stockholders’ equity $1,131 ¢ 884 § 918 $724 $ N
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question answer

Dr. Weaver has participated in more than 100 different
clinical trials, has published more than 150 scientific man-
uscripts and abstracts, and has given more than 1,000
scientific presentations during his medical career.

Dr. Art Weaver

Clinical Professor of
Medicine Emeritus,
Section of Rheumatology

University of Nebraska
Medical Center




“It's important that
we find a safe and
effective way to treat
musculoskeletal pain,
which accounts for
approximately one in
four patient visits to a
primary care doctor's
office each year.”

Q: How widespread is the prob-
lem of patients with musculoskel-
etal pain?

A: This is a significant issue in
America today: Approximately one
in four patient visits to a primary
care doctor’s office is related to
musculoskeletal pain.

Q: How has this problem been
addressed in the past by the
medical community?

A: Doctors have historically prescribed
non-steroidal anti-inflammatery drugs
(NSAIDs), and more recently, COX-2
selective agents. While these are
effective in treating pain, there can
he side effects that make doctors
reluctant to prescribe them.

Q: What are some of the side
effects?

A: Roughly 50 percent of patients
taking non-selective NSAIDs orally
will develop a mucosal ulceration or
erosion on upper endoscopy within
just a few days. Nineteen to 25 per-
cent will develop endoscopic gastric
or gastroduodenal ulcers within one
week to 10 days of treatment with
oral non-selective NSAIDs. Several
epidemiofogic studies have suggested
that the rate of GI complications is
highest within the first month of use
for non-selective NSAIDs. Even over-
the-counter non-selective NSAIDs
are associated with about a 20 per-
cent gastric ulcer rate after 10 days.

Approximately 70 percent of patients
will experience some lower gastroin-
testinal (Gl injury. Upper G) symp-
toms such as dyspepsia, nausea,
heartburn and abdominal pain account
for up to 50 percent of reported
intolerance with non-specific NSAIDs.
Patients complaining of dyspepsia

are 10 times more likely to undergo
endoscopic procedures, which occur
in a high percentage of patients

and account for the primary reason
that most patients stop taking non-
selective NSAIDs and COX-2 selective
agents. Further complicating the issue
is that patients are often mixing a
prescription NSAID or COX-2 selective
agent with over-the-counter NSAIDs
and/or daily fow-dose aspirin, a com-
bination that can increase Gl risk. In
addition, there are cardiovascular risks
associated with both, as many studies
have shown over the last few years.
As a result, there has been a signifi-
cant decline in the total number of
prescriptions being written for non-
selective NSAIDs and COX-2 selective
agents over the past three years.

Q: What do you in the medical
community do to cut down the
risks associated with oral NSAIDs?

A: We work to identify patients with
the greatest risk for adverse events,
such as people who have had a past
complicated ulcer; take multiple
NSAIDs, high-dose NSAIDs, or antico-
agulants; and people who have had
a past uncomplicated ulcer, are older
than 70, or are on stercids. We try to
mitigate this risk by stopping NSAID
use altogether, prescribing a non-
NSAID analgesic, decreasing the
NSAID dosage, using lower risk
NSAIDs, and prescribing medical
co-therapy, such as a Proton pump
inhibitor or misoprostal. We must
also assess cardiovascular risk prior

to prescribing oral NSAIDs or COX-2
selective agents.

Q: What is the solution?

A:ft's important that we continue to
search for safer ways to treat muscu-
loskeletal pain. Oral, non-selective
NSAIDs and COX-2 selective agents
are effective, but we must find safer
alternatives. Topical NSAIDs may
present one such alternative: They
are applied at the site of the pain,
and the drug penetrates locally with
littie systernic absorption. Topical
NSAIDs have been commonly used
with success in Europe and Asia for
more than 20 years.

Q: So topical NSAIDs are safe?

A: Topical NSAIDs, like oral non-
selective NSAIDs and COX-2 selective
agents, carry a general black box
warning for G and cardiovascular
events, but the studies to date have
certainly suggested an improved
safety profile compared with oral
agents. Topical NSAIDs can cause
some mild Gl disorders, such as nausea
and dyspepsia in a small percentage
of users, as well as some skin irritations.
However, none of the more serious
problems caused by NSAIDs taken
orally, such as complicated G and
cardiovascular events, have been
reported to date.

Q: Will topical NSAIDs help to fill
the void in the market for the
treatment of pain?

A: | think there wilt be a significant
increase in the use of these topical
drugs because of the delivery system.
The perceived safety of NSAIDs
applied topically rather than orally is
a key reason why there is such liberal
use in Europe—and why | suspect
there will be interest here in the U.S,
Long-term safety studies of various
topical NSAIDs will be of intense
interest and importance to physicians
treating musculosketetal pain.

Alpharing ne. & Subsidiarics Page 5




To Our Fellow Shareholders:

Two thousand and was a dynamic and productive 1
year for Alpharma marked the first full year in our |
transformation to a high-value spedelty phermaceutical |
company. During this period, we capitalized on the foun-
dation we lbuilt in 2006, continuing our to i
an organization with a lbold new strategy, an expanded §
product portfolio, @ robust pipeline, an outstanding
management team, a@ best-in-class workforce and a 3
performance-driven culture, In the process, we met all §
the strategic milestones we targeted and fulfilled the §
commitments we made to our shareholders at our §
Decembber 2006 Investor's Day meeting. As a result, we $
delivered strong 2007 performance and the way 3
to generate improved shareholder velue in the future,  §
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Expanding Our Pharmaceuticals
Product Portfolio

As the population ages, the U.S. pain
management market continues to
grow, approaching $20 billion in
annual sales. Alpharma will build a
strong presence in this market by
strengthening our pain management
franchise and providing innovative
products that improve physicians’
ability to treat a range of pain states.
During 2007, we drove 21 percent
year-over-year revenue growth of
KADIAN®, our extended-release
morphine capsule, We also gained two
Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
approvals for KADIAN® line extensions,
bringing the available dosage range
to eight different strengths—the
broadest range available in the
fong-acting opioid market.

We also engaged in a host of busi-
ness development activities aimed at
expanding and diversifying our port-
folio with products that provide
significant therapeutic benefits. We
are strongly attracted to the potential
for topical products that minimize
systemic levels of certain drugs, so
during 2007 we aggressively pursued
and obtained the exclusive licensing
and distribution rights to market

the FLECTOR® Paich, the first FDA-
approved, prescription-only, topical,
non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
(NSAID) in the U.S, The FLECTOR®
Patch is used to treat acute pain from
minor strains, sprains and contusions,
and it represents the type of differen-
tiated product for which Alpharma

will become increasingly recognized.
What's more, we conducted our pre-
commercialization planning, including
sales force expansion and training, in
five short months—a clear testament
to the proficiency of ocur team and
the execution-oriented "bias for
action” that characterizes our corpo-
rate culture.

We also recognized the opportunity
to buitd on the FLECTOR® Patch with
complementary producis. In line with
this goal, we secured the rights to
ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME® gel,
a prescription topical NSAID product
candidate currently in development
to improve pain and function in
patients with osteoarthritis. Like the
FLECTOR® Patch, the gel, which is
now in Phase Il clinical development,
causes minimal systemic exposure and
therefore has the potential to cause
fewer side effecis—safety attributes
that are important to both physicians
and patients. We also gained access
to the innovative technology platform
that delivers these drugs locally to
targeted areas. A Special Protocol
Assessment (SPA) for the gel is cur-
rently under FDA review; we expect
to submit a New Drug Application
(NDA} in 2009, with launch planned
for 2011.

Developing Our Abuse-Deterrent
Product Platform

Opioids are highly effective medicines
for moderate-to-severe pain but they
are also subject to abuse and diversion
by individuals seeking the euphoria

they can create if misused. As a result,
physicians are often reluctant to
prescribe thern, seeking alternate
treatments that lower the potential
for abuse even though they may be
less effective in pain management.
Currently available extended-release
opioid products do not have abuse-
deterrent mechanisms, but we firmly
believe that products that deter abuse
will play a crucial role in managing
pain in the future. In support of this
conviction, we have invested substan-
tial R&D resources in developing our
abuse-deterrent platform. We now
have a pipeline of these product can-
didates, which we are further enrich-
ing through new licensing agreements.

We made substantial progress in this
effort in 2007, when we completed
Alpharma’s first-ever Phase Il clinical
program, demonstrating the clinical
effectiveness of our own breakthrough
product candidate, EMBEDA™, an
abuse-deterrent extended-release
morphine sulfate plus sequestered
naltrexone. Results showed that
EMBEDA™ delivers significant relief
in osteocarthritis patients with moder-
ate-to-severe chronic pain—a conclu-
sion that confirmed earlier positive
studies. We recently submitted

an NDA with the FDA for EMBEDA™,
which we expect to be the first
abuse-deterrent extended-release
opioid on the market. We are also
applying this proprietary technology
to other molecules that we will move
into clinical development in 2008.

Alpharma Inc. & Subsidiaries  Page 7




We are also actively exploring other
technologies that expand the alterna-
tives for abuse-deterrent opioids.
During 2007, we signed an agree-
ment with Tris Pharma, Inc. that pro-
vided us with LiquiXR™, a novel and
proprietary drug delivery platform for
sustained-release products in liquid
form. This technology addresses the
need in certain markets for liquid
opioids, and we plan to extend the
utility of this technotogy to our
KADIAN® solid dose form,

To support the growth of our pain
management franchise, we took
steps to significantly expand our sales
and marketing organization during
the year. We recruited an experi-
enced new Pharmaceuticals sales and
marketing leadership team, and we
doubled the size of our sales force,
supplementing our afready excellent
associates with experienced sales
professionals who will help to accel-
erate sales of KADIAN® and the
FLECTOR® Patch, as well as promote
the new products emerging from
our pipeline.

Sustaining Growth and
Profitability

In our Animal Health business, we
had another year of record sales and
profitability. This robust growth was
driven by the addition of seven new
products, eight new indications for
existing products and 20 approvals

to sell existing products in new
geographic regions, We also made
two acquisitions in China that cre-
ated important new commercial
opportunities, increased our supply
chain flexibility and expanded our
commercial base in Asia. Moreover,
we were able to accomplish this
expansion and deliver strong financial
results in this business in spite of rising
raw materials costs—a clear testa-
ment to our focus on productivity
improvements, our reputation for
refiahility and our strong customer
relationships,

While we focused on a number of
new growth opportunities in our
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients
(API) business in 2007, we announced
an agreement to sell the business in
early 2008, thereby streamlining our
Company and narrowing our focus
to our fast-growing, high-margin
Pharmaceuticals and Animal Health
businesses. We are currently explor-
ing redeployment of the $365 million
in net after-tax proceeds upon com-
pletion of the API divestiture, and
we expect to use these proceeds to
leverage strategic growth opportuni-
ties, in our Pharmaceuticais and
Animal Health businesses. We are
confident that these efforts, com-
bined with a possible future share
buyback program, should enable us
to effectively increase shareholder
value over the long term.

Strengthening Our Financial
Position

“Qur 2007 operating

achievements yielded
strong financial perfor-
mance and positioned
us to deliver substantially
improved value for
shareholders.”

Alpharma‘s 2007 operating achieve-
ments paved the way for us to deliver
strong financial results for the year.
Revenues, including those generated
in our APl business, increased 10 per-
cent to $722 million from 3654 mil-
fion in 2006. Underscoring our
increased commitment to R&D, our
investment grew to $80 million, or
approximately 11 percent of sales,
excluding licensing and milestone
payments, compared with $44 mil-
lion in 2006, or approximately 7 per-
cent of sales. We entered 2008 with
mare than $300 million in cash,
which provides us with the resources
to invest in our core businesses. We
also continued to maintain rigorous
financial controls and cost-manage-
ment disciplines to ensure that our
resources are concentrated on efforts
that offer the greatest growth
opporiunities.




Developing Excellent Leadership
and a Powerful Infrastructure

Fast-growing companies must have
experienced and talented stewardship
to develop and execute their strate-
gies and a powerful infrastructure

to support their growth. Alpharma
addressed both of these require-
ments during the year, implementing
changes that prepared our Company
for future success.

The Alpharma Board elected two
highly skilied new members—Peter
W. Ladell and David C. U'Prichard—
each of whom brings extensive inter-
national pharmaceutical experience
and a strong growth-oriented per-
spective. We fortified our day-to-day
operating leadership, attracting new
talent and promoting from within to
build a dynamic management team.
We appointed a new Chief Financial
Officer and a new General Counsel, as
well as proven leaders of Corporate
and Business Development, Human
Resources, Marketing, Sales and
Investor Relations. We also strength-
ened our existing team with new dlin-
ical, regulatory and medical experts,
including the appointment of a Chief
Medical Officer. The professionals
we selected for our leadership team
combine deep industry experience
with the integrity and execution-
oriented attitude that embody
Alpharma’s corporate culture,

We also moved our global headquar-
ters 1o Bridgewater, New Jersey, the
nation's “pharmaceutical heartland,”
where it is far easier to attract an
experienced workforce. As a result of
the move, we are consclidating our
Pharmaceuticals and Animal Health
leadership into our new headquarters
building, thereby increasing organiza-
tional efficiencies.

Moving Ahead with Discipline
and Focus

It has been said that the secret to
success is being ready to take advan-
tage of opportunities when they
arise. As we move into the second
year of Alpharma's transformation,
we are confident that we are well
prepared to seize those opportuni-
ties. Qur strategic activities cver the
last 18 months have created a sus-
tainable growth platform, and we
see exciting new opportunities in
both of cur businesses. Our strategy
will remain steadfast throughout
2008: to move assertively to acceler-
ate our growth, maintain our strong
margins, and build our pipeline to
ensure a sustainable future. Qur
focus will be squarely on effectively
executing these important initiatives.

“We are approaching
an inflection point in
the growth of our
Pharmaceuticals busi-
ness. We see ample
opportunity to expand
our pain management
franchise and solidify
Alpharma’s reputation
as a leading provider of
safe, effective and differ-
entiated products that
meet the needs of a
growing market.”

As part of this execution, we will
continue to build our Pharmaceuticals
business, which we believe will be
the engine of our short-term growth,
We are approaching an inflection
peint in this business, and we see
ample opportunity to expand our
pain management franchise and
solidify Alpharma’s reputation as a
leading provider of safe, effective
and differentiated products that
meet the needs of a growing market.
We will seek to maximize revenue
growth of KADIAN®, the FLECTOR®
Patch and the potential of our pipe-
line products, all of which offer sig-
nificant market opportunities.

Alpbarma Inc. & Subsidiaries  Page 9




“As a leader in the
Animal Health market,
we are in an advanta-
geous position to exploit
our industry’s best licens-
ing and M&A opportuni-
ties, including acquisitions
that could extend our
global network or pro-
vide us with valuable
new products.”

In our Animal Health business, we
will continue to execute the proven
strategy that has enabled it to grow
at three times the growth rate of its
market over the last several years. We
will launch new products and expand
indications, grow geographically and
capitalize on our new position in
China. In addition, as a market leader
in medicated feed additives, we are
well positioned to take advantage of
licensing and acquisition opportuni-
ties to continue to drive growth.

We will leverage the opportunities
ahead from a position of increased
strength. As a result of our efforts in
2007, Alpharma today has a founda-
tion that is strong at every level. We
have an insightful Board and a deci-
sive, action-oriented management
team, which is energized by the

demands of our evolving organiza-
tion. We have a corporate culture
that elicits excellence and rewards
strong performance. We have tal-
ented employees committed to meet-
ing and exceeding performance
benchmarks. We have a strong finan-
ctal position, underpinned by a solid
balance sheet, steady cash flow and
rigorous operating cost disciplines.
We offer branded, difterentiated
products on both sides of our busi-
ness, and we have an increasingly
diverse portfolio of highly competi-
tive pipeline products. Moreover, we
have a profound commitment to inno-
vation, whether sourced internally
from our own R&D or externally from
business development oppaortunities.
This commitment sets Alpharma
apart in our industry, and we believe
it will establish our Company as a
leading provider of innovative pain
and animal health products, as well
as the partner of choice.

“We are transforming
Alpharma into a high-
value specialty pharma-
ceutical company with a
range of commercially
successful products that
can deliver sustainable
growth and enhanced
shareholder value.”

CGur management team is committed
te transforming Alpharma into a
high-value specialty pharmaceutical
company with a range of commer-
cially successful products that can
deliver sustainable long-term growth
and enhanced shareholder value. As
we work to accomplish this goal, we
look forward to sharing our progress
with you, our fellow shareholders,
and to rewarding your continued
confidence in our company, our
management team, our products
and our employees.

Dean J. Mitchell
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Selected financial data

The following is a summary of selected financial data for
the Company and its subsidiaries. The data for the three
years ended December 31, 2007, has been derived from,
and all data should be read in conjunction with, the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, included in
Itemn 8 of this Report. On December 19, 2005, the Company

sold its Generics Business and on March 31, 2006, the
Company sofd its ParMed Business {see Note 3 to the con-
solidated financial statements). Both of these businesses are
reported as Discontinued Operations. The following selected
financial data is presented for continuing operations only.
Alb amounts are in thousands, except per share data.

2007 20062 2005 2004% 20039
Total revenues $ 722,425 9$653,828 $ 553,617 $ 513,329 § 479,467
Cost of sales 313,048 271,988 217,363 218,712 210,298
Gross profit 409,377 381,840 336,254 294,617 269,169
Seiling, general and administrative expenses 271,944 250,069 213,323 195,054 174,379
Research and development 140,255 44,430 26,936 25,431 21,837
Asset impairments and other
{(income) expense (3.528) (8,259) 1,184 11,110 4,091
Operating income (loss) 706 95,600 94,811 63,022 68,862
Interest income (expense), net 9,291 16,453 (47,750} {57,982) (63,369)
{Loss) on extinguishment of debt —_ {19,415) (7,989} (2,795) (29,100}
Other income (expense), net (646) (129) 4,706 458 2,562
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before provision for income taxes 9,351 92,509 43,778 2,703 (21,045)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 22,932 32,517 (18,398) 49,466 (11,416)
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $ (13,581) $ 59992 § 62,176 § (46,763) 3 (9,629
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
per common share:
Basic $ (032 3 112 § 1.18 % (0.90) $ {0.19)
Diluted $ (032 § 111 % 117 % (0.90) 3% {0.19)
Dividends per common share — % 014 % 018 % 018 % 0.18
Balance Sheet Information 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Total assets $1,288,165 $927,239 $1,623,383 $2,039,612 $2,342,147
Cash and cash equivalents 302,823 113,163 800,010 105,212 58,623
Total debt 311,032 — 416,669 701,735 817,156
Total stockholders’ equity 731,127 723,999 918,078 883,642 1,130,736

1) mcludes an upfront research and development payment of $60.0 miltion to IDEA AG for an exclusive license agreement to the United States rights

10 ketoprofen it TRANSFERSOMI® gel.

2) Includes a call premium of 3189 million and the write-off of deferred loan costs of $6.5 million, associated with the repayment of the Company’s
remaining outstanding debt in January 2006. The results for 2006 also include a net pre-tax pension curtailment gain of $7.5 million.

3) Includes the reversal of a deferred tax valuation allowance of $32.1 million, taxes of $28.6 million on the repatriation of cash earnings from
conirolled foreign corparations and pre-tax charges of $8.0 million for extinguishment of debt, primarily related 1o the write-off of deferred

loan costs resulting fron the prepayment of debt.

4} includes a $10.0 million charge to write down the carrying value of the formoer AIT Aquatics business assels to fuir value,

5) fncludes loss resulting from the extinguishment of $200.0 miltion of 12 1/2% notes and the related issuance of $220.0 million of & 5/8% notes.
The extinguishment resulted in the expensing of $22.2 million in placement fees and the recognition of 36,2 million of deferred debt expense.
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Management’s discussion

analysis

of financial conditions and results of operations (In millions, except per share data)

Alpharma Business Segments
Alpharma’s business segments are, as follows:

Pharmaceuticals
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients ("API")
Animal Health ("AH")

Overview

Alpharma Inc. (“Alpharma” or the "Company”) is a global
specialty pharmaceutical company that develops, manufac-
tures and markets pharmaceutical products for humans and
animals. The Company markets two branded pharmaceutical
prescription products that are contract manufactured by
third-parties: a pain medication sold under the trademark
KADIAN®, in the U.S., and a prescription topical non-steroidal
anti-inflammatory (*NSAID”} patch product marketed in the
U.S., beginning in January 2008, under the trademark
FLECTOR® Patch. Alpharma manufactures and markets a line
of fermentation-based active pharmaceutical ingredients
and one chemically synthesized active pharmaceutical ingre-
dient (collectively “APIs") that are used primarily by third
parties in the manufacture of finished dose pharmaceutical
products. The Company manufactures and markets animal
health products consisting of medicated feed additives
{"MFAs”) and water soluble therapeutics for production
animals; principally, poultry, cattle and swine. The Company
presently conducts business in more than 80 countries and
has approximately 2,000 employees in over 20 countries.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company
reported revenues of approximately $722.4 million.

In September 2007, the Company's affiliate, Alpharma
Pharmaceuticals LLC, closed on two license and distribution
agreements with Institut Biochimique SA ("1BSA") to distrib-
ute and market two FDA approved products in the United
States: the FLECTOR Patch and TIROSINT® gel capsules

(See Note 5).

In October 2007, the Company's affiliate, Alpharma Ireland
Limited (“Alpharma Ireland”), closed on an agreement with
IDEA AG, to license the exclusive U.S. rights to ketoprofen
in TRANSFERSOME® gel, a prescription topical NSAID in clin-
ical development (See Note 5).

Subsequent Event

in February 2008, the Company announced that it has
entered into an agreement to sell its APl business to certain
investment funds managed by 3i, a global private equity
and venture capital company, for $395.0 million in cash. The
final purchase price is subject to adjustment based on the
closing net cash balance and working capital of the business
and is expected to generate net proceeds, after taxes, fees,
and expenses, of approximately $365.0 million. The Company
will record a gain upon closing of the transaction, which is
expected in the second quarter of 2008 (See Note 25).

Repurchase of Class B Shares; Elimination of
Controlling Stockholder

Until December 28, 2006, A L. Industrier ASA ("A.L.
Industrier”) beneficially owned all of the outstanding shares
of the Company's Class B common stock, or approximately
22% of the Company’s total common stock as of such
date. Through its ownership of the Class B common stock,
A.L. Industrier had voting power that provided it with effec-
tive control of the Company. On December 28, 2006, the
Company purchased 100% (13,872,897 shares) of the out-
standing shares of the Company’s Class B common stock
from A.L. Industrier at a price of $25.50 per share. Including
related fees, the cost of the repurchase was approximately
$307.4 million, which was paid using available cash on
hand. Following the Class B share repurchase, control of
the Company now rests in the holders of the Class A shares
acting by the majority applicable under Delaware law and
the Company's charter documents.

Discontinued Operations

On December 19, 2005, the Company sold its worldwide
human generic pharmaceutical business (the "Generics
Business”), excluding ParMed Pharrmaceuticals Inc.
("ParMed"), its generic pharmaceutical telemarketing
distribution unit, to Actavis Group hf (“Actavis”} for cash
in the amount of $810.0 million. On March 31, 2006,
the Company sold ParMed for cash in the amount of
$40.1 million.

The Generics Business and ParMed (collectively, the
~Discontinued Operations”), are dlassified as discantinued
operations in the Company’s financial statements for the
three years ended December 31, 2007. See Discontinued
Operations and Note 3 to the consofidated financial
statements for further discussion and analysis.
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Continuing Operations

The main factors affecting the Pharmaceuticals business are:

» Pharmaceuticals is focused primarily on the pain manage-
ment market in the United States. It markets two branded
pharmaceutical prescription products, a pain medication
sold in the U.S. under the trademark KADIAN and a pre-
scription topical NSAID patch product marketed in the
U.S., beginning in January 2008, under the trademark
FLECTOR. Both drugs are manufactured by third parties. For
the year ended December 31, 2007, Pharmaceuticals had
product sales, consisting solely of KADIAN, of approxi-
mately $167.7 million and an operating loss of approxi-
mately $61.5 millien. Included in this loss was a research
and development charge of $60.0 million related to the
initial upfront payment to IDEA AG for the exclusive U.S.
rights to ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME gel, an NSAID in
clinical development. KADIAN accounted for approximately
23% of the Company’s total revenues in 2007.

Pharmaceuticals realizes significant gross profit margins on
its sales of KADIAN, but competes in a highly competitive
market, and is subject to potential challenges from generic
equivalents. The Company’s business plan includes signifi-
cant investments in research and development spending to
broaden its product pipeline. This includes investments
associated with the development of next-generation opioid
pain products which include technology designed to deter
abuse and potential milestone payments to IDEA AG for
ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME gel, a prescription topical
NSAID in clinical development. In connection with its January
2008 launch of the FLECTOR Patch, Pharmaceuticals has made
significant investments in sales and marketing in support of
an expanded sales force and promotional activities,

The main factors affecting the Active Pharmaceutical
Ingredients {(APl} business are:

¢ API markets globally active pharmaceutical ingredients
(primarily antibiotics) that are generally used by third
parties in the manufacture of finished dose pharmaceuti-
cal products. APl realizes strong gross profit margins and
has experienced and expects continuing increased global
competition on its products and associated pricing pres-
sures, For the year ended December 31, 2007, APl had
product sales of $187.6 million and operating income of
$34.0 million.

In the second quarter of 2006, API reached an agreement
with Zhejiang Hisun Pharmaceutical Co., Lid. ("Hisun”), a
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Chinese supplier, that, subject to reguiatory approvals, is
expected to enable the Company to expand the manufactur-
ing capacity of one of its current major products, vancomy-
cin, over the next several years. During the third quarter of
2006, the Company commenced the sale of vancomycin
manufactured at the Hisun facility into limited markets, and
began enhancing the site’'s manufacturing processes in
preparation for regulatory approvals. In 2007, AP finalized
its collaboration with Hisun pursuant to which Hisun
commenced the construction of a new plant located in
Taizhou, China for the manufacturing of vancomycin that,
subject to the regulatory approval process, will be owned
and operated by the Company and will incorporate certain
technology purchased from Hisun,

in addition to certain AP technology. The new facility is
expected to be completed in the first half of 2008. Another
of API's main expansion initiatives is forward integration
into the injectable finished product form of several of its
APIs. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company substan-
tially completed the expansion of its Copenhagen facility to
accommodate API's initiative to expand into the injectable
finished product form of several of its APIs.

As previously discussed, in February 2008, the Company
announced that it has entered into an agreement to sell
its APl business to certain investment funds managed by
3i, a globat private equity and venture capital company
{See Note 25).

The main factors affecting the Animal Health
(AH) business are;

« The Company's AH business is a global leader in the
development, registration, manufacturing and marketing
of medicated feed additives {“MFAs”"} and water soluble
therapeutics for food producing animals; including poultry,
cattle, and swine. Agricultural markets have historically had
low growth rates. In addition, demand for the Company's
products has been and could be reduced by bans or restric-
tions on the use of antibiotics used in food-producing
ammals. AH has increased its revenues and profitability
through expanding and enhanced market positions, new
products, new indications for existing products, and cost-
reduction and other productivity improvement initiatives.
Material increases in production costs, including commodity
prices {e.g. corn and soy}, may have a negative effect on
the gross profits of the business. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, AH had product sales of $367.1
million and operating incame of $72.6 mitlion.




The following summarizes significant events and transactions
for the past three years:

2007

* In November 2007, the Company announced positive
results of the pivotal Phase 1l clinical trials for its abuse-
deterrent extended release opioid (EMBEDA™).

In Qctober 2007, the Company closed its agreement with
IDEA AG, a privately held biopharmaceutical company with
headquarters in Munich, Germany, to license the exclusive
United States rights to ketoprafen in TRANSFERSOME gel,
a prescription topical NSAID in clinical development.

In September 2007, the Company closed on two license
and distribution agreements with IBSA, a privately-owned,
global pharmaceutical company headquartered in Lugano,
Switzerland. The agreements provide the Company with
the exclusive license and distribution rights to market:

1) the FLECTOR Patch and 2) TIRQSINT {(synthetic levo-
thyroxine sodium) gel capsules, in the United States.

In July 2007, the Company completed an agreement with
Hisun that, over the next several years, will enable the
Company to expand its capacity to manufacture one of
its major active pharmaceutical ingredients, vancomycin,
subject to the receipt of required FDA and European regu-
latory approvals.

In June 2007, the Company acguired certain assets of
Yantai JinHai Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. located in Yantai
City, Shandong Province, China and plans to utilize this
site to blend products it currently produces in its U.5.
facilities and sells in Asia.

In April 2007, the Company announced it acquired assets
of Shenzhou Tongde Pharmaceutical Ce. Ltd in Shenzhou
City, China for the manufacture of zinc bacitracin that will
be marketed by the Company’s Animal Health business.

tn April 2007, Pharmaceuticals” 10mg. strength of KADIAN
was approved by the FDA, and was subsequently launched
in Sepiember 2007.

tn April 2007, the Company’s Corporate offices moved
from Fort Lee, NJ to Bridgewater, NJ.

In March 2007, the Company entered into an exclusive
development and licensing agreement with Tris Pharma,
Inc. ("Tris"}, a privately owned specialty pharmaceutical
company engaged in the research and development of
drug delivery technologies.

* In March 2007, the Company issued $300.3 million of
Convertible Senior Notes, due March 15, 2027. The net
proceeds from the issuance of $292.8 million, after
deducting expenses, are being used to fund business devel-
oprment transactions and for general corporate purposes.

« In February 2007, Pharmaceuticals” 200mg. strength of
KADIAN was approved by the FDA, and was subsequently
launched in April 2007.

2006
« In December 20086, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding Class B shares for $307.4 million.

» In December 2006, the Company froze its Norwegian
and U.S. pension plans, replacing them with enhanced
defined contribution plans, and realizing a net pre-tax
curtailment gain of $7.5 million.

« In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company's Pharma-
ceuticals business initiated its pivotal Phase Il ciinical trials
for its abuse-deterrent extended release opioid.

* In September 2006, the Company announced positive
results from a Phase || multi-dose clinical efficacy and
pharmacokinetic trial for its abuse-deterrent, extended
release opioid.

s [n June 2006, the Company's APl business announced that
it had reached an agreement with a Chinese manufacturer
to expand its capacity to manufacture vancomycin.

* In March 2006, the Company sold ParMed, its generic
pharmaceutical telemarketing business, to Cardinal Health
Inc. for $40.1 million.

* In March 2006, the U.S. asset-based loan agreement
was amended and restated to reduce the facility to
£75.0 miltion.

+ In January 2006, the Company paid all of its outstanding
debt using available cash, including proceeds from the sale
of its Generics Business in December 2005,

2005
« In December 2005, the Company sold its global Generics
Business to Actavis Group hf for $810.0 million,

* In December 2005, the Company gave notice to the
Trustee’s under both the Senior Notes and the Convertible
Notes that it was irrevocably electing to redeem all such
notes in accordance with the terms of the respective
note indentures.
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¢ In October 2005, the Company entered into a new
$210.0 million U.S. asset-based loan agreement. Proceeds
from this new loan facility were used to pay off and
cancel all outstanding amounts due under the Company’s
2001 U.5. Bank Credit Facility.

* |n the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reversed
its deferred tax valuation allowance given its current
and expected profitability, resulting in a tax benefit of
$£52.1 million.

* The Company repatriated cash in 2005 under the provisions
of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The 2005 tax
provision includes approximately $28.6 miltion related to
this cash repatriation.

Results of Continuing Operations 2007 vs, 2006
(Except as specifically noted, all comparisans of resuits of operations
refer to continuing operations)

Total revenue increased $68.6 million, or 10.5%, for the year
ended December 31, 2007 compared to 2006. In comparison
to 2006, foreign exchange favorably impacted revenues in
2007 by $11.2 million. Operating income was $0.7 million
in 2007 compared to $95.6 million in 2006. Diluted earnings
per share was ${0.32) in 2007 compared to $1.11 in 2006,
Results for the year ended December 31, 2007, included an
October 2007 payment of $60.0 million to IDEA AG for the
exclusive United States rights to ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME
gel. Results for the year ended December 31, 2006, included
the payment of a call premium of $18.9 million and the
write-off of deferred loan costs of $0.5 million, associated
with the repayment of the Company's outstanding debt

in January 2006. The results for 2006 also included a net
pre-tax curtailment gain from the freezing of a Norwegian
and a U.S. pension plan of $7.5 million.

The following table sets forth revenues and operating income by segment:

Revenues Operating Income (Loss}
Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 % 2007 2006 %
Pharmaceuticals:
» Excluding payment to IDEA AG $167.7 $138.2 21.3% $ (1.5) $283 N/M
* Payment to IDEA AG — — (60.0) —_
167.7 138.2 21.3% (61.5) 28.3 N/M
API 187.6 168.7 11.2% 34.0 51.8 (34.4)%
AH 3671 346.9 5.8% 72.6 71,5 1.5%
Unallocated and Eliminations — — {44.4) (56.0) 20.7 %
Total $722.4 $653.8 10.5% $ 07 $956 (99.3)%

NAH=Not meaningful

A discussion of revenues and operating income by
segment, follows:

Revenues:

Pharmaceuticals revenues, consisting solely of KADIAN,
increased $29.5 million, or 21.3%, to $167.7 million in 2007
compared to $138.2 million in 2006. The revenue growth was
principally attributable to increased volumes {($17.7 million)
driven by growth in prescriptions, higher year-over-year pricing
{$7.3 million), and the launch of additional dosage strengths
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(new line extensions) of KADIAN ($4.5 million}. In preparation
for the January 2008 launch of the FLECTOR Patch, the
Company commenced shipment of the product to certain
distributors in December 2007. As a result, at December 31,
2007, the Company recorded deferred revenue of approxi-
mately $3.0 million related to the FLECTOR Patch shipments.
The Company expects to begin recognizing revenues related
to its shipments of the FLECTOR Patch in the first quarter of
2008, utilizing prescription and other accumufated data as

a basis for its estimation of the revenues to be recognized.




Revenues in AP increased $18.9 million, or 11.2%, to $187.6
million compared to $168.7 million in 2006. A smalt portion
of API revenues are denominated in currencies other than
the U.S. dollar. Translation of these revenues inta the U.S.
dollar increased AP1 revenues by approximately $4.4 million
in comparison to 2006, Excluding the year-over-year effects
of currency, API revenues increased 8.6% versus the prior
year. The revenue increase was primarily attributable to
increased volumes, principally related to vancomycin.

AH revenues increased $20.2 million or 5.8%, to $367.1
million in 2007 versus $346.9 million in 2006. Translation

of revenues into the U.S. dollar increased AH revenues by
approximately $6.8 million in comparison to 2006. Excluding
the year-over-year effects of currency, AH revenues increased
3.9% versus prior year. The increase in revenues was due
primarily to higher sales in U.S. poultry and livestock of
approximately $5.6 million, as welk as increased revenues in
the European and Latin American markets of approximately
£7.8 million.

Gross Profit:

On a Company-wide basis gross profit increased $27.5 million
in 2007 compared to 2006. As a percentage of sales, gross
profit was 56.7% in 2007, versus 58.4% in 2006, with the
decline principally attributable to the unfavorable effects of
currency, lower year-over-year pricing in API, and higher
production costs in APl and AH, primarily for raw materials
partially offset by higher gross profits in Pharmaceuticals.

Operating Income (Loss):

Operating Expenses:

" On a consolidated basis, selling, general and administrative

("SG&A") expenses increased $21.9 million in 2007 as
compared to 2006. Foreign exchange had an unfavorable
impact of $6.4 million on the year-over-year change in
SG&A expenses. The remainder of the dollar increase
principally relates to the expansion of the Pharmaceuticals
sales force and related marketing expenses in preparation
for the January 2008 launch of the FLECTOR Patch, as well
as additional operational infrastructure to support increased
revenues and growth initiatives in all three businesses.
These increases were partially offset by lower corporate
and unallocated expenses. As a percentage of revenues,
SG&A expense was 37.6% in 2007 versus 38.2% in 2006.

Research and development expenses increased $95.8
million compared to 2006, due primarily to the $60.0
million upfront payment o IDEA, and spending related

to clinical trials related to abuse-deterrent opioid product
development programs in Pharmaceuticals. As a percentage
of revenues, R&D expenses amounted to 19.4% (or 11.1%,
excluding the $60.0 million upfront payment to IDEA)

in 2007 compared to 6.8% in 2006.

Asset impairments and other (income) expense amounted
to income of $3.5 million in 2007 compared to income of
$8.3 million in 2006. The income in 2007 pertains to facility
exit cost adjustments and asset sales related to previously
closed AH facilities. The income in 2006 primarily consists of
a net curtailment gain of $7.5 million from the freezing of
Norwegian and U.S. pension plans.

The increase/(decrease) in operating income is summarized as follows:

Corporate/

Pharraceuticals AP AH Unallocated Tota!

2006 as reported 3283 $51.8 $71.5 $(56.0) $95.6

Less pension curtailment gain/(loss) — 7.8 — 0.3) 7.5

Research and development:

» pfront payment 1o IDEA AG {60.0) — — — (60.0)

» Other research & development (29.4) {1.9) (4.5) — (35.8)

Facility exit cost adjustments and asset sales — -— 35 — 35

{Increase}/decrease in SG&A expenses (28.3) (3.7 {1.3) 1.4 (21.9)
Net Ol increase {decrease) due to volume, price,

new products, costs, and remaining foreign exchange 279 4.4) 3.4 (0.1 26.8

2007 as reported $(61.5) $34.0 $72.6 $(44.4) $ 07
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Interest Income/{Expense), net:

The Company reported net interest income of $9.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to net
interest income of $16.5 million in 2006. Interest expense in
2007 is principally comprised of interest on the $300.0 mil-
lion Convertible Senior Notes issued in March 2007 and
interest on outstanding borrowings under the Company's
China Credit Facility. An analysis of the components of inter-
est income {(expense), net is, as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006
Interest incomne $15.5 $19.3
interest expense (5.2) (2.5)
Amortization of debt issuance costs (1.0) (0.3}
593 $16.5

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt:

Results for the year ended Decernber 31, 2006 included the
payment of a call premium of $18.9 million and write-offs
of deferred loan costs of $0.5 million associated with the
repayment of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt
in lanuary 2006.

Other Income (Expense), Net:
A detail of Other income (expense), net follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net $(03) 303
Othez, net (0.3) (0.4)

${(0.6) SO

Tax Provision:

The Company’s effective tax rate (“ETR") is dependent on
many factors including: a.) the impact of enacted tax laws in
jurisdictions in which the Company operates; b.) the amount
of earnings by jurisdiction, due to varying tax rates in each
country; and c.) the Company’s ability to utilize various tax
losses and credits.

The tax provision for continuing operations far the year
ended December 31, 2007 was 3$22.9 million. The Company’s
financial results include the $60.0 million upfront payment

Page 18 Afpharma inc. & Subsidiaries

made from Alpharma Ireland to IDEA in October 2007 (see
Note 5). In connection with this payment, and other expenses
incurred by Alpharma Ireland, the Company recorded a
deferred tax asset of $7.6 miltion, representing the future
potential tax benefits associated with these amounts. The
Company recorded a corresponding full valuation allowance
for this deferred tax asset, as Alpharma Ireland is a start-up
operation for a product in development, and the Company
has no basis to conclude it is more likely than not that these
deferred tax assets will be realized.

The tax provision for continuing operations for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was $32.5 million.

In Juty 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,
which became effective for the Company, January 1, 2007.
FIN 48 addresses the determination of how tax benefits
claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should
be recorded in the financial statements. Under FIN 48, the
Company must recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain
tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the tax authori-
ties, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has
a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon
ultimate resolution. The impact of the Company’s reassess-
ment of its tax positions in accordance with FIN 48 did not
have a material impact on results of operations, financial
condition or liquidity.

Discontinued Operations:

On March 31, 2006, the Company completed the sale of its
generic pharmaceutical telemarketing distribution business,
ParMed, for cash in the amount of $40.1 million. The net
after-tax gain on the sale of $19.2 million, is reported in
2006 results from discontinued operations, as a component
of gains from disposals. In addition, included in income from
discontinued operations for the year ended December 31,
2006, are the operating results, net of tax, of ParMed for
the three months ended March 31, 2006.




Results of Continuing Operations 2006 vs. 2005
(Except as specifically noted, aff comparisons of results of operations
refer to continuing operations}

Total revenue increased $100.2 million or 18.1% for the year
ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. Foreign
exchange had a slight favorable impact on revenues for the
year. Operating income was $95.6 million in 2006 compared
to $94.8 million in 2005. Diluted earnings per share was
$1.11 in 2006 compared to $1.17 in 2005. Results for the
year ended December 31, 20086, included the payment of a
call premium of $18.9 million and the write-off of deferred

loan costs of $0.5 million, associated with the repayment
of the Company’s remaining outstanding debt in January
2006. The results for 2006 also included a net pre-tax
curtailment gain from the freezing of a Norwegian and

a U.S. pensicn plan of $7.5 million. 2005 results included
the reversal of a deferred tax valuation allowance of $52.1
million, taxes of $28.6 million on the repatriation of earnings
from controlled foreign corporations and pre-tax charges
of $8.0 million for extinguishment of debt, primarily related
to the write-off of deferred loan costs resulting from the
prepayment of debt.

The following table sets forth revenues and operating income by segment:

Revenues Operating Income {Loss)
Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005 % 2006 2005 %
Pharmaceuticals $138.2 $101.6 36.0% $283 $236 19.9 %
API 168.7 1384 21.9% 518 5.4 (1.9)%
AH 3469 325.1 6.7% 71.5 66.3 7.8 %
Unallocated and Eliminations —_ {11.5) N/M (56.0} (47.5) (17.9)%
Total $653.8 $553.6 18.1% $95.6 $948 0.8 %

N/M—Not meaningfud

The following summarizes revenues and operating income
by segment:

Revenues:

Pharmaceuticals revenues increased $36.6 million, or 36.0%,
to $138.2 miflion in 2006 compared to $101.6 million in
2005. The revenue growth was primarily a result of increased
year-over-year prescriptions which contributed to volume
increases of $17.5 million and higher price realization which
contributed $19.1 million of the year-over-year increase.
Included in the net volume gain is the impact of a reduction
in wholesaler inventory levels in 2006 from approximately
three months at the end of the fourth quarter of 2005, to
approximately one and a half months at the end of the
fourth quarter of 2006.

Revenues in AP} increased $30.3 million, to $168.7 million
compared to $138.4 million in 2005. Revenues in 2006
included approximately $16.8 millicn of low margin sales
of products that, in 2005, were reported as sales by the
Company’s divested Generics Business. The remainder

of the revenue increase of $13.5 million, or 9.8%, was
attributable to increased volumes, principally related to
vancomycin, partially offset by pricing declines. The effect
of translating revenues inta U.S. dollars was insignificant.

AH revenues increased $21.8 million or 6.7%, to $346.9
million in 2006 versus 2005, due primarily to higher volumes
in U.S. livestock markets of approximately $13 million and
increased sales into international markets of approximately
£6.4 million. in addition, translation of revenues into the U.5.
dollar increased AH revenues by approximately $1.7 million
compared to 2005.

Gross Profit:

Overall, the Company's gross profit increased $45.6 million
in 2006 compared to 2005. As a percentage of sales, gross
profit was 58.4% in 2006, versus 60.7% in 2005,

The increase in gross profit dollars is the result of increased
volumes in all three business segments and favorable
price realization in Pharmaceuticals. The lower gross profit
percentage is primarily a result of low margin sales of AP|
products that, in 2005, were reported as sales by the
Company's divested Generics Business. In addition, the
decline in gross profit percentage reflects lower gross
margins in the APl business attributable to lower pricing
on certain products and increased costs associated with
new product development, geographic expansion, and
certain asset write-downs.
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Operating Expenses:

On a consolidated basis, selling, general and administrative
{"SG&A") expenses increased $36.7 million in 2006 as
compared to 2005, As a percentage of revenues, SG&A
expense was 38.2% in 2006 versus 38.5% tn 2005.

The majerity, or $26 million of the year-over-year increase,
was across all three businesses for additional operational
infrastructure to support the Company’s growth initiatives
and also reflects higher distribution costs in 2006. The
remainder of the increase relates primarily to costs related
to senior management retention and transition, and the
discontinuance of the Company’s performance unit plan,
offset partially by a favorable insurance recovery. In addition,
stock option expense contributed $2.4 million of the year-
over-year increase in SG&A and foreign exchange had a
favorable impact of $1.1 million to the year-over-year
change in SG&A expenses.

Operating Income (Loss):

Research and development expenses increased $17.5
million, or 64.9%, in 2006 compared to 2005. As

a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses amounted to
6.8% in 2006 compared to 4.9% in 2005. The increase
in R&D is due almost exclusively to Pharmaceutical's new
product development spending.

Asset impairments and other amounted to a net $8.3
million gain in 2006 compared to a loss in 2005 of

$1.2 million. The gain in 2006 primarily consists of a

net curtailment gain of $7.5 million from the freezing

of the Norwegian and U.S. pension plans. Also included

in 2006 results was a gain of $1.9 million realized from

a contractual setilement related to an AH business disposed
in 2004, partially offset by a charge of $1.1 million related
to a prior year contract dispute.

The increase/(decrease) in operating income is summarized as follows:

Corporate/
Pharmaceuticals APl AH Unallocated Total
2005 as reported $236 $52.4 $66.3 $(47.5) $94.8
Research and development (18.4) (0.1) {0.2) 1.2 {17.%)
Sentor management retention and transition, and
performance unit expense, net of insurance recovery — — — (13.0) (13.0)
Stock option expense, ongoing — — — (2.4) (2.4)
Contract settlements — - 0.8 — 08
Pensian curtailment gain/(loss) — 7.8 — (0.3} 75
Net margin improvement (decrease) due to
valume, price, costs, foreign exchange and expenses 231 (8.3) 4.6 6.0 25.4
2006 as reported $(28.3) $51.8 $715 $(56.0) $956
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Interest Income/(Expensc), net:

The Company reparted net interest income of $16.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to net
interest expense of $47.8 million in the comparable period
last year. The change reflects the repayment of all outstand-
ing debt in the first quarter of 2006 using proceeds from
the sale of the Generics Business and ParMed and the cash
flow generated by the Company. An analysis of the compo-
nents of interest income (expense), net is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Interest income $19.3 $ 14
Interest expense {2.5) (47.0)
Amortization of debt issuance costs (0.3) (2.2)

$16.5 {47 .8)

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt:

Results for the year ended December 31, 2006 included the
payment of a call premium of $18.9 million and write-offs
of deferred loan costs of $0.5 million associated with the
repayment of the Company’s remaining outstanding long-
term debt in January 2006. In the year ended December 31,
2005, the Company reported a loss on extinguishment of
debt of $8.0 million, primarily related to the prepayment of
£267.4 million of bank term debt in 2005, which resulted in
the write-off of deferred loan costs.

Other Income (E;ernse), Net:
A detail of Other income {expense), net follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Foreign exchange gains (losses}, net $ 03 $ 28
Other, net {0.4) 19

$on % 47

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes:

The Company's effective tax rate ("ETR") is dependent on
many factors including: a.) the impact of enacted tax laws in
jurisdictions in which the Company operates; b.) the amount
of earnings by jurisdiction, due to varying tax rates in each
country; ¢.) the Company's ability to utilize various tax credits;
and d.) the estimates of valuation allowances necessary to
value deferred tax assets.

The tax provision for continuing operations for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was $32.5 million, representing
an ETR of 35.2%.

Income taxes for 2005 amounted to a benefit of $18.4
million compared to a pre-tax income of $43.8 million.
This benefit was derived from the reversal of a valuation
allowance on U.S. deferred tax assets of $52.1 million,
partially offset Dy income taxes of $28.6 million related
to the repatriation of earnings under the American

Jobs Creation Act.

Discontinued QOperations:

©On December 19, 2005, the Company sold its worldwide
human generics pharmaceutical business (the “Generics
Business”), excluding ParMed Pharmaceuticals inc. {"ParMed"),
its generic pharmaceutical telemarketing distribution unit,
to Actavis Group hf ("Actavis”) for cash in the amount of
$810.0 million. The net cash proceeds from this sale were
used to repay alt of the Company's cutstanding debt, which
amounted to $416.7 million at December 31, 2005. On
March 31, 2006, the Company sold ParMed for cash in the
amount of $40.1 million. After completing both of these
sales, the Company had no debt and cash and cash equiva-
lents at March 31, 2006, amounting to $366.4 million.

The results of operations of the Generics Business and
ParMed (collectively, the “Discontinued Operations”),
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, are
summarized as follows:

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 20C6 2005
Total revenues $17.1  $870.2

Cost of sales 12.0 580.7
Gross profit 5.1 289.5

Qperating expenses 28 2449
Operating income 23 44.6
Interest expense and amortization of

debt issuance cost — (0.4)
QOther income (expense), net — 23
Income from discontinued operations

before provision for income taxes 2.3 46.5
Provision for income taxes 08 10.2

Net income from discontinued
aperations $15 §$ 363

Net income from discontinued operations in 2006 include
only the results of operations of ParMed for the three months
ended March 31, 2006, prior 10 its sale on March 31, 2006.
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Management’s discussion

analysis

of financial conditions and results of operations (In millions, except per share data)

Inflation
The effect of inflation on the Company’s operations during
2007, 2006 and 2005 was not significant.

Critical Accouniing Policies

The consolidated financial statements are presented on the
basis of accounting principles that are generally accepted in
the United States of America. All professional accounting
standards that are effective as of December 31, 2007, have
been taken into consideration in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. The Company has chosen to highlight
certain policies, which include estimates that it considers
critical to the operations of the business and its consolidated
financial statements:

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk

of loss are transferred to customers. The Companys sub-
sidiaries have terms of FOB shipping point where title and
risk of loss transfer on shipment. Additional conditions for
recognition of revenue are that collection of sales proceeds
is reasonably assured and the Company has no further
performance cbligations.

Revenues from the launch of new and significantly unique
products, for which the Cempany is unable to develop the
requisite historical data on which to base estimates of returns,
due to the uniqueness of the therapeutic area or delivery
technology, as compared to other products in the Company’s
portfalio and in the industry, may be deferred untit such
time that a reliable estimate can be determined and when
the product has achieved market acceptance, which is
typically based on dispensed prescription data and other
information obtained during the period following launch.

In the Company's Pharmaceuticals and AH businesses, sales
to certain customers require that the business remit discounts
to either customers or governmental authorities in the form
of rebates, discounts, promotional allowances, and other
managed-care allowances. In addition, sales are generally
made with limited right of return under certain circumstances.
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Provisions for these discounts are reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations as a reduction of total revenues
and amounted to $64.1 million and $47.1 million for the
years ended Decemnber 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Accruals related to these provisions are reflected on the
balance sheet and classified as either a direct reduction of
accounts receivable or, to the extent that amounts are due
1o entities other than customers, as accrued expenses. The
reserve balances related to these provisions included in
Accounts receivable, net amounted to $11.5 million and
$6.6 million at Decernber 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
The amounts included in Accrued expenses amounted

to $19.6 million and $17.6 million, at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The most significant of these
reserves relates to Medicaid accruals that are recorded as
accrued expenses and estimated based upon experience
within each state and information obtained from whole-
salers regarding inventary tevels. In the case of Medicaid
accruals and all other reserves for discounts, the Company
continually monitors the adequacy of procedures used to
estimate these deductions from revenue by comparison

of estimated amounts to actual experience. Operating
results in 2007 and 2006 were favorably impacted by
$2.0 million and $0.7 million in adjustments to prior year
reserve balances, respectively.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The values assigned to goodwill and intangibles, as well
as their related useful lives, are subject to judgment and
estimation by the Company. In 2002, upon adoption of
SFAS No. 142, the Company ceased amortization of good-
will and periodically reviews goodwill for impairment.

Goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions are determined
based on purchase price allocations. These allocations, includ-
ing an assessment of estimated useful lives, have generally
been performed by qualified independent appraisers using
reasonable vatuation methgdologies. Valuation of intangible
assets is generally based on the estimated cash flows related
to those assets, while the value assigned to goodwill is the




residual of the purchase price over the fair value of all iden-
tifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Usefu! lives
are determined based on the expected future period of
benefit of the asset, the assessment of which considers
various characteristics of the asset, including historical

cash flows.

Asset Impairments

Long-lived assets, including plant and eguipment, and other
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events
or circumstances indicate that a diminution in value may
have occurred, based on a comparison of undiscounted
future cash flows to the carrying amount of the intangible
asset. If the carrying amount exceeds undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recorded based on the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its
fair value. Goodwill is reviewed periodically for impairment
in accordance with SFAS No. 142.

The assessment of potential impairment for a particular
asset or set of assets requires certain judgments and esti-
mates by the Company, including the determination of an
event indicating impairment; the future cash flows to be
generated by the asset, including the estimated life of the
asset and likelihood of alternative courses of action; the risk
associated with those cash flows; and the Company’s cost
of capital or discount rate to be utilized.

Research and Development (“R&D"), Including
In-Process R&D (“IPR&D™)

The Company's products are subject to regulation by
governmental authorities, principally the Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) in the United States and equivalent
authorities in international markets. Research and develop-
ment expenses are charged to the consolidated statement
of operations when incurred, as the Company considers
that regulatory and other uncertainties inherent in the
development of new products preclude it from capitalizing
development costs.

With respect to completed acquisitions, acquired products

or projects which have achieved technical {easibility, signified
by FDA or comparable regulatory body approval, are capital-
ized as intangible assets because it is probable that the costs
will give rise to future economic benefits. Estimates of the

values of these intangible assets are subject to the estimation
process described in *Goodwill and Intangible Assets” above.

Acquired products or projects which have not achieved
technical feasibility (i.e., regulatory approval) are charged
to the statement of operations on the date of acquisition.
In connection with its acquisitions, the Company generally
utilizes independent appraisers in the determination of IPR&D
charges. The amount of this charge is determined based on
a variety of factors including the estimated future cash flows
of the product or project, the likelihood of future benefit
from the product or project, and the leve! of risk associated
with future research and development activities related to
the product or project.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost
is determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all inventories.
The determination of market value involves assessment of
numerous factors, including costs to dispose of inventory
and estimated selling prices. Inventories determined to be
damaged, obsolete, or otherwise unsaleable are written
down to net realizable value.

The Company also purchases raw materials, and manufac
tures finished goods, for certain products prior to the prod-
uct receiving regulatory approval. The Company reviews
these inventories on a case-by-case basis, and records a
write-down of the inventory if it becomes probable that
requlatory approval will not be obtained or the inventory's
cost will not be recoverable based on other factors.
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Management’s discussion

analysis

of financial conditions and results of operations (i millions, except per share deta)

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has two primary defined benefit pension plans,
one in the U.5. and one in Norway. Effective December 31,
2006, the Company froze these two pension plans; replacing
both with enhanced defined contribution plans. In connection
with the freezing of these plans, the Company recorded

net pre-tax curtailment and settlement gains, net of special
termination benefits, of $7.5 million in 2006.

The Company provides a range of benefits to employees
and retired employees, including pension, post-retirement,
post-employment and health care benefits. The Company
records annual amounts relating to these plans based on
calculations, which include various actuarial assumptions,
including discount rates, assumed rates of return, compen-
sation increases, turnover rates, and hea'th care cost and
trend rates. The Company reviews its actuarial assumptions
on an annual basis and makes modifications to the assump-
tions based on current rates, changes in historical experience,
and trends when it is deemed appropriate to do s0. Gains
and losses arising from changes in assumptions are amortized
over future periods. The Company believes that the assump-
tions utilized for recording its obligations under its plans are
reasonable based on input from actuaries. In determining
pension costs for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan, the
Company used a discount rate of 6.00% in 2007, 5.75%

in 2006, and 6.00% in 2005; and an assumed return on
plan assets of 8.00% in 2007, 2006 and 2005. The Company
used an assumed rate of compensation increases of 4.5% for
both 2006 and 2005, The changes in these plan assumptions
did not have a significant impact on net earnings for the
years involved.

Litigation and Contingencies

The Company is subject to litigation in the ordinary course
of business, and also to certain other contingencies (see
Item 3 of this Form 10-K and Note 13 to the Financial
Statements). The Company records legal fees and other
expenses related to litigation and contingencies as incurred
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net of estimated realizable insurance recoveries. Additionally,
the Company assesses, in consultation with its counsel, the
need to record liability for litigation and contingencies on a
case-by-case basis. Reserves are recorded when the Company,
in consultation with counsel, determines that a loss related
to a matter is both probable and reasonably estimable.

Income Taxes

The Company applies an asset and liability approach to
accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax liabilities and
assets are recognized for the expected future tax conse-
quences of temporary differences between the financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differ-
ences are expected to reverse. The recoverability of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the Company’s assessment
that it is more likely than not that sufficient future taxable
income will be generated in the relevant tax jurisdiction to
utilize the deferred tax asset. in the event the Company
determines that future taxable income will not be sufficient
to utilize the deferred tax asset, a valuation allowance is
recorded. Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly to
assess the likelihood of realization, which is ultimately
dependent upon generating future taxable income prior

to the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At Decermnber 31, 2007, the Company had $302.8 million in
cash and cash equivalents and $311.0 of debt outstanding.
Interest income earned on investments was $15.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007 and is included

in Interest income (expense), net in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

During the second quarter of 2007, the Company entered
into a revolving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A.
that provided a maximum of $10.6 million of loans to cer-
tain of the Company's entities in The People’s Republic of
China (the “China Credit Facility”). The amount of the China




Credit Facility was subsequently increased to $21.6 million
during the fourth quarter 2007. As of December 31, 2007,
the outstanding borrowings under the China Credit Facility
were $10.6 million and are classified within Short-term debt
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Interest expense associ-
ated with the China Credit Facility is calculated based on the
amount borrowed, and amounted to $0.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The effective interest rate
on the China Credit Facility for year ended December 31,
2007, was 6.0%.

In March 2007, the Company issued $300.0 miilion of
Convertible Senior Notes, due March 2027, The net
proceeds from the issuance, after deducting expenses,
were $292.8 million. The net proceeds are being used to
fund business development transactions and for general
corporate purposes.

Cash flow provided by operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was $47.0 million including the
$60.0 million payment to IDEA, compared to $42.9 million
provided from operations in 2006. During 2007, the Company
received net cash tax refunds of $1.9 million versus $64.4
million paid for cash taxes in 2006, which is included in the
overall change. Included in the $64.4 million paid for cash
taxes in 2006, was approximately $30 million related to the
repatriation of foreign earnings and additional cash payments
of approximately $25 million related to the settlement of
accrued tax expenses associated with the Generics Business
disposition, Cash provided by operating activities in 2006
includes the cash flows of discontinued operations.

Cash flow used in investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2007 included $100.3 million related to the
Company's licensing agreement with IBSA and $6.9 million
related to the Company's acquisitions in China (See Notes 5
and 4, respectively). Cash flow used in investing activities
alsc included capital expenditures of $60.5 million, of which
approximately $9.6 miilion related to the manufacturing afi-
ance with Hisun (See Note 4). Cash provided by investing
activities for 2006 included the proceeds from the sale of

ParMed of $40.1 million and, in 2005, the net proceeds
from the sale of the Generics Business of $804.4 miltion,
Capital expenditures amounted to $36.2 million in 2006
and $38.9 million in 2005. Cash from investing activities
includes cash flows of discontinued operations.

The cash flow provided by financing activities in 2007 was
$310.4 million compared with a use of $732.8 million in
2006. Cash flow from financing activities in 2007 includes
the net proceeds of $292.8 million from the issuance of
£300.0 million in Convertible Senior Notes and net proceeds
of $10.7 million primarily from a revolving credit facility for
the Company's entities in The People’s Republic of China.
The use of funds in 2006 included $436.3 million related to
the repayment of debt, including a call premium of $18.9
million. Also included in the use of funds in 2006 was the
repurchase of all the Class B shares for $307.4 million.

Working capital, including cash and cash equivalents, at
December 31, 2007, was $383.1 milion compared to working
capital of $198.0 million at December 31, 2006. Working
capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities. The
increase in working capital from December 31, 2006 to 2007
is primarily related to the $292.8 million of cash received in
conjunction with the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes
in March 2007. In addition te the increase in cash, the increase
in current assets reflects increases in accounts receivable and
inventory levels as a result of higher volumes and supply
chain planning in anticipation of expected increased market
demand for certain products.

Stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2007 was $731.1
million compared to $724.0 million at December 31, 2006.
The accumulated deficit increased by $18.3 million reftecting
the 2007 net loss, and the impact {$4.7 million) of the first
quarter 2007 implementation of FIN 48. At December 31,
2007, due primarily to the cumulative weakening of the U.S.
dollar against many other currencies, the Company reported
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income of $70.3 million
compared to $58.2 million at December 31, 2006.
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Management’s discussion ¢4 analysis

of financial conditions and results of operations (in millions, except per share data)

Contractual Obligations
At December 31, 2007, the Company's contractual cash obligations are summarized as follows {in millions):

Less than 2-3 4-5 More than
Contractual Cash Commitments Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Operating leases $ 321 $ 30 $ 65 § 6.2 $ 164
Purchase obligations 315.7 50.8 783 56.0 1306
Total contractual cash commitments $347.8 $538 $84.8 $62.2 $147.0

Under the terms of certain business and product acquisition and licensing agreements, the Company may be required to
make additional payments in future years upon the occurrence of specified events. Additionally, the Company has a number
of conditiona! supply agreements which obligate the Company to purchase products or services from vendors based on
Company forecasts which are updated on a regular basis and at prices subject to negotiation and change. Certain of the
supply agreements may require minimum payments under certain circumstances if minimum quantities are not purchased.
See Note 13 to the financial statements for additional information.

The Company has omitted amounts regarding FIN 48 in the tab'e above, as the estimated payments by year cannot be
reasonably determined.
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Quantitative

The Company's earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctu-
ations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates. The Company's risk management practice
includes the selective use, on a limited basis, of forward
foreign currency exchange contracts. Such instruments are
used for purposes other than trading.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

Foreign currency exchange rate movements create fluctuations
in .S, Dollar reported amounts of foreign subsidiaries whose
local currencies are their respective functional currencies.
The Company and its respective subsidiaries primarily use
forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain cash
flows denominated in currencies other than the subsidiary’s
functional currency. Such cash flows are normally represented
by actual receivables and payables and anticipated receivables
and payabiles for which there is a firm commitment.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had forward foreign
exchange contracts mainly denominated in Euros, Danish
Krones, Hungarian Forints, Norwegian Kroner, Swiss Francs,
Swedish Krona and U.S. Dollars with a notional amount of
$221.0 million. The fair market value of such contracts has
been recognized in the financial statements and is not

qualitative disclosures about market risks

material. All contracts expire in the first quarter of 2008.
The cash flows expected from the contracts will generally
offset the cash flows of related non-functional currency trans-
actions. The change in notional value of the foreign currency
forward contracts resulting from a 10% movement in foreign
currency exchange rates would be approximately $23.0 mil-
lion and generally would be offset by the change in value of
the hedged receivable or payable. Such contracts are not
designated hedges for accounting purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Alpharma’s interest rate risk relates primarily to the asset-based
$75.0 million Senior Secured Credit Facility, which has vari-
able interest rates which reset on a periodic basis. At
December 31, 2007, there were no amounts outstanding
under the Senior Secured Credit Facility. In addition, the
Company has a $21.6 million credit facility in China that is
made available in local currency to the Company’s Chinese
subsidiaries, The facility has a variable interest rate (6.8% as
of December 31, 2007}, which resets on a periodic basis. At
December 31, 2007, $10.6 million was drawn under the
credit facility in China.

The Company also has a $300.0 million Convertible Note
which has a fixed interest rate of 2.125%.
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COHSOlidated balance Sheets (In thousands, except share data)

December 31,

2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 302,823 $ 113,163
Accounts receivable, net 130,246 107,847
Inventories 125,963 106,958
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22,470 25,573
Total current assets 581,502 353,549
Property, plant & equipment, net 283,604 233,447
Intangible assets, net 248,673 160,922
Goodwill 119,192 117,655
Other assets and deferred charges 55,194 61,674
Total assets $1,288,165 $ 927,239
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term debt $ 11,032 $ —
Accounts payable 57,903 50,180
Accrued expenses 121,717 96,303
Accrued and deferred income taxes 7,723 9,090
Total current liabilities 198,375 155,573
Long-term debt 300,000 —
Deferred income taxes 27,358 27,885
Other non-current liabilities 31,305 19,782
Total non-current liabilities 358,663 47,667
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, $0.20 par value (authorized 75,000,000;
issued 44,122,072 and 43,793,414 outstanding) 8.824 8,685
Class B common stock, $0.20 par value (autherized 15,000,000;
issued 11,872,897) 2,375 2,375
Preferred stock, $1 par value (authorized 500,000) —_ —_
Additional paid in capital 1,130,918 1,117,717
Accumulated deficit (166,270) (147.977)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 70,321 58,240
Treasury stock, at cost (315,041) (315,041}
Total stockholders™ equity 731,127 723,999
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,288,165 $ 927,239

See Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Stalements,

Page 28 Alpbarma Inc, & Subsidiaries




COHSOlldated Statements Of OpefatiOHS (In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Total revenues $722,425 $653,828 $553,617
Cost of sales 313,048 271,988 217,363
Gross profit 409,377 381,840 336,254
Selling, general and administrative expenses 271,944 250,069 213,323
Research and development 140,255 44,430 26,936
Asset impairments and other {income) expense (3,528) (8,259 1,184
Operating income 706 95,600 94,811
Interest income {expense), net 9,291 16,453 (47,750}
(Loss) on extinguishment of debt — {19,415) (7.989)
Other income {expense), net (646) (129) 4,706
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 9,351 92,509 43,778
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 22,932 32,517 {18,398}
Income (loss) from continuing operations (13,581) 59,992 62,176
Discontinued operations, net of taxes: (Note 3)
Income from discontinued operations — 1,531 36,334
Gains from disposals — 21,021 35,258
Income from discontinued operations — 22,552 71,593
Net income (loss) $(13,581) $ 82,544 $133,769
Earnings {loss) per common share:
Basic
tncome (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.32) 3 1.2 $ 118
Income from discontinued operations $ — $ 042 $  1.37
Net income (loss) $ (0.32) $ 154 $ 255
Diluted
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (0.32) $ 1M $ 117
Income from discontinued operations $ — $ 04 $§ 135
Net income (loss} $ (0.32) $ 1.52 $ 252

See Notes o Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity u mousma

Additional
Common Paid-In
Stock Capital
Balance, December 31, 2004 $10,631 $1,073,921
Comprehensive income:
Net income—2005
Currency translation adjustment
Recognition of currency translation on sale of Generics Business
Minimum pension liability, net
Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared ($.18 per common share)
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock 79 4,793
Amortization of restricted shares
Moedification of restricted stock 2,349
Modification of stock options 3,271
Tax benefit realized from long-term incentive plan 1,818
Exercise of stock options (Class A} 120 4,997
Employee stock purchase plan 52 4,31
Balance, Cecember 31, 2005 $10,882 $1,095,520
Comprehensive income:
Net income—2006
Currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability, net
Unrecognized loss on pensions (SFAS 158), net
Total comprehensive income
Dividends declared ($.14 per common share}
Stock option expense 2,383
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock, including amortization (36) 2,461
Moaodification of restricted stock 193
Maodification of stock options 288 |
Tax benefit realized from long-term incentive plan 3,757 [
Elimination of minimum pension liability, net (SFAS 158) |
Exercise of stock options (Class A) 197 16,408 |
Employee stock purchase plan 17 2,102 |
Reclass for change in accounting presentation (5,395}
Repurchase of B shares
Balance, December 31, 2006 $11,060 $1,117,717
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss—2007
Currency translation adjustment
Unrecognized loss on pensions, net
Total comprehensive loss
Adjustment for FIN 48
Stock option expense 1,777
Award of, and changes in, restricted stock, including amortization 60 3,848
Issuance of stock warrants 1,780
Exercise of stock options {Class A) 59 3,442
Employee stock purchase plan 20 2,354
Balance, December 31, 2007 $11,199 $1,130,918

See Nofes to Consoliduted Financial Statemenis.
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Unearned
Compensation

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income {Loss})

Total
Treasury Stockholders’
Stock Equity

$(7,443)

$(347,425)

$161,602

$ (7.644) $ 883,642

(4,872)
4,320
2,600

133,769

(9,481)

{60,553)
(48,958)
{4,239)

133,769
(60,553)
{48,958)

(4,239)

20,018
(9,481)

4,320
4,949
3,271
1.818
5117
4,423

$(5,395)

$(223,137)

$ 47,852

$ (7.644) $ 918,078

5,395

82,544

(7,384)

8,714
292
(2,565)

3,947

82,544
8.714
292
{2,565)

88,985

(7,384)
2,383
2,425

193
288

3,757

3,947
16,605
2,119

(307,397) (307,397)

$(147,977)

$ 58,240

$(315,041) $ 723,999

(13,581)

(4,712)

12,817
(7386}

(13,581)
12,817
{736)

{1,500)

(4,712)
1,777
3,908
1,780
3,501
2,374

$(166,270)

$ 70,321

$(315,041) $ 731,127
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Consolidated statements of cash flowWs u mousans

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ {13,581) $ 82,544 $ 133,769
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss} to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 49,984 45,750 91,194
Amortization of loan costs 1,012 250 2,168
Interest accretion on convertible debt _ 754 7.055%
Amortization of restricted stock and stock options 5.625 4,844 4,320
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 19,415 7,989
Net gain on pension curtailment — {(7,542) —
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations —_ (21,021) (35,259)
Deferred income taxes 12,913 28,922 (38,070)
Cther non-cash items 2,078 339 3,447
Change in assets and liabilities;
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (18,140) (13,265) 9,210
(Increase) decrease in inventory (12,666) (10,804} 71,793
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,332 16,024 (15,689)
{Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 28,091 (36,158) (28,432)
(Decrease) increase in taxes payable (1,067) {57,439) 32,128
Other, net {10,590) (9,680) 1,658
Net cash provided by operating activities 46,991 42,933 247,281
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (60,499) (36,171} (38,939)
Purchase of intangibles (1,488) (2,880) (5,159)
Licensing activities (100,261) — —
Acquisitions (6,883) {1,089} —
Proceeds from sale of property — 1,100 —
Proceeds from sales of businesses — 40,100 804,421
Net cash provided (used) in investing activities {169,131) 1,060 760,323
Financing activities:
Net advances {payments} under lines of credit 10,678 {35,715) 19,636
Purchase of Class B shares — (307,397) —
Payment of call premium — {18,894) —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes 292,772 — —
Payment of senior long-term debt — (381,702) (311,836)
{Decrease)/increase in book overdraft 1,037 (1,691) (12,318)
Dividends paid - (9,840) (9,481)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 5,875 18,724 9,540
Tax benefits realized from stock option plans —_ 3,757 1,818
Net cash used in financing activities 310,362 {732,758) (302.641)
Net cash flows from exchange rate changes 1,438 1,730 (9,977)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 189,660 (687,035) 694,986
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 113,163 800,198 105,212
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 302,823 $113,163 $ 800,198

See Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Siatements.
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NOteS tO COﬂSOlidated ﬁnaﬂCial Statements (In thousands, except share data)

1. The Company

Alpharma Inc. and Subsidiaries, {the “Company”) is a
global specialty pharmaceutical company that develops,
manufactures and markets pharmaceutical products for
humans and animals.

On December 28, 2006, the Company purchased 100% of
the outstanding shares of the Company’s Class B common
stock from A.L. Industrier ASA (“Industrier”), including related
fees, the cost of repurchasing the B shares was $307,397.
Through its ownership of the Class B common stack, Industrier
had voting power that provided it with effective control of
the Company. Following the Class B share repurchase, control
of the Company rests in the holders of the Class A shares
acting by the majority applicable under Delaware law and
Company's charter documents (See Note 18},

The Company’s businesses are organized in three reportable
segments, as follows:

Pharmaceuticals
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients ("API")
Animal Health ("AH"}

Pharmaceuticals markets two hranded pharmaceutical
prescription products, a pain medication sold in the U.S.
under the trademark KADIAN and a prescription topical
non-steroidal anti-inflammatory ("NSAID™) patch product
sold in the U.S., as of January 2008, under the trademark
FLECTOR Patch.

APl develops, manufactures and markets a range of
antibiotic fermentation-based, and a chemically synthesized,
active pharmaceutical ingredients that are used, primarily
by third parties, in the manufacture of finished dose
pharmaceutical products.

AH develops, registers, manufactures and markets medicated
feed additives ("MFAs"} and water soluble therapeutics for
production animals, which include poultry, cattle and swine.

On February 6, 2008, the Company announced that it had
entered into an agreement to sell its Active Pharmaceuticals
Ingredients business to certain investment funds managed
by 3i, a global private equity and venture capital company
{See Note 25).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

and Other Matters
Basis of Presentation:
The Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated
Statements of Operations have been presented for all
periods to classify as Discontinued Operations, the Company’s
warldwide human generics pharmaceutical business (the
"Generics Business,” which was sold on December 19, 2005),
and ParMed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ParMed,” which the
Company sold on March 31, 2006) (See Note 3). Consistent
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows,” the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows have not been reclassified for
activities of the discontinued operations.

The Company has not reported its APl business as an asset
held for sale, or as discontinued operations, at December
31, 2007, as the applicable criteria in SFAS 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” were
not met as of December 31, 2007 (See Note 25).

Principles of consolidation:

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
the Company and its domaestic and international subsidiaries.
The effects of all significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated. Certain amounts have been reclassified to

conform with the current year presentation.

Use aof estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions.
The estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabiiities at the date of the financial statements and

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during

the reporting period. Actual results could differ from

those estimates.

Cash equivalents:

Cash equivalents include institutional money market funds and
bank time deposits. All investments are highly liquid and,
therefore, are available to the Company on a daily basis.
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Accounts recelvable and allowance for doubtful accounts:
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced
amount and do not bear interest. The aflowance for doubtful
accounts is the best estimate of the amount of probable credit
losses in existing accounts receivable. The allowance is based
on historical write-off experience, current economic condi-
tions and a review of individual accounts. Past due balances
over 90 days and over a specified amount are reviewed
individually for collectibility. A specific reserve for individual
accounts is recorded when the Company becomes aware

of a customer's inability to meet its financial obligations,
such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration

in the customer’s operating results or financial position.

If circumstances related to customers change, estimates

of the recoverability of receivables are further adjusted.
Account balances are charged off against the allowance
when it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.
There is no off-balance-sheet credit exposure related

to the Company's customers.

Inveniories:

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market.

Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis for all inven-
tories. The determination of market value to compare to
cost involves assessment of numerous factors, including
costs to dispose of inventory and estimated selling prices.
Inventory determined to be damaged, obsolete, or other-
wise unsaleable is written down to its net realizable value.

The Company also purchases raw materials, and manufactures
finished goods, for certain products prior to the product
receiving regulatory approval. The Company reviews these
inventories on a case-by-case basis, and records a write-down
of the inventory if it becomes probable that regulatory
approval will not be obtained or the cost of the inventory
will not be recoverable based on other factors.

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.
Expenditures for additions, major renewals and betterments
are capitalized, and expenditures for maintenance and
repairs are charged to income as incurred. When assets
are sold or retired, their cost and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts, with any
gain or loss included in net income.
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Depreciable assets are reviewed for impairment

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable based

on projected undiscounted cash flows associated with

the assets. A loss is recognized for the difference between
the fair value and the carrying amount of the assets. Fair
value is determined based upon a market gquote, if available,
or is based on valuation technigues.

interest is capitalized as part of the acquisition cost of major
construction and software development projects. No interest
was capitalized in 2007 and 2006, and in 2005, $610

of interest costs were capitalized.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over estimated useful lives, which are generally as follows:

Buildings 3040 years
Building improvements 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment 2-20 years

Goodwill and Intangible Assets:

The Company follows SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and

Other Intangible Assets” for all goodwill and intangibles
acquired in business combinations. Under SFAS No. 142,
all goodwill and certain intangible assets determined to
have indefinite lives are not amortized; but, are tested for
impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives, such as license and distribution rights, patents
and trademarks, are amortized using the straight-line or an
activity-based (units of volume) method, over their useful
lives, generally 5-20 years, and reviewed for impairment

in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” See Note
10 for additional detail relating to the Company’s goodwill
and other intangible assets.

Foreign currency translation and transactions:

The assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign subsidiaries
are translated from their respective functional currencies into
U.S. Dollars at rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Results
of operations are translated using average rates in effect
during the year. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses
are included in income. Foreign currency translation adjust-
ments are included in accumulated other comprehensive
income {loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.




Derivative Instruments:

The Company carries its derivative instruments at their
fair value on the balance sheet, recognizing changes in
the fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts

in current period earnings.

The Company selectively enters into forward foreign
exchange contracts to buy and sell certain cash flows in
non-functional currencies and hedge certain firm commit-
ments due in foreign currencies. Forward foreign exchange
cantracts, other than hedges of firm commitments, are
accounted for as foreign currency transactions and gains
or losses are included in income.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues are recognized when title to products and risk

of loss are transferred to customers. The Company's sub-
sidiaries have terms of FOB shipping point where title and
risk of loss transfer on shipment. Additional conditions for
recognition of revenue are that collection of sales proceeds
is reasonably assured and the Company has no further
performance obligations.

Revenue from the launch of a new or significantly unique
product, for which the Company is unable to develop the
requisite historical data on which to base estimates of
returns, due to the uniqueness of the therapeutic area or
delivery technology as compared to other products in the
Company's portfolio and in the industry, will be deferred
until such time that a reliable estimate can be determined
and all of the conditions above are met and when the prod-
uct has achieved market acceptance, which is typically based
on dispensed prescription data and other information
obtained during the period fellowing launch.

Stock-based Compensation:

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, "Share-Based
Payments,” effective January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R requires
the recognition of the fair value of stock-based compensation
in net earnings. Stock-based compensation consists primarily
of incentive stock options and restricted stock. Effective

in March 2007, the Compensation Committee of the

Board of Directors approved the award of equity-related
incentives under the Company's 2003 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan, which incuded a performance-based
incentive; "Performance Based Restricted Class A Common
Stock” ("Performance-Based Restricted Stock”} awards.

The Performance-Based Restricted Stock units awarded in

March and May 2007, vest on the date the Company files
its Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2009. Any
Performance-Based Restricted Stock units awarded after
May 2007 will vest on the later of the third anniversary of
the grant date or the date the Company files its Form 10-K
for the year ending December 31, 2009, Effective in January
2008, the Compensation Committee of the Company
approved amendments to the Performance-Based Restricted
Stock award agreements entered into in 2007 such that the
target number of units will vest on the third anniversary

of the grant date and a new grant equal to an incremental
number of units was granted in January 2008 which will
vest in 2010. The fair value of the Performance-Based
Restricted Stock is heing amortized to expense over

the requisite service period.

Stock options are granted to employees at exercise prices
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock at

the dates of grant. Generally, stock options granted to
employees vest in 25% increments each year and are fully
vested four years from the grant date and have a term of

10 years. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation
expense over the requisite service period of the individual
grants, which generally equals the vesting period.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock
options under the intrinsic value method described in
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations.
The Company, applying the intrinsic value method, did

not record stock-based compensation cost in net income
because the exercise price of its stock options equaled the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant.
The Company elected to utilize the modified prospective
transition method for adopting SFAS 123R. Under this
method, the provisions of SFAS 123R apply to all awards
granted or modified after the date of adoption. In addition,
the unrecognized expense of awards not yet vested at the
date of adoption, determined under the original provisions
of SFAS 123, will he recognized in net earnings in the
periods after the date of adoption. The Company recog-
nized stock-based compensation expense for stock options
for the years ended Decernber 31, 2007 and 2006 in the
amounts of $1,777 and $2,383, respectively. The Company
also recorded tax-related benefits for the years ended
December 21, 2007 and 2006 in the amounts of $569

and $792, respectively.
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SFAS 123R requires the Company to present pro forma
information for periods prior to adoption, as if it had
accounted for all stock-based compensation under the fair
value method of that Statement. For purposes of pro forma
disclosure, the estimated fair value of stock options at the
date of grant is amortized to expense over the requisite
service period, which generally equals the vesting period.
The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings
and earnings per share as if the Company had applied

the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R to its
stock-based compensation for the period indicated:

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Net income, as reported $133,769
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense

included in reported net income, net of related tax 4,320
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under fair value based method

for all awards, net of related tax effects 8,743
Pro forma net inceme $129,346
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 255

Basic—pro forma $ 246

Diluted—as reported $ 252

Diluted—pro farma § 244

Income taxes:

The prowvision for income taxes includes federal, state and
foreign income taxes currently payable and those deferred
because of temporary differences in the basis of assets and
liabilities between amounts recorded for financial statement
and tax purposes. Deferred taxes are calcuiated using the
liability method as required by SFAS No. 109 "Accounting
for Income Taxes.” A valuation allowance is established, as
needed, to reduce the carrying value of net deferred tax
assets, if realization of such assets is not considered to be
“more likely than not.”

See Note 17 for additional disclosures regarding adjustment
to deferred tax asset valuation reserves and the tax impact

of distributions made under the provisions of the American
lobs Creation Act of 2004,

Comprebensive Income (loss):

SFAS No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income” requires
foreign currency translation adjustments and certain other
itemns, which were reported separately in stockholders’ equity,
10 be included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
{Loss}. Included within Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income {Loss) in 2007, are foreign currency translation
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adjustments and previously unrecognized actuarial gains
and losses as a result of implementing SFAS No. 158,
“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
other Postretirement Plans” (see Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements). Total comprehensive income (loss} for
the years ended 2007, 2006, and 2005 is included in the
Statement of Stockholders' Equity.

The components of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) include:

December 31, 2007 2006
Cumulative translation adjustment $73,622 $60,805
Prior service credit not yet recognized
in operations 41 159
Actuarial loss not yet recognized in cost,
net of tax (3.342) (2,724
$70,321 $58,240

Segment information:

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information,” requires segment information to he
prepared using the “management” approach. The manage-
ment approach is based on the method that management
organizes the segments within the Company for making oper-
ating decisions and assessing performance. SFAS No. 131 also
requires disclosures about products and services, geographic
areas, and major custemers. See Note 23 for further details.

Shipping Costs:

The Company accounts far shipping costs in selling, general
and administrative expenses for purposes of classification
within the Consolidated Statement of Operations. These
costs for continuing operations were approximately $17,000,
$15,000, and $13,000 for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

Research and Development:

Expenditures for research and development are expensed
as incurred. Property and equipment that are acquired or
constructed for research and development activities and
that have alternate future uses are capitalized and depreci-
ated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
Upfront and milestone payments made to third parties in
connection with agreements with third parties are generaily
expensed as incurred up to the point of regulatory approval,
absent any alternative future uses. Payments made to third
parties subsequent to regulatory approval are generally capi-
talized and amortized over the remaining useful life of the
related product. Amounts capitalized for such payments are
included in intangibles, net of accumulated amortization.




Software and Development Costs:

In 2007, 2006, and 2005, the Company capitalized purchased
software from third-party vendors and software development
costs incurred under the provisions of SOP 98-1, "Accounting
for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained
for Internal Use.” Capitalized costs include only (1) external
direct costs of materials and services incurred in developing
or obtaining internal use software, {2} payroll and payroll-
related costs for employees who are directly associated with
and who devote substantial time to the internal-use software
project, and (3) interest costs incurred, while developing
internal-use software. Amortization begins as portions of
the projects are completed, ready for their intended purpose
and placed in service.

Research and development costs, business process
re-engineering costs, training and computer software main-
tenance costs are expensed as incurred. Software development
costs are being amertized using the straight-line method
over the expected life of the projects which are estimated

1o be five to seven years.

Capitalized software costs related to the Company’s
Enterprise Resource Planning System, net of amortization,
through December 31, 2007 and 2006 amounted to
approximately $4,403 and $7,404, respectively, and are
included in other assets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

Proposed FASB Staff Position (FSP) number APB 14-a,
“Accounting for Convertible Debt tnstruments that may be
Settled in Cash upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash
Settlement),” is expected to be discussed by the FASB in the
first quarter of 2008. If adopted, it will be effective for com-
panies with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007,
with retrospective application. Early adoption is not permit-
ted. FSP APB 14-a specifies that issuers of convertible debt
instruments should separately account for the liability and
equity components in a manner that will reflect the entity’s
nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods.

I FSP number APB 14-a is adopted, the Company’s accounting
for its $300,000 Convertible Senior Notes {the “Notes”)

will be impacted. The Company is currently evaluating the
potential impact; but estimates that implementation would
result in an approximately $80,000 reduction in its March
31, 2007 Note balance outstanding, with a corresponding
increase in equity, The Company also estimates that if
adopted, the 2008 and retrospective 2007 application of

the standard would result in increased interest expense of
approximately $10,000 and $7,000 for the years ending
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
(*SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 establishes a framework for
measuring fair value under generally accepted accounting
principles {"GAAP") in the United States and will be applied
to existing accounting and disclosure requirements in GAAP
that are based on fair value. SFAS 157 does not require any
new fair value measurements. SFAS 157 emphasizes a
“market-based” as opposed to an “entity-specific”
measurement perspective, establishes a hierarchy of fair value
measurement methods and expands disclosure requirements
about fair value measurements including methods and
assumptions and the impact on earnings. The Company is
evaluating the potential impact of SFAS 157, the proposed
effective date of which is fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008 related to non-financial assets and
liabilities, and November 15, 2007 for financial assets

and liabilities, and for interim periods within those years.

in February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" {"SFAS 159").
SFAS 159 provides an option 1o report certain financial
assets and liabilities at fair value primarily to reduce the
complexity and level of volatility in the accounting for
financial instruments resulting from measuring related
financial assets and liabilities differently under existing
.5. GAAP. SFAS 159 is effective January 1, 2008. The
Company is evaluating the potential impact of SFAS 159,

In December 2007, the FASE issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141R, "Business Combinations”
("SFAS 141R"). SFAS 141R requires the acquiring entity in a
business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction; estab-
lishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurerment
objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and
requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users,
all of the information they need to evaluate and understand
the nature and financial effect of the business combination.
SFAS 141R applies prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009,
thus the Company cannot assess the impact the standard
will have on its financial statements at this time, Early
application of SFAS 141R is prohibited.

Alpbarma Inc. & Subsidiaries  Page 37



NOteS tO COHSOlidated ﬁnanCial Statemeﬂts (In thuusands, except share data)

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB
517 (“SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 requires all entities to report
noncontrolling (minority} interests in subsidiaries as equity in
the consolidated financial statements, and eliminates the
diversity that currently exists in accounting for transactions
between an entity and noncontrolling interests by requiring
they be treated as equity transactions. SFAS 160 is effective
January 1, 2009, and early adoption is prohibited. The
Company is evaluating the potential impact of SFAS 160.

3. Discontinued Qperations

Sale of the Generics Business—On December 19, 2005, the

Company sold its worldwide human generics pharmaceutical
business (the “Generics Business") to Actavis Group hf
("Actavis") for cash in the amount of $810,000. The Company
recagnized a net after-tax gain of $35,259 in 2005.

Sale of the ParMed Business—On March 31, 2006, the
Company completed the sale of its generic pharmaceutical
telemarketing distribution business, ParMed Pharmaceuticals
Inc. (“ParMed™), for $40,100 in cash, The net after-tax

gain on the sale, $19,249, is reported in 2006 resuits from
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations, along with certain adjustments related to the
disposal of the Generics Business,

The results of operations of the Generics Business and
ParMed (collectively, the “Discontinued Operations”), for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, are summarized
as follows:

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005
Total revenues $i7,142  $870,178

Cost of sales 12.030 580,683
Grass profit 5,112 289,495

Operating expenses 2,756 244,853
Qperating income 2,356 44,642
Interest expense and ameortization

of debt issuance cost — (423)
Other income {(expense), net — 2,309
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

before provision for income taxes 2,356 46,528
Provision far income taxes 825 10,194
Net income from discontinued operations  § 1,531 $ 36,334
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Net income from discontinued operations in 2006 includes
only the results of operations of ParMed for the three months
ended March 31, 2006, prior to its sale on March 31, 2006.

4. Acquisitions and Alliances

In July 2007, the Company announced it had completed

its previously disclosed alliance agreements with Zhejiang
Hisun Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd {“Hisun") that, over the next
several years, will enable the Company's Active Pharmaceutical
Ingredients ("API”) business to significantly expand its manu-
facturing capacity for one of its major active pharmaceutical
ingredients, vancomycin, subject to the receipt of required
FDA and European regulatory approvals. Since 2006,
Alpharma has purchased vancomycin from Hisun pending
the completion of the construction and regulatory approval
process of a new vancomycin manufacturing facility in
Taizhou, China. The new facility, which will be owned and
operated by Alpharma, is expected to be completed in 2008.
During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company
invested approximately $9,600 in capital expenditures

at the Taizhou facility.

In June 2007, the Company acquired certain assets of Yantai
JinHai Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. (“Yantai") located in Yantai
City, Shandong Province. The Company’s Animal Health (“AH"}
business plans to utilize this site to blend products it currently
produces in its U.S. facilities and sells in Asia. The purchase
of these assets is expected to provide supply chain flexibility,
and expand the Company's regulatory base in Asia. The
acguisition includes product registrations that the Company
plans to utilize to expand its Asian product offering.

In April 2007, the Company acquired assets of Shenzhou
Tongde Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd {"Tongde”) in Shenzhou
City, China. Tongde was a supplier to the Company‘s AH
business and manufactures and markets zinc bacitracin.
Tongde’s 2006 annual sales approximated $5,000. Following
the acquisition, the Company continues to support the
current customer base of Tongde while also exporting

the product to other markets.

The purchase price for the acquisitions of Yantai and Tongde
totaled approximately $6,900.




5. License and Collaboration Agreements

IDEA AG (“IDEA™)

In October 2007, the Company's affiliate, Alpharma Ireland
Limited (“Alpharma Ireland”), closed on an agreement with
IDEA AG (*IDEA"), a privately held biopharmaceutical com-
pany with headquarters in Munich, Germany. The agreement
provides the Company with an exclusive license to the United
States rights to ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME gel, a prescrip-
tion topical non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (*NSAID")
in Phase Ill clinica) development.

The terms of the license agreement between Alpharma
Ireland and IDEA include a $60,000 payment that was made
in connection with the October 2007 closing. The agreement
also includes three clinical and regulatory progress milestone
payments {"progress milestone payments”) totaling $77,000
that are expected to be paid over the next 12 to 18 months,
based upon IDEA’s achievernent of contractually-specified con-
ditions. An additional milestone payment of either $45,000
or $65,000 is conditioned on U.S. product approval (with
the higher amount dependent upon the achieverment of a
specified end point in one of the dlinical trials).

IDEA has agreed to pay the costs of specified studies

it is undertaking to obtain FDA approval of ketoprofen in
TRANSFERSOME gel. Under the terms of the agreement,
IDEA has the option, during the period January 1, 2008

to December 31, 2009, to receive a loan of up to $20,000
from Alpharma Ireland in support of its clinical development
program, Any outstanding loan amounts will become due
and payable by IDEA immediately upon its receipt of both
the first and second progress milestone payments, totaling
$37,000. All sutstanding loan amounts will bear interest
at a rate of one month LIBOR plus 1.5% and, if not due
earlier, will be due on December 31, 2009. There are no
loan amounts currently outstanding.

The terms of the agreement also include the issuance of two
series of stock warrants to IDEA for the purchase of shares
of the Company’s Class A common stock. Both series vest
only upon FDA approval of the product in the United States.
The amount and pricing of the Phase Hl Milestone (“Series
A"} warrants are tied to positive phase Il results, and the
Form of Approval (*Series B") warrants are tied to FDA
approval. The strike price for the Series A warrants will be
determined by applying a 50% premium to the 30 day
average stock price immediately preceding the announce-
ment of positive phase lll results; with a minimum exercise
price per share of $22.50. The strike price' for the Series B

warrants will be determined by applying a 25% premium
to the 30 day average stock price immediately following the
FDA approval date; with a minimum exercise price per share
of $18.75. For both the Series A and B warranis, the number
of shares eligible to be purchased under the warrants will
be determined by dividing $50,000 for each series by the
respective strike price for each series. Upon vesting at the
time of FDA appraval, both series of warrants have a term
of approximately five years, with a limit of ten years from
the date of entering into the agreement. The fair value of
these warrants will be recognized upaon FDA approval,

The agreement includes commitments whereby the Company
is required to spend pre-determined minimum amourts for
the commercialization of the product, (including selling,
marketing and medical educational expenses) during the
first four years following the product’s faunch,

The agreement also includes the future payment of royalties
based on annual net sales applied to a tiered structure. The
Company’s royalty payments to IDEA will be calculated
starting at 5% of annual net sales of the product up to a
maximum royalty rate of 24%, based upon contractually
agreed annual net sales levels.

The license agreement expires upon the later of the
expiration of all U.S. patent rights licensed by IDEA to
Alpharma Ireland or 2029.

In connection with the closing in October 2007, Alpharma
Ireland paid $60,000 to IDEA, which was recorded as
research and development expense, and issued both series
of stock warrants. In addition, during the third and fourth
qguarters of 2007, the Company recorded approximately
$2,300 in transaction-related costs.

Institut Blochimique SA (“1B5A")

In September 2007, the Company's affiliate, Alpharma
Pharmaceuticals LLC, closed on two license and distribution
agreements (the “1BSA License and Distribution Agreements”)
with IBSA, a privately-owned, global pharmaceutical company
headguartered in Lugano, Switzerland. The agreements
have a ten year term, with automatic renewal options,

and provide the Company with the exclusive license and
distribution rights to market: 1) the FLECTOR Patch and

2) TIROSINT (synthetic levothyroxine sodium) gel capsules,
in the United States. The patent-protected FLECTOR Patch,
which was approved in the U.S. by the FDA in January
2007, delivers the anti-inflammatory and analgesic effects
of patent-protected diclofenac epolamine through a topical
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patch, and is indicated for the topical treatment of acute
pain due to minor strains, sprains, and contusions. TIROSINT
was approved by the FDA in October 2006 and is indicated
for thyroid hormone replacement therapy.

The terms of the IBSA License and Distribution Agreements
called for a total of $100,000 in upfront payments upon
closing. The Company paid 1BSA $5,000 of this amount
during the second quarter of 2007 and the remaining
$95,000 at closing, in September 2007. In addition, on
QOctober 3, 2007, in accordance with the terms of the
FLECTOR Patch agreement, the Company issued to IBSA

a warrant for the purchase of up to one million shares of
the Company’s Class A common stock. These stock warrants
were issued with a $35 strike price and a three-year term,
through August 16, 2010.

Under the terms of the IBSA License and Distribution
Agreements for TIROSINT, as amended, the Company
must undertake to launch the TIROSINT gel capsules by
January 2009.

Commercial supply of the FLECTOR Patch will be provided
by IBSA, at contractually determined prices, through a
manufacturing agreement IBSA has with a Japanese
supplier. it is expected that IBSA will supply the TIROSINT
product, at contractually determined prices, from its own
manufacturing facitity.,

The IBSA License and Distribution Agreements include
certain annual minimum purchase commitments for both
the FLECTOR Patch and TIROSINT gel capsules. The minimum
commitments increase each year over the first three years
from product launch and remain at year three levels (or, in
the case of TIROSINT agreement, at the slightly reduced year
four level) for the remaining years of the agreements.

The $100,000 cash payments to IBSA and transaction-refated
costs have heen capitalized as an addition to intangible assets
as of September 30, 2007. The Black-Scholes value of the

stock warrants ($1,780) was capitalized in the fourth guarter
of 2007 as an addition to intangible assets. These intangible
assets will be amortized over the estimated commercial lives
of the products, using a sales-activity-based methodology.
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6. Earnings Per Share (shares in thousands)

Basic earnings per share is based upon the weighted-average
number of commeon shares ouistanding. Diluted earnings
per share reflect the dilutive effect of stock options and
convertible debt, when appropriate.

A reconciliation of weighted-average shares outstanding for
basic to diluted is, as foliows:

For the Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005

Average shares

cutstanding—basic 42,867 53,769 52,526
Stock options - 452 455
Average shares

outstanding—diluted 42,867 54,221 52,981

The amount of dilution attributable to stock options,
determined by the treasury stock method, depends on the
average market price of the Company's common stock for
each period. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, stock options to purchase 783, 641, and 1,355
shares, respectively, were not included in the diluted EPS
calculation because the option price was greater than the
average market price of the Class A common shares,

The numerator for the calculation of basic EPS is Net

income (loss} for all periods. The numerator for the calcula-
tion of diluted £PS is Net income {loss) plus an add back for
interest expense and debt cost amortization, net of income
tax effects, related to the convertible notes when applicable.
The effects of the 5.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due
2005 (the “05 Notes") were not included in the calculation
of diluted EPS for the year ended December 31, 2005 because
the resu't was anti-dilutive. On April 1, 2005, the Company
repaid the 05 Notes ($9,752 as of March 31, 2005). In addi-
tion, the effects of the 3% Convertible Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2006 {the "06 Notes”) were not included in the
calculation of the diluted EPS for the year ended December 31,
2005 because the result was anti-dilutive. On January 23,
20086, the Company paid off the balance due on the 06 Notes.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, stock options to
purchase approximately 560 shares were not included in the
calculation of dituted EPS due to the Company recording a
net loss. In addition, stock warrants issued to IBSA and the
effects of the 2.125% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027
(the “Notes”} were not included in the calculation of diluted
EPS for the year ended December 31, 2007 because the
results were anti-dilutive.




On December 28, 2006, the Company repurchased all of its
outstanding Class B common shares (11,872,897 shares).

7. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net consists of the following:

December 31, 2007 2006
Accounts receivable, trade $114,244  § 97,037
Other 16,589 11,588
130,833 108,625

Less, allowance for doubtful accounts 587 778
$130,246 $107,847

The allowance for doubtful accounts for the three years
ended December 31, 2007 consists of the following:

2007 2006 2005

Balance at January 1, $778 $765 $1,156

Provision for doubtful accounts 135 86 358

Reduction for accounts written off (357} 1 {550)
Translation and other 31 (74) (199)
Balance at December 31, $ 587 $778 $ 765

8. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31, 2007 2006
Finished product $ 67,884 § 53,283
Work-in-progress 41,780 37,847
Raw materials 16,299 15,828
Total $125,963 $106,5958

9. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net consists of the following:

December 31, 2007 2006
Land $ 5936 § 5562
Buildings and building improvements 118,111 101,558
Machinery and equipment 361,612 323,682
Construction in-progress 49,507 17,866
535,166 448,668

Less, accumulated depreciation 251,562 215,221
$283,604 §233.447

In connection with the Company's closing of plant facilities,
the assets representing the fair value of Animat Health's
Lowell facility, $3,500 as of December 31, 2007, are

being held for sale, and are included in property, plant

and equipment.

Construction in-progress primarily includes outlays for
equipment and building improvements for the Company's
APl, AH and Pharmaceuticals businesses. These projects
are expected to be completed by the end of 2008.

10. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist principally of licenses and products
rights, including regulatory and/or marketing approvals by
relevant government authorities. All intangible assets are
subject to amortization. Annual amortization expense of
recorded intangibles for the years 2008 through 2012 is
currently estimated to be approximately $22,200, $23,500,
$25,800, $28,000 and $29,500, respectively.

Intangible assets and accumulated amortization are
summarized, as foliows:

Balance, December 31, 2005 $176,083
Additions 2,880
Amortization (18,983)
write-off of intangibles on sales and impairments (367}
Translation adjustrent 1,309
Balance, December 31, 2006 $160,922
Additions 105,549
Amortization (19,575)
Transiation adjustment 1,777
Batance, December 31, 2007 $248,673
Accumulated amortization, December 31, 2006 $152,606
Accumulated amaortization, December 31, 2007 $172,181

Included in the additions is $102,041 {which includes
$1,780 for stock warrants issued) related to the September
2007 IBSA License and Distribution Agreements for the
exclusive license and distribution rights to market the
FLECTOR Patch and TIROSINT gel capsules in the United
States (See Note 5).
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The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended

December 31, 2007 and 2006 are, as follows:

Pharmaceuticals APl AH Total
Balance Decemnber 31, 2005 $113,873 $2,774 3 — $116,747
Additions — 537 — 537
Translation adjustment — 3N — 37
Balance December 31, 2006 $113,973 43,682 3 — $117,655
Additions — — 1,095 1,095
Translation adjustrment - 403 39 442
Balance December 31, 2007 $113,973 $4,085 $1,134 $119,192

Additions to goodwill relate to two AH acquisitions in China during 2007 (See Note 4).

in May 2006, the Company's APl business acquired the
remaining 80% of Nippon Dumex for approximately $1,089
resulting in goodwill of $537,

As required, in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company
performed the required annual test for impairment, The
assessment was made in conjunction with the budgeting
and long-range planning by each segment. The assessment
utilized forecasted cash flows discounted at a rate of 10.5%.

11. Short-Term Debt

Shert-term debt amounted to $11,032 at December 31,
2007, primarily consisting of outstanding borrowings under
the Chinese Credit Facility.

12. Long-Term Debt

In March 2007, the Company issued $300,000 of Convertible
Senior Notes, due March 15, 2027 (“the Notes”), with interest
payable semi-annually, in arrears, on March 15 and September
15, at a rate of 2.125% per annum, The Notes are unsecured
obligations and rank subordinate to all future secured debt
and to the indebtedness and other liabilities of the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Notes are convertible into shares of the
Company's Class A Common Stock at an initial conversion
rate of 30.6725 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the
Notes, subject to adjustment. The conversion rate is based
on an initial conversion price of $32.60 per share. The maxi-
mum number of shares a note-holder may receive as a result
of such adjustments is 41.40. The Company may redeem the
Notes at its option commencing on or after March 15, 2014,
The holders have one day put rights on March 15, 2014,
2017 and 2022, to require the Company to repurchase the
Notas at 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and
unpaid interest. Beginning with the pericd commencing on
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March 20, 2014 and during any six-month interest period
thereafter, the Company will pay contingent interest if the
average trading price of the Notes is above a specified level.
The net proceeds from the issuance were $292,772 after
deducting expenses, and are being used to fund business
development transactions and for general corporate purposes.
Deferred loan costs in the amount of $7,228 are being
amortized over seven years,

At December 31, 2007, Long-term debt outstanding was
$300,000. There was no Long-terrn debt outstanding at
December 31, 2006.

On October 26, 2005, the Company entered into a five-year,
Senior Secured Credit Facility with Bank of America N.A.
consisting of a $175,000 asset-based, revolving loan facility
and a $35,000 term loan. The Company used $119,122 of
this facitity to repay and retire the 2001 U S, Bank Credit
Facility in October 2005. The Senior Secured Credit facility
was subsequently repaid in full in December 2005 with the
proceeds from the sale of the Generics business. The Senior
Secured Credit Facility was amended and restated on March
10, 2006 reducing the asset-based, revolving loan facility to
$75,000 and canceling the term loan.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility, which was amended and
restated on March 10, 2006, is secured by the accounts
receivable, inventory and certain fixed assets of the U.S.
subsidiaries of the Company. The amount that is available to
the Company to be borrowed is determined monthly based
upon the calculation of a Borrowing Base. As of December
31, 2006 and 2007, there were no amounts outstanding
under this Facility. The interest rate that the Company would
pay on outstanding amounts is based upon a spread over
LIBOR or Base Rate. The spread ranges between 1.25% to




2.00% over LIBOR and 0% to 0.50% over the Base Rate.
The determination of the spread is based upon the amount
of availability under the facifity with a lower spread payable
based upon greater availability. As long as the Company
does not have average availability less than $15,000 over a
consecutive 10 day period, there are no financial covenants.
in the event that the Company were to breach the availabil-
ity threshold, the Company would be subject to a minimum
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1:1.

13. Contingent Liabilities and Litigation

The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, of a
nature considered normal to its business. [t is the Company’s
policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal matters

if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an
amount is reasonably estimable.

In the opinion of the Company, although the outcome of
any legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
the ultimate liability of the Company in connection with the
following legal proceedings will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company's financial position but could be
material to the results of operations or cash flows in

any one accounting pericd.

Chicken Litter Litigation

The Company is one of multiple defendants that have been
named in several lawsuits which allege that one of its AH
products causes chickens to produce manure that contains
an arsenical compound which, when used as agricultural
fertilizer by chicken farmers, degrades into inorganic arsenic
and causes a variety of diseases in the plaintiffs (who altegedly
live in close proximity to such farm fields). The Company has
provided notice to its insurance carriers and its primary
insurance carriers have responded by accepting their obliga-
tions to defend or pay the Company’s defense costs, subject
to reservation of rights to later reject coverage for these
lawsuits. In addition, one of the Company's carriers has filed
a Declaratory Judgment action in state court in which it has
sought a ruling concerning the allocation of its coverage
obligations to the Company among the Company's several
insurance carriers and, to the extent the Company does not
have full insurance coverage, to the Company. In addition,
this Declaratory Judgment action requests that the Court
rule that certain of the carrier’s policies provide no coverage
because certain policy exclusions allegedly operate to limit
its coverage obligations under said policies. Furthermore,
the Company's insurance carriers may take the position that

some, or all, of the applicable insurance policies contain
certain provisions that could limit coverage for future product
liability claims arising in connection with such AH product
sold on and after December 16, 2003.

In addition to the potential for personal injury damages to
the approximately 152 plaintiffs, the plaintiffs are asking for
punitive damages and requesting that the Company be
enjoined from the future sale of the product at issue. In
September 2008, in the first trial, which was brought by
two plaintiffs, the Circuit Court of Washington County,
Arkansas, Second Division, entered a jury verdict in favor of
the Company. The plaintiffs have appealed the verdict. The
court has ruled that future trials are on hold pending the
outcome of the appeal. While the Company can give no
assurance of the outcome of these matters, it believes that
it wil! be able to continue to present credible scientific evi-
dence that its product is not the cause of any injuries the
plaintiffs may have suffered. There is also the possibility of
an adverse cusiomer reaction to the allegations in these
lawsuits, as well as additional lawsuits in other jurisdictions
where the product has been sold. Woerldwide sales of this
product were approximately $23,100 in 2005, $22,200 in
2006 and $20,400 in 2007.

Brazilian Tax Claims

The Company is the subject of tax claims by the Brazilian
authorities refating to sales and import taxes which aggregate
approximately $10,000. The claims relate to the operations
of the Company’s AH business in Brazil since 1999. The
Company believes it has meritorious defenses and intends
to vigorousty defend its position against these claims.

European Environmental Regulations

During 2005, the environmental autharities having jurisdiction
over the Copenhagen APl manufacturing facility gave the
Company notice of revised waste discharge levels. The Com-
pany befieves it has taken the actions necessary to comply
with the requirements, including certain plant alterations
and modifications at a cost not material 10 the Company.
The environmenta! authorities have not canfirmed whether
the Company's actions are in compliance with the require-
ments outlined in the notice.

In September 2007, the Company paid a reduced criminal
fine of $780 in settlement of specified past accidental
discharge activities at the Oslo AP facility. Separately,

in September 2007, the environmental authority having
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jurisdiction aver the Cslo API plant of the Company gave
the Company notice that it believes certain ordinary course
discharge activities at the facility have not been in compli-
ance with discharge levels permitted under the Company's
permit during that period. The Company has responded to
the authority’s request for further information and indicated
it believes it has been in compliance with its permit with
respect to its ordinary course discharge activities. The
environmental authority has procured additional testing
and expert opinions that the Company believes support its
position that such ordinary course discharge levels are in
compliance with the Company's permit.

The failure or inability to comply with applicable regulations
could result in further criminal or civil actions affecting pro-
duction at these facilities which could be materially adverse
to the Company.

information Request

On February 28, 2007, the Company received a subpoena
from the U.5. Departrnent of Justice requesting certain
documents relating to the marketing of KADIAN. The
subpoena did not disclose any allegations underlying this
request. The Company is fully cooperating with the U.S.
Department of Justice.

FLSA Class Action

A purported class action lawsuit has been filed with the
United States District Court in New Jersey, The complaint
alleges that, among other things, {i) over 200 of the
Company’s U.S. based Pharmaceuticals sales representatives
were denied overtime pay, in violation of state and federal
labor laws, by being paid for forty hour weeks even though
they worked in excess of fifty-five hours per week, and

{ii} that the Company viotated federal record-keeping require-
ments. Based upon the facts as presently known, the
Company does not believe that it is likely that the class
action will result in liability which would be material to the
Company's financial position. The Company befieves it has
meritorious defenses and intends to vigorously defend its
positions in these lawsuits. Numerous other pharmaceutical
companies are defendants in similar lawsuits.
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Average Wholesale Price Litigation

The Company, and in certain instances, Pharmaceuticals,

are defendants in various lawsuits in state, city and county
courts, based upon allegations that fraudulent Average
Wholesale Prices ("AWP”} were reported primarily in con-
nection with KADIAN for varying numbers of years under
governmental Medicaid reimbursement programs. The plain-
tiffs in these cases include state government entities that
made Medicaid payments for the drug at issue based on
AWP. These lawsuits vary with respect to the particular
causes of action and relief sought. The relief sought in these
lawsuits includes statutory causes of action including civil
penalties and treble damages, commen law causes of action,
and declaratory and injunctive relief, incfuding, in certain
lawsuits, disgorgement of profits. The Company believes it
has meritorious defenses and intends to vigorously defend its
positions in these lawsuits. Numerous other pharmaceutical
companies are defendants in similar lawsuits.

Other Commercial Disputes

The Company is engaged in disputes with several suppliers,
customers and distributors regarding certain obligations
with respect to centracts under which the Company obtains
raw materials and under which the Company supplies finished
products. Given the fact that these disputes will most likely
be resolved over more than one year, management does not
believe that the disputes in the aggregate will he material to
the Company’s financial position. However, they could be
material to the Company’s results of operations or cash
flows in the period in which resolution occurs.

Any further responsibilities for substantially all of the material
contingent liabilities related to the Generics Business have
been transferred to Actavis or entities owned by Actavis,
subject to certain representations or warranties made by
the Company to Actavis as a part of the transaction to the
extent such representations and warranties were incorrect,
The Company has retained certain specified liabilities that
it believes are not material to the Company and, it is pos-
sible that the Company may be held responsible for certain
liabilities of the Generics Business transferred to Actavis in
the event Actavis fails or is unable to satisfy such liabifities.




Other Litigation

The Company and its subsidiaries are, from time to time,
involved in other litigation arising out of the ordinary course
of business. It is the view of management, after consultation
with counsel, that the ultimate resolution of ali other pend-
ing suits on an individual basis should not have a material
adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results
of operations or cash flows of the Company.

14. Pension Plans and Postretirement Benefits

U.S. (Domestic):

The Company maintains two qualified noncontributory,
defined benefit pension plans covering its U.5. (domestic)
employees: the Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan which was frozen
effective December 31, 2006 and the previously frozen
Faulding Inc. Pension Plan. The benefits payable from these
plans are based on years of service and the employee’s highest
consecutive five years compensation during the last ten years
of service. The Company's funding policy is to contribute

Benefit Obligations

annually an amount that can be deducted for federal
income tax purposes. Ideally, the Plan assets will approximate
the accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO"). The plan assets
are held by two custodians and managed by two investment
managers. Plan assets are invested in equities, government
securities and bonds. In addition, the Company has unfunded
supplemental executive pension plans providing additional
benefits to certain employees.

The Company also has an unfunded postretirement medical
and nominal life insurance plan (“postretirement benefits”)
covering certain domestic employees who were eligible

as of January 1, 1993, The plan has not been extended

to any additional employees. Retired eligible employees

are required to make premium contributions for coverage
as if they were active employees.

The Company uses a measurermnent date of December 31
for its pension plans and other postretirement plans.

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006

Change in benefit obligation

Projected benefit abligation ("PBO"} at beginning of year $47.959 $51,509 $6,965 $4,192

Service cost — 1,807 98 139
interest cost 2,908 303 384 441

Plan participants' contributions — — 109 99
Actuarial (gain) loss (1.125) (2,760} (344) 2,498
Benefits paid (1,543) {2,042} {464) (404)
Plan amendments - 88 — —
Curtailment —_ {4,385) —_ —
Settlements 1 — —_ —
Special termination benefits — 311 — —
PBO at end of year $48,200 347,955 $6,748 $6,965

The accumulated benefit obligation {"ABQ") for the pension
plans at December 31, 2007 and 2006, was $48,200 and
$47,959, respectively.

The accumulated health care cost trend rate used 1o
measure the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
at December 31, 2007 was 8.5% grading down ratably to
5.0% at December 31, 2014. A one-percentage-point

change in the assumed health care cost trend rate
would have had the following effect on the accumulated
postretirement benefit:

One-percentage-point

Increase Decrease
3960 £(799)
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Plan Assets

Pension Benefits Postretirernent Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $43,231 $37,997 s — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets 2,755 4,260 —_ -
Employer contribution 710 3,016 355 305
Plan participant contributions — — 109 99
Benefits paid (1.543) (2,042 (464} {404}
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $45,153 143,231 s — $ —
Employer contributions and benefits paid in the above table Target Percentage of Plan
for the pension plans primarily reflect amounts contributed Allocation Assets at Year End
directly to, or paid directly from plan assets, respectively, 2008* 2007 2006
The asset allocation for the Faulding Inc. Pension Plan was ?qs::; Sc::iizsy 0% 39% 82%

.. . o

76% equities and 24% debt securities at the end of 2007 Debt securities 60% 31% 17%
(Fair Value of Faulding Inc. Pension Plan assets was $8,112). Cash eguivalents — 30% 1%
The asset allocation for the Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan at Other — - —
the end of 2007 and 2006, and the target allocation for Total 100% 100% 100%

2008, by asset category, follows.
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The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to
invest in a diversified, professionally managed portfolio
of equity and fixed income investments. Equities are
invested across multiple asset classes through the use of
actively managed and index mutual funds. Fixed income
investments consist of government bonds, high guality
corporate bonds and mortgage backed securities.

*As a result of freezing the pension plan on Pecember 31,
2006, the Company reevaluated its target asset allocation
for the Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan in 2007.




Funded Status

The funded status represents the difference between the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets.
Below is a reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans to the net liability recognized for the years ended December
31, 2007 and 2006. In accordance with the initial implementation of SFAS 158, the funded status of the plans was recognized

on the balance sheet at December 31, 2006.

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

December 31, 2007 2006 2007 2006
Funded status $(3.047) $(4,728) $(6,748) $(6,965)
Ne1 asset/(liability) recognized $(3,047) ${4,728} 5(6,748) $(6,965)

December 31,

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
Prepaid benefit cost $ 900 $ 37 s — L
Accrued cost -_— — - —
Current liabilities (61) {150} (274) (314)
Noncurrent liabilities (3.886) (4,615) (6,474) {6,651}
Net asset/(liability) recognized $(3,047) $(4,728) $(6.748) $(6,695)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2007 and 2006 consist of the following:

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ (564) § (73 $ 3,634 $ 4,263
Prior service cost {benefit) 72 30 (188) (323)
Accumulated other comprehensive income $ {492) $ 7 $ 3,446 $ 3,940
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At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the projected
benefit obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation
and the fair value of plan assets for pension plans with
accurnulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets

Expected Cash Flows
Information about expected cash flows for the plans follows:

Employer Contributions

Pension  Postretirement
were, as follows: Benefits Benefits
December 31, 2007 2006 2008 Expected $ 950 $ 274
Projected benefit obligation 5(40.988) $39870)  conyributions include benefits expected 10 be paid from the
Accumulated benefit obligation (40,988) (39,870} Company's assets.

Fair value of plan assets 37,041 35,105

Unfunded accumulated fxpected Benefit Payments Pension  Posiretirement

benefit obligation $ (3.947) 3§ (4,765) Benefits Benefits
2008 $ 1,078 $ 274
2009 1,132 283
2010 1,318 335
2011 1,541 360
2012 1,813 367
2013-2017 12,713 2,587
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2007 2006 2007 2006
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine obligations
as of December 31:

Discount rate 6.25% 6.00% 6.25% 6.00%

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A N/A
Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service cost s — $ 1,807 $3,799 $ 98 $139 $ 90

Interest cost 2,908 3,031 3,062 384 441 240

Expected return on plan assets (3,436) (3,112) (2,702) — — —

Net amortization of transition obfigation - — — — — 3

Amortization of prior service (credit)/cost 8 (23) (67) {135) (135) (125)

Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss 4 308 583 284 441 154

Curtailment {gain)/loss — (89) (150) — — —

Settlernent {gain)/loss 45 148 — —_ — —_

Net periodic benefit cost $ @any $ 2,070 $ 4,525 $ 631 {886 {362

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net cost:
Discount rate 6.00% 5.75% 6.00% 5.75%
Expecied return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase N/A 4.50% N/A N/A
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The estimated amounts that will be amortized from
accumulated other comprehensive income into net pericdic
benefit cost in 2008 are as follows:

Pension  Postretirernent

Net actuarial loss $2 $272
Net transition obligation — —
Prior service cost {benefit) B8 (135}
Total $10 $137

The assumed health care cost trend rate used to measure net
periodic benefit cost in 2007 was 8.0%, grading down ratably
t0 5.0% at December 31, 2013. A one-percentage-point
change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would
have had the following effect on net periodic benefit cost:

One-percentage-paint

Increase Decrease

Service cosl & interest cost $74 $61)

The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined
by applying the Company’s target asset allocations to long-
term historical rates of return, which are compared to the
current investment management plan.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries also have

two defined contribution plans, one gualified and one
non-qualified, which allow eligible employees to withhold
a fixed percentage of their salary {maximum 75%) and
provide for a Company match (maximum 6%) of eligible
earnings plus an additional 2% annual employer contribu-
tion. The Company's contributions to these plans were
approximately $4,300 in 2007, $1,300 in 2006, and
$2,600in 2005.

The Company has an unfunded benefit for selected executives
{Supplemental Pension Plan) that provides for the payment
of benefits upon retirement or death. Accrued costs included
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,
2007 and 2006 are $659 and $655, respectively. Expense
charged to operations for the Supplemental Pension Plan
during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and
2005 was approximately $4, $620, and $595, respectively.

International:

The Company’s Norwegian subsidiary has a defined benefit
plan which is available to a majority of employees in
Norway. At December 31, 2006, the Company froze the
plan for most of its employees and established a defined
contribution plan. The assets and related obligations for
those employees were transferred to an insurance company
resulting in a net settlement gain of $7,764. In addition, the
Company has an unfunded pension for certain key employ-
ees. Pension plan contributions from the Company and the
participants are paid to independent trustees and invested
in fixed income and equity securities in accordance with
local practices. The pension plan information is as follows:

Benefit Obligations

2007 20056
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 9,187 $ 37,608
Service cost 487 1.863
Interest cost 445 1,837
Settlernent — {32,777}
Actuarial (gain}oss {7} (689}
Benefits paid {1.122) (1.643)
Translation adjustment 1.453 2,988
Benefit obligation at end of year 510,443 $ 9,187
Plan Assets

2007 2006
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at

beginning of year $ 2,789 § 23,930

Actual return on plan assets 156 1,480
Employer contributions — 2,045
Benefits paid (192) (969)
Settlement — (24,737)
Actuarial (gain)/loss {105) (878)
Translation adjustment 434 1,918
Fair value of plan assets ai end of year $ 3,082 § 2,789
December 31, 2007 2006
Funded status $(7.361) 3 (6398)

Accrued benefit cost (noncurrent liabilities)  $(7.361)  § (6,398)
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At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the projected benefit Net Periodic Cost

obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair 2007 2006 2005

value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated Components of net

benefit obligation in excess of plan assets were as follows: periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 487 $ 1,863 $3,203

End of Year 2007 2006 Interest cost 445 1,837 2,268

Projected benefit obligation $(10,443)  $(9,187)  Expected return on plan assets (156) (14800 (1,587}
Amartization of transition

Accumutated benefit obligation (9.071) (7,355) obligation _ 38 87

Fair vatue of plan assets 3,082 2,789 Amortization of prior service cost 73 1#1 244

Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation  § (5,989)  $(4,566) Recognized net actuarial loss — — 68
Net periodic benefit cost $849 $2369 §4.283

2007 2006
Weighted-average assumptions
at year-end:

Discount rate 4.4% 4.4%

Expected return on plan assets 5.4% 5.4%

Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0%

15. Stockholders’ Equity

Until December 28, 2006, A.L. Industrier ASA {"Industrier”) beneficially owned all of the outstanding shares of the Company's
Class B common stock, or approximately 22% of the Company's total commaon stock. Through its ownership of the Class B
common stock, Industrier had voting power that provided it with effective control of the Company. On December 28, 2006,
the Company purchased 100% (11,872,897 shares) of the outstanding shares of the Company's Class B common stock from
Industrier. Including related fees, the cost of the repurchase was approximately $307,397. Following the Class B share repurchase,
control of the Company now rests in the holders of the Class A shares acting by the majority applicable under Delaware law
and Company's charter documents.

The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock is 500,000; the number of authorized shares of Class A Common Stock
is 75,000,000; and the number of authorized shares of Class B Commeon Stock is 15,000,000.

A summary of activity in common and treasury stock is as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Class A Common Stock Issued
Balance, tanuary 1, 43,427,596 42,533,593 41,277,761
Exercise of stock options and other 221,262 774,613 762,067
Restricted stock issued, net of forfeitures 372,023 32,965 245,991
Employee stock purchase plan 101,191 86,425 247,774
Balance, December 31, 44,122,072 43,427,596 42,533,593
Class B Common Stock Issued
Balance, lanuary 1 and December 31, 11,872,897 11,872,897 11,872,897
Treasury Stock
Balance, January 1, 12,201,555 328,658 328,658
Purchases — 11,872,897 —_
Balance, December 31, 12,201,555 12,201,555 328,658
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During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company issued 403,958,
158,545, and 328,490 shares of restricted stock, respectively.
Compensation cost for restricted stock is recorded based

on the market value on the date of grant. The fair value

of restricted stock is charged to Stockholders’ Equity and
amortized 1o expense over the requisite vesting periods.
Compensation expense related to restricted stock was $3,848
In 2007, $2,461 in 2006, and $4,320 in 2005. A summary
of restricted stock activity is as follows:

2007 2006

Outstanding awards—beginning of year 784,140 751,175

New awards granted 403,958 158,545

Restricted shares forfeited (31,935)  (125,580)

Qutstanding awards—end of year 1,156,163 784,140
Weighted-average market value per

share of new awards on award date $23.68 $27.34

16. Stock-based Compensation

Stock Options

Prior to May 19, 2003, the Company granted options to

key employees to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock
under the 1997 incentive Stock Option and Appreciation
Right Plan (the "Plan"). The maximum number of Class A
shares available for grant under the Plan was 8,000,000. In
addition, the Company had a Non-Employee Director Option
Plan (the *Director Plan") which provided for the issue of up
to 350,000 shares of Class A Common stock. The exercise
price of options granted under the Plan could net be less than
100% of the fair market value of the Class A Common Stock
on the date of the grant. Options granted expired from
three to ten years after the grant date. Generally, options
were exercisable in annual instaliments of 25% beginning
one year from date of grant. The Plan permitted a cash
appreciation right to be granted to certain employees.

On May 19, 2003, the Company’s stockholders approved
the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan {the "Incentive Compensation Plan”). The Incentive
Compensation Plan permits stock option grants, stock
appreciation rights grants (“SARs"), annual incentive awards,
stock grants, restricted stock grants, restricted stock unit

grants, performance stock grants, performance units
grants, and cash awards. Upon adoption of the Incentive
Compensation Plan, no additional options were granted
under the previousty existing plans (Alpharma Inc. 1997
Stock Option and Appreciation Right Plan and the Alpharma
Inc. Non-Employee Director Option Plan) and all shares
reserved under these existing plans were returned to the
Company’s supply of authorized but unissued shares, not
reserved for any purpose, although outstanding options
granted pursuant o the previously existing plans remained
outstanding. Upon adoption, the maximum number of
Class A shares available for grant under the Incentive
Compensation Plan was 4,750,000 and the number of
shares that were permitted to be issued for Awards other
than stock options or SARS {(both with a grant price equal
to at least fair market value at date of grant), were not to
exceed a total of 2,000,000 shares. Options granted expire
from three to ten years after the grant date. Generally,
options are exercisable in annual installments of 25% begin-
ning one year from date of grant. If an option holder ceases
to be an employee of the Company or its subsidiaries for
any reason prior to vesting of any options, all options which
are not vested at the date of termination are forfeited. As of
December 31, 2007, there were 2,025,907 shares available
for future grant under the Incentive Compensation Plan.

Stock aptions are granted to employees at exercise prices
equal to the fair market value of the Company’s stock at
the dates of grant. Generally, stock options granted to
employees vest in 25% increments each year and are fully
vested four years from the grant date and have a term of

10 years. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation
expense over the requisite service period of the individual
grants, which generally equals the vesting period. Included
in selling, general, and administrative expenses on the state-
ment of operations, the Company recognized stock-based
compensation expense for stock options for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 in the amounts of $1,777 and
$2,383, respectively. The Company also recorded tax-related
benefits for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
in the amounts of $569 and $792, respectively.
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The Company estimated the fair value, as of the date of grant,
of options cutstanding in the plan using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, with the following assumptions:

2007 2006 2005

Expected life {years) 6.25 3.18 3.60
Expected future dividend

yield {average) 0.00% 0.65% 1.42%
Expected volatility 30% 60% 56%

Black-Scholes assumptions faor stock options include the
expected volatility of the Company’s stock and the expected
term of the options. The Company calculates volatility using
a weighted average of historical share price volatility. The
Company estimates expected life for options by calculating

The table below summarizes the activity of the Plan:

the average of the vesting and expiration periods. The
changes in assumptions in 2007 did not have a material
effect on results of operations for the year ended December
31, 2007, and reflect the changing profile of the Company
since the divestiture of the Generics Business.

The risk-free interest rates for 2007, 2006, and 2005 were
based upon U.S. Treasury instrument rates with maturity
approximating the expected term. The weighted-average
interest rates in 2007, 2006, and 2005 amounted to 4.5%,
4.7%, and 3.8%, respectively. The weighted-average fair
value per share of options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $9.41, $13.81,
and $6.33, respectively.

Weighted-average

Opticns Weighted-average Aggregate Remaining

Outstanding Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Term

Balance at December 31, 2004 3,456,860 $20.85 $ 6,506 5.62
Granted in 2005 203,400 $13.36
Forfeited in 2005 (439,028) $20.87
Exercised in 2005 (794,239 $15.69

Balance at December 31, 2005 2,426,993 $21.90 $20,567 4.37
Granted in 2006 327,495 $28.72
Forfeited in 2006 (687,480} $26.20
Exercised in 2006 (722,726} $15.48

Balance at December 31, 2006 1,344,282 $24.77 $ 4,759 5.45
Granted in 2007 557,700 $23.87
Forfeited in 2007 (291,827) $34.17
Exercised in 2007 {221,262) $16.12

Balance at December 31, 2007 1,388,893 $22.71 $ 1,844 7.36

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was approximately

$2,000 and 38,600, respectively.

Weighted-average

Options Weighted-average Aggregate Remaining

Exercisable Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Contractual Term

December 31, 2005 1,826,167 $24.00 $12,693 3.50
December 31, 2006 887,676 $25.09 $ 3,465 3.76
December 31, 2007 569,019 $20.88 $ 1,437 5.25

As of December 31, 2007, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, net of
forfeitures, amounted to $5,374. The total of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock is $8,662.
The weighted-average remaining requisite service period of the non-vested stock options was approximately 32 months.
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Restricted Stock and Performance Based Restricted Stock
Compensation for restricted stock is recorded based on

the market value of the stock on the grant date. Prior to
January 1, 2006, the Company capitalized the full amount
of the restricted stock as unearned compensation, with

an offset to additional paid-in capital. Effective January 1,
2006, in accordance with SFAS 123R, the Company reversed
the unamortized balance of $5,395 against additional paid-in
capital. The fair value of restricted stock is amortized to
expense over the requisite service period. Amortization
expense related to restricted stock amounted to $3,848,
$2,461 and 34,320 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Performance Units

The Company’s 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation

Plan also provided for the issuance of performance units
that were valued based on the Company's Total Shareholder
Return as compared to a market index of peer companies
and the satisfaction of a free cash flow threshold. Each
perfarmance unit had a potential value between zero and
$200. In conjunction with the sale of the Generics Business,
which made the peer group comparison no longer relevant,

17. Income Taxes

the Company froze the performance unit plan effective
December 18, 2005, The Company fixed the final payout
for each outstanding performance unit at $100 per unit.
The value of the performance units, net of forfeitures, was
paid out at the end of the plan’s original three year vesting
period, December 31, 2007. The total value of performance
units outstanding at December 31, 2007 was $2,112, and is
fully accrued at December 31, 2007. The Company recog-
nized expense, net of forfeitures, related to performance
units for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 in
the amount of $779 and $4,501, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan by which
eligible employees of the Company may authorize payroll
deductions up to 4% of their regular base salary to purchase
shares of Class A Common Stock at fair market value. The
Company matches these contributions with an additional
contribution equal to 50% of the employee’s contribution.
Shares are issued on the last day of each calendar quarter.
The Company's contributions to the plan were approxi-
mately $800, $700 and $1,400 in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, and are included within operating income.

U.S. (Domestic} and Foreign income (loss) before taxes were, as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Income {loss) before taxes:
Domestic $ 48,374 $49,683 $(10,576)
Foreign (39,023) 42,826 54,354
$ 9,351 $92,509 $ 43,778

Taxes on income of foreign subsidiaries are provided at the tax rates applicable to their respective foreign jurisdictions.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current
Federal $ 809 $ (6,661) $24,333
Foreign 9,444 9,643 11,824
State {234) 613 2,372
10,019 3,595 38,529
Deferred
Federal 14,081 24,481 (55,857)
Foreign (1.844) 3,596 (1,726)
State 676 845 656
12,913 28,922 (56,927}
Provision (benefit} for income taxes from continuing operations $ 22,932 $32,517 $(18,398)
Provision for discontinued operations — 3,921 10,194
Provision {benefit) for income taxes $ 22,932 $36,438 $ {8,204)
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A reconciliation of U.S. federal income taxes to the tax provision for continuing operations, follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Statutory U.S. federal $ 3273 $ 32,378 $ 15,322
State income tax, net of federal tax benefit 287 1,243 1,968
tower 1axes on foreign earnings, net — (3,852) (9,243)
Lower tax benefit on foreign losses, net 8,690 — —
Tax credits (2,401) — —
Section 965 tax on repatriation — — 28,564
Adjustment to Section 965 tax on repatriation — (1,327) —
Change in valuation allowances 3,642 — (52,121)
Establishment of foreign valuation allowances 7.696 8,766 —
Effect on deferred taxes from reduction in Danish tax rate (1,058) — —
Post-adoption change in FIN 48 reserve 3,776 — —
Other, net (973) (4,691} (2,888)
Tax provision, continuing operations $22,932 § 32,517 $(18,398)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprisad of the following:
December 31, 2007 2006
Accelerated depreciation and amortization for income tax purposes $(30,902) $ (27,780}
Difference between inventory valuation methods used for book and tax purposes 349 709
Other 3 (31}
Gross deferred tax liabilities {30,550) (27.102}
Accrued liabilities and ather reserves 7.803 15,198
Pension liabilities 5319 5,700
Loss carryforwards and tax credits 86,864 83,264
Deferred compensation, including stock option expense 4,108 2,002
Other 2 2,018
Gross deferred tax assets 104,096 108,182
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance* {53,186) (44,557)
Net deferred tax assets $ 20,360 $ 36,523

* Inciudes valuation allowance on NOLs and tax credils, as shown in the table below, and other deferred assets,

The year-over-year increase in the deferred tax assets valuation
allowance is attributable to the change in and establishment
of foreign valuation allowances, partially offset by valuation
allowance decreases, primarily associated with the expiration
of state net operating losses.

Net deferred tax assets include $1,034 and $1,382 for
unrecognized loss on pensions, as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Included in other comprehensive income
was a tax benefit of $348 that the Company recognized in
2007. Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly to assess
the likelihood of realization which is ultimately dependent
upon generating future taxable income prior to the expiration
of the net operating loss carryforwards,

The Company has state loss carryforwards in several states
which are available to offset future taxable income, The
Company has recognized a deferred tax asset related to these
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foss carryforwards. Based on analysis of current information,
which indicates that it is not more likely than not that

the state Josses will be realized, a valuation allowance of
$19,667 has been established for the tax benefits of these
loss carryforwards.

Gross short-term deferred tax liabilities of $2,800 and
$3.334 are included within accrued and deferred income
taxes, at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Long-
term deferred income tax liabilities amount to $27,358 and
$27,885 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Short-term deferred tax assets are included within prepaid
expenses and other current assets and, net of valuation
allowances, amount to $10,122 and $18,925 at December
31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Other assets and deferred
charges include long-term deferred tax assets, net of valua-
tion altowances, of 340,397 and $48,817 at December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively.



The following table summarizes the U.S. federal, state and foreign tax loss and tax credit carryforwards, and the correspond-

ing valuation aliowances, as of December 31, 2007

Valuation
Description Gross NOL Asset Allowance Expiration
Federal net operating lasses $ 78,805 $27,582 ' — 2023 to 2025
State net operating losses '363,457 19,667 19,667 2007 to 2027
Foreign net operating losses 145,444 30,408 27.856 2009 te Unlimited
AMT benefit carryforward N/A 1,303 — Unlimited
Research credit N/A 7,904 5,503 2021 t0 2027
Total 186,864 $53,026

Included in the foreign net operating losses is a $60,000
upfront payment made in 2007 from Alpharma Ireland in
connection with its license agreement with IDEA AG. The
Company recorded gross deferred tax assets of approximately
$7,600 in connection with losses (principally related to this
upfront payment) incurred by Alpharma Ireland in 2007,
As Alpharma Ireland is a start-up operation for a product
in development, the Company has no basis to conclude

it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will
be realized and, accordingly has provided a full valuation
allowance for those assets.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the "Act”} provided
for a temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate
accumulated income eamned outside the U.S. by allowing

an 85% dividend-received deduction for certain dividends
from controlled foreign corporations. In 2005, the Company
repatriated foreign earnings under the Act. The provision for
income taxes in 2005 includes approximately $28,600 related
to this repatriation.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had unremitted earnings
of approximately $40,000 in foreign subsidiaries for which
no provisions for U.S. taxes have been made, because it is
expected that these earnings will be reinvested indefinitely.

The Company and some of its subsidiaries file income tax
returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and in various states
and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject
to U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities
for years before 2004. With few exceptions, the Company is
no longer subject to examinations by tax authorities for tax
years before 2003 for state and local income taxes, and tax
years before 2002 for non-U.S. income taxes.

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation
No. 48 (“FIN 48"), "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes,” on January 1, 2007. As a result of its initial adoption
of FIN 48, the Company recognized $4,712 as an increase in
its accumulated deficit and a non-current liability for unrec-
ognized tax benefits at January 1, 2007. A reconciliation of
the gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows.

Balance at January 1, 2007 £11,416
Additions based on tax positions related

to the current year 1,049
Additions for tax positions of priar years 2,727
Reductions for tax positions of prior years —
Settlements —
Reductions due to lapse of statute of limitations —
Balance at December 31, 2007 $15,192

The gross balance of $15,192 is included in other non-current
liabilities at December 31, 2007. The Company recognizes
both interest expense and penalties related to the unrecog-
nized tax benefits as part of the related income tax liabilities.
During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company
recognized approximately $912 in interest and penalties.
The Company had approximately $2,332 and 31,420 for the
payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31,
2007, and 2006, respectively.

The Company does not expect any significant changes to
its current FIN 48 positions that would materially affect the
Company's 2008 cash tax payments or its 2008 effective
tax rate.
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18. Transactions with A L. Industrier ASA

On December 28, 2006, the Company purchased 100% of
the outstanding shares of the Company's Class B commaon

stock from A.L. Industrier thereby making them no longer

a related party as defined under the regulations.

In 2003, the Company had an administrative service
agreement wherehy the Company provided management
services to Industrier. The agreement provided for payment
equal to the direct and indirect cost of providing the services
subject to a minimum amount. Effective January 1, 2004, the
Company and Industrier entered inte a new administrative
service agreement whereby the Company provided manage-
ment services and rented space to Industrier. The agreement
provided for payment of a fixed yearly fee of approximately
$146. Effective January 1, 2005, the Company and Industrier
entered into & new administrative service agreement whereby
the Company provided limited administrative services to
industrier. The new agreement replaced and reduced amounts
due under the previous agreement. The 2005 agreement pro-
vided for payment of a fixed yearly fee of approximately $60.

In connection with the 1994 agreement to purchase
Alpharma Oslo, Industrier retained the ownership of the
Skayen manufacturing facitity and administrative offices
{not including leasehold improvements and manufacturing
equipment) and leases it to the Company. The Company is
required to pay all expenses related to the gperation and
maintenance of the facility in addition to nominal rent.
The lease has an initial 20-year term and is renewable

at the then fair rental value at the option of the Company
for four consecutive five year terms.

In 2002, the Company signed a net lease agreement with
industrier that provides for the leasing of a parking lot at
the Skayen Facility through an initial term of October 2014
with the possibility of four consecutive five-year renewal
terms. The annual rental is 2.4 millior: Norwegian Kroner
(approximately $355 at 2006 average exchange rates).

As required, the above related party transactions were
approved by the Company's Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee.
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19, Leases

Rental expense under operating leases for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $3,641, $3,077,
and $5,074, respectively. Future minimum lease commitments
under nan-cancelable operating leases during each of the
next five years and thereafter are, as follows:

Years Fnding December 31,

2008 2,985
2009 3,379
2010 3,120
201 3,087
2012 3,116
Thereafter 16,405

$32,0862

Beginning in March 2007, the Company commenced a

10 year operating lease on a new Corporate headquarters
facility. This lease was amended in December 2007, and new
payments for the occupation of the additional leased space
are estimated to commence in June 2008. The Company
incurred redundant headquarters lease costs for a period

in 2007, while the Company remained at its former head-
quarters in preparation far the move.

20. Derivatives and Fair Value of

Financial Instruments:
The Company currently uses the following derivative
financial instruments for purposes other than trading:

Derivative Use Purpose

Entered into selectively to
sell or buy cash flows in
non-functional currencies.

Forward foreign Occasional

exchange contracts

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had forward
foreign exchange contracts outstanding with a notional
amount of approximately $220,966 and $74,860, respectively.
These contracts calied for the exchange of Scandinavian
and other European currencies and in some cases the U.S.
Doliar to meet commitments in or sell cash flows generated
in non-functicnal currencies. All outstanding contracts

will expire in 2008 and the unrealized gains and losses are
not material. The Company does not account for these
transacticns as hedges under SFAS 133.




Counterparties to derivative agreements are major financial
institutions. Management believes the risk of incurring
losses related to credit risk is remote,

The carrying amounts reported in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and short-term debt approximate fair
value because of the immediate or short-term maturity of

21. Reorganization, Refocus and Other Actions

these financial instruments. The fair value of the publicly-
traded Convertible Senior Notes, due March 15, 2027, is
based on the quotes as of December 31, 2007, as follows:

Carrying Amount  Fair Value

2.125% Convertible Senior Notes

due March 15, 2027 $300,000 3267852

In connection with the reorganization and refocus of the Company to improve future operations, severance charges associated
with workforce reductions and other facility closure and exit costs have been recorded in prior periods. A summary of liabilities
and related activity in 2007 and 2006 for severance-related actions in connection with management's reorganization and refocus
and for other liabilities recorded by the AH segment, which were established for 2002 closure and exit costs, is, as follows:

Severance Qther Closure and Exit Costs

2007 2006 2007 2006

Balance, January 1, $ 568 $1,277 $3974 $ 5,410

Charges, net — 58 (3,328) (245)
568 1,335 646 5,165

Payments {244) {809) (509) {1,202)
Translation adjustments a0 42 16 i1
Balance, December 31, $364 § 568 § 153 43,974

Adjustments recorded during 2007, relate primarily to
the resolution of contractual conditions related to facility
closings, revisions to facility exit cost estimates, and asset
sales related to previously closed AH facilities and were
included in asset impairment and other (income) expense
in the statement of operations.

The liabilities for accrued severance as of December 31, 2007
are reflected in accrued expenses. The remaining balances
for other closure and exit costs as of December 31, 2007
are included in accrued expenses and primarily relate to
contractually required lease obligations and other contractu-
ally committed costs associated with facility closures. The
Company expects to settle these liabilities in the near future.

22. Supplemental Data
Other assets and deferred charges at December 31, include:

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets $40,398 348,817
Capitalized software cost,
net of amortization 5,990 9,253
Deferred borrowing costs,
net of amortization 7,057 838
Supplemental savings plan 1,342 2,385
Other 407 381
$55.,194 $61,674
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Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Depreciation expense $ 26,763 $ 23,890 $47,413
Amortization expense $23,221 $ 21,860 $43,781
Interest cost incurred:
Interest income $(15,536) $(19,328) $ (1,385)
Interest expense 5,233 2,625 46,967
Amortization of loan costs 1,012 250 2,168
Subtotal (9,291) (16,453) 47,750
Capitalized interest — — 610
Interest cost (earned) incurred $ (9.291) $(16,453) $48,360
Asset impairment and other:
Net pension curtailment gain $ — $ (7,542) | Q—
{Gainyloss on sale of Aquatic business — (1,922) —
Legal settlement {571} 1,100 —
Gain on sale of facility (3.380) (469) —
Severance as a result of reorganization — 58 1,184
Asset write-offs 381 502 —
Other 42 14 —
$ (3,528) $ (8,259 § 1,184
Cther income {expense), net:
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net $ {366) $ 29 $ 2,763
Other, net {280) (425) 1,943
$ (646) $ 29 § 4,706
Supplemental cash flow information:
2007 2006 2005
Cash paid for interest {net of amount capitalized) $ 4270 $ 5,952 $42,216
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) $ (1,939) $ 64,439 $20,293
Other non-cash operating activities {includes discontinued operations):
Goodwill impairment $ — $ — $ 815
Fixed asset impairments 2,078 317 624
Gain on sale of facility — (469) —
Inventory impairments — — 1,319
Intangible asset impairments — 395 601
QOther non-cash asset write-downs — 96 88
$ 2,078 $ 339 $ 3,447
Other non-cash items:
Issuance of stock warrants $ 1780 ) — 5§ —
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23. Information Concerning Business Segments
and Geographic Operations

The Company’s businesses are organized in three reportable

segments, as follows: Pharmaceuticals (“Pharmaceuticals”),

Active Pharmaceuticals Ingredients (“"API”), and Animal Heaith

{"AH"). Each business has a segment president who reports

to the CEO.

The operations of each segment are evaluated based on
earnings before interest and taxes (operating income).
Unallocated costs include corporate expenses for
administration, finance, legal and certain unallocated
expenses primarily related to stock-based compensation
and other long-term incentive compensation, as well as
certain costs related to business development activities
and the implementation of a company-wide enterprise
resource planning system. Segment data includes immaterial
inter-segment revenues which are eliminated in the
consolidated accounts.

Geographic revenues represent sales to third parties by
country in which the selling legal entity is domiciled. Operating
assets directly attributable to business segments are included
in identifiable assets (i.e. sum of accounts receivable, inven-
tories, net property, plant and equipment and net intangible
assets). Operating assets for Pharmaceuticals do not include
manufacturing property, plant and equipment. Cash, prepaid
expenses, and other corporate and nen-allocated assets are
included in unallocated, Discontinued operations include the
Generics Business and the ParMed Business. For geographic

reporting, long-lived assets include net property, plant and
equipment, goodwill, and net intangibles.

AH revenues for the year ended December 31, 2007

include one product that individually accounts for more

than 10% of consolidated revenues; Chiortetracyline

($117,900). Pharmaceuticals revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006 are entirely comprised of KADIAN sales,
and account for more than 10% of consolidated revenues.
One Pharmaceuticals’ wholesale customer accounts for
more than 10% of consolidated revenues.

Qperating Identifiable Depreciation Capital
Total Revenue Income {loss) Assets and Amortizaticn Expenditures

2007
Pharmaceuticals® $167,747 ${61,555) $ 335,642 $ 9,004 $ 9,749
API 187,622 34,031 233,605 15,960 41,094
AH 367,056 72,633 335,014 19,605 9,462
Unallocated & Eliminations — (44,403) 383,904 5415 194
Discontinued Operations — - — — —
$722,425 $ 706 $1,288,165 $49,984 $60,499

2006
Pharmaceuticals $138,176 $ 28,304 $ 213,687 $ 8,703 $ 5019
APl 168,688 51,821 185,314 14,132 18,154
AH 346,931 71,528 330,266 19,258 8,405
Unalocated & Eliminations 33 (56,053) 197,972 3,540 4,470
Discontinued Operations — —_ —_ 117 123
$653,828 $ 95,600 $ 927,239 $45,750 $36,171

2005
Pharmaceuticals $101,579 § 23,582 $ 208,371 $ 7,963 § 907
API 138,355 52,419 139,073 11,100 7,697
AH 325,065 66,279 329,216 18.8%0 5,090
Unallocated & Eliminations (11,382) (47,469} 929,365 5,874 8,505
Discentinued Operations — — 17,358 47,367 16,740
$553,617 $94,81 $1,623,383 $91,194 $38,939

(a) Includes an upfront payment of $60,000 10 IDEA AG for an exclusive license jo the United States rights to ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME gel.
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NOtGS tO COI’lSOlidated ﬁﬂanCIEl.l Statemeﬂts (In thousands, except share dala)

Geographic Informalion

Revenues Long-lived Identifiable Assets
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
United States $517,077 $484,700 $421,600 $426,236 $331,888 $343,600
Norway 12,103 18,800 10,200 21,788 19,300 19,000
Denmark 59,055 47,300 33,500 106,055 79,700 84,700
Other 134,190 103,028 88,317 97,390 81,136 60,704
$722,425 $653,828 $553,617 $651,469 $512,024 $508,004
24. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
2007 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter® Full Year
Total Revenue $168,081 $179,420 $175,798 $199,126 $722,425
Gross Profit $ 96,472 $104,253 $ 98,926 $109,726 $409,377
Net income (loss) $ 11,975 $ 13,019 $ 15,053 5 (53,628) $(13,581)
Income (loss) per share from
continuing operations—basic 0.28 $ 030 $ 035 $ (.29 $ (032)
Net income (loss) per share—basic 0.28 $ 030 $ 035 $ (.29 $ (0.32)
Income (loss) per share from
continuing operations—diluted $ 028 $ 0.30 $ 035 $ (1.249) $ (0.32)
Net income (loss) per share—diluted $ 0.28 $ 030 $ 035 $ (1.29) $ (0.32)
2006 First Quarter® Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter@ Full Year
Total Revenue $158,980 $159,196 $165,345 $170,307 $653,828
Gross Profit $ 96,183 $ 96,002 $ 94,506 $ 95,149 $381,840
Net Income $ 33,434 $ 16,294 $ 17,012 $ 15,804 $ 82,544
Income per share from
continuing operations—hasic $ 013 $ 033 $ 032 $ 034 3 1.2
Net income per share—basic $ 062 $ 030 $ 032 $ 029 3 154
Income per share from
continuing operations—diluted $ 013 $ 032 $ o3 $ 034 $ 1
Net income per share—diluted $ 062 $ 030 $ o3 $ 029 $ 152

{a} Includes an upfront payment of $60,000 10 HIEA AG for an exclusive license 1o the United Stales rights to ketoprofen in TRANSFERSOME gel.

() In the first guarier of 2006, the Compuny recorded o net gai in Discontimied Operativns on the sule of ParMed of $25,263. Also inchuded in the
[first quarier 2006 results, is a call premitan of $ 18,894 and the write-off of deferred loan costs of $521, associated with the repayment of the

Company’s rentaining dest in junuary 2006.

(c) In the fourih quarier of 2006, the Company recorded a net pre-tax pension curiailment gain of §7.5 wriflion.

25. Subsequent Event

In February 2008, the Company announced that it has
entered into an agreement to sell its AP} business to certain
investment funds managed by 3i, a global private equity and
venture capital company, for $395.0 million in cash. The
final purchase price is subject to adjustment based on the
closing net cash balance and working capital of the business
and is expected to generate net proceeds, after taxes, fees,
and expenses, of approximately $365.0 million.
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There is no financing condition to the obligations of the
purchasers to cansummate the transaction, and equity and
debt commitments for the full purchase price have been
received. The Company expects to record a gain on closing
of the transaction, which is expected to close in the second
quarter of 2008, pending regulatory approvals and other
closing conditions. As of December 31, 2007, the AP
business did not qualify as an asset held for sale, or
discontinued operations, as it did not meet the applicable
criteria of SFAS 144 as of December 31, 2007.




Controls ¢4 procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company has implermented and maintains disclosure
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required 1o be disctosed in reports the Company files or sub-
mits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (*Exchange
Act") is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms
and that such information is accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer
("CEQ") and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFQ"} as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding disclosure. The disclosure controls and procedures
involve participation by various individuals in the Company
having access to material information relating to the opera-
tions of the Company. 't should be noted that any system of
controls, however well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, and not absclute, assurance that the objec-
tives of the system are met. In addition, the design of any
control system is based in part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events.

The Company's CEQ and CFO completed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15 as of December 31, 2007. Based on this evalua-
tion, they concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting

Management is responsitle for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting. The

Company's internal control over financial reporting is a

process that is designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

and includes those policies and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of assets of the Cormpany,

» Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparatior of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and the board of directors of the
Company, and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to

future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conaitions,

or that the degree of compliance with the policies and
procedures may deteriorate.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness
of the Campany's internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, utilizing the criteria described in
“Internal Control—Integrated framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Cammission ("COSQO"). The objective of this assessment
was to determine whether the Campany's internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2007. Based on that assessment the Company believes that,
at December 21, 2007, its internal control over financial
reporting was effective,

{c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internat

control over financial reporting during the three-month period

ended December 31, 2007, that have materially affected, or

are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s

internal control aver financial reporting.
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Report of independent registered public accounting firm

Board of Directors and Sharehoiders
Alpharma Inc.

440 U.S. Highway 22 East
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Alpharma In¢. as of December 31, 2007 and

2006 and the related consclidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonabte basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Alpharma, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007,
in confarmity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

As described in Note 17, in 2007 the Company adopted
the provisions of FASB Interpretation No, 48 ("FIN 48"),
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” effective
January 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Alpharma Inc.'s internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) and our report dated February 27,
2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fs/ BDO Seidman, LLP

New York, New York
February 27, 2008



Report of independent registered public accounting firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Alpharma Inc.

440 U.S. Highway 22 East
Bridgewater, NJ 08807

We have audited Alpharma Inc.'s internal control over
financial reporting as of Decernber 31, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-tntegrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Alpharma Inc.'s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management's Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinon on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

{2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company; and

{3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,

or disposition of the company's assets that could have

a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-
quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Alpharma Inc. maintained, in ali material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO ciiteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Alpharma inc.

as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consoli-
dated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007 and our report dated February 27, 2008
expressed an ungualified opinion.

/sf BDO Seidman, LLP

New York, New York
February 27, 2008

Alpbarma Inc. & Subsidiaries  Page 63




Market for registrant’s common equity,

related stockholder matters and issuer purchased equity securities

Market Information

The Company's Class A Common Stock is listed on the

New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE”). Information concerning
the 2007 and 2006 sales prices of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock is set forth in the table below.

Stock Trading Price

2007 2006
"Quarter High Low High Low
First $28.30 $2365 $3380 326.20
Second $26.67 $22.73 52703 32165
Third $27.25 $21.26 52435 $19.98
| Fourth $21.70  $19.04 $2439 52093

| As of December 31, 2007 and February 26, 2008, the Com-
| pany’s stock closing price was $20.15 and $26.55, respectively.

| Holders

As of February 11, 2008, there were 1,258 holders of record
of the Company’s Class A Comman Stock. Record holders of
the Class A Cormmon Stock indude Cede & Co., a clearing
agency which held approximately 97% of the outstanding

Class A Common Stock as a nominee. On December 28,
2006, the Company purchased 100% of the outstanding
shares of the Company’s Class B commaon stock from A.L.
Industrier. Including related fees, the cost of the repurchase
was approximately $307.4 million. The shares repurchased
are included in Treasury Stock. Following the Class B share
repurchase, control of the Company now rests in the hold-
ers of the Class A shares acting by the majority applicable
under Delaware law and the Company's charter documents.

Dividends

Through the third quarter of 2006, the Company declared
quarterly cash dividends on its Class A and Class B Common
Stock. Declared dividends per share for the first three
quarters of 2006 totaled $0.135. Effective in the fourth
quarter of 2006, the Company discontinued its quarterty
dividend on all Common Stock.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans
See ftem 12 of this Report.

Compare 5-Year Cumulative Total Return

Among Alpharma Inc., the NYSE Market Index and a Peer Group Index
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2 ALPHARMA.

ALPHARMA INC.
440 Route 22 East
Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders
To Be Held on May 8, 2008
To the Stockholders of ALPHARMA INC.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Alpharma Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company’), will be held at the Company’s offices at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey
on Thursday, May &, 2008, at 9:00 a.m., local time, to consider and act upon the following matters:

1. Election of six directors to the Company’s Board of Directors, each to hold office until the 2009
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until his or her successor shall be elected and shall qualify.

2. Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Com-
pensation Plan.

3. Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc, Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

4. Ratification of the appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the 2008 fiscal year.

5. Transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournments or
postponements thereof.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on March 11, 2008 as the record date for
determining the Company’s stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting or
any adjournment thereof.

Your representation at this meeting is important. Whether or not you expect to attend the Annual Meeting in
person, please complete, date, sign and return the enclosed proxy {or complete your voting telephonically or by
email). An envelope is enclosed for your convenience which, if mailed in the United States, requires no additional
postage. If you attend the Annual Meeting, you may then withdraw your proxy and vote in person.

A copy of the Company’s Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2007 and a Proxy
Statement accompany this notice.

By order of the Board of Directors,

Thomas J. Speltman II1
Secretary

March 28, 2008

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR
THE SHAREHOLDER MEETING TO BE HELD ON MAY 8, 2008

This Proxy Statement and our Annual Report are available at www.edocumentview.com/ALQ.




> ALPHARMA.,

ALPHARMA INC.
440 Route 22 East
Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807

MAILING DATE
March 28, 2008

Proxy Statement for Annual Meeting of Stockholders
To Be Held on May 8, 2008

This proxy statement (this “Proxy Statement”) is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the
Board of Directors of Alpharma Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company™), for use at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (the “Annual Meeting™) to be held on Thursday, May 8, 2008 at the Company’s offices at 440 Route 22
East, Bridgewater, New Jersey at 9:00 a.m., local time, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. The cost of
solicitation of the Company’s stockholders (the “Stockholders”) will be paid by the Company. Such cost will
include the reimbursement of banks, brokerage firms, nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians for expenses of
forwarding solicitation materials to beneficial owners of shares. In addition to the solicitation of proxies by use of
mail, the directors, officers and employees of the Company may solicit proxies personally or by telephone, e-mail or
facsimile transmission. Such directors, officers and employees will not be additionally compensated for such
solicitation but may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith.

It is anticipated that this Proxy Statement and form of proxy will first be sent to the Stockholders on or about
March 28, 2008,

THE ANNUAL MEETING

Purpose of Meeting
At the Annual Meeting, the Stockholders will consider and act upon the following matters:

1. Election of six directors to the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board™), each to hold office until
the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until his or her successor shall be elected and shall
qualify.

2. Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Com-
pensation Plan,

3. Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

4. Ratification of the appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the 2008 fiscal year.

5. Transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournments or
postponements thereof.




Record Date; Shares Entitled to Vote

The close of business on March 11, 2008 (the “Record Date”) has been fixed as the record date for determining
holders of outstanding shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock, par value $.20 per share (“Class A
Common Stock™), entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, 43,920,768 shares
of Class A Common Stock were outstanding and entitled to vote. 11,872,897 shares of the Company’s Class B
Common Stock (“Class B Stock™), constituting all of the shares of Class B Stock, are currently held by wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company and as a result have no voting rights and are treated for financial purposes and
for purposes of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation as treasury stock.

Quorum

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of one-third of the outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock on the Record Date is necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.
Each holder of shares of Class A Common Stock is entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, for each share of
Class A Common Stock held as of the Record Date with respect to each matter to be voted on at the Annual Meeting.
Abstentions and “broker non-votes” are included in determining the number of shares present or represented at the
Annual Meeting for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

Under New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) rules, if your shares are held in “street name” and you do not
indicate how you wish to vote, your broker is permitted to exercise its discretion to vote your shares on “routine’”
matters, which include the election of directors and the ratification of the appointment of the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm. Your broker, however, is not permitted to vote on certain “non-
routine” matters, such as the approval of equity compensation plans and amendments, in the absence of your
instruction. Therefore, if you do not direct your broker how to vote, for example, on the approval of the amendment
and ‘restatement of the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan or the amendment and
restatement of the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, your broker may not exercise discretion and
may not vote your shares, resulting in a “broker non-vote.”

Required Vote

Election of Directors.  Six directors will be elected at the Annual Meeting. Under the Company's Certificate
of Incorporation, the holders of the Class A Common Stock are entitled, voting as a separate class, to elect at least
33%9% of the Company’s Board of Directors (rounded to the nearest whole number, but in no event less than two
members of the Board), and the holders of the Class B Stock are entitled, voting separately as a class, to elect the
remaining directors. However, since the Class B Stock is currently held by wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and is treated as treasury stock, its voting rights are not exercisable and the holders of the Class A
Common Stock are entitled to vote for 100% of the directors. Therefore, the holders of the Class A Common Stock
will elect all six of the directors. Directors are elected by the affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the
Annual Meeting. '

Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan. Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan requires the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting; provided, however, that under NYSE rules,
the total votes cast must represent over 50% in interest of all securities entitled to vote on the proposal. Broker non-
votes are not considered *votes cast” and, therefore, will not be counted as a vote either “For” or “Against” the
proposal and will not be included in determining the total votes cast on that matter. As a result, broker non-votes can
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have the effect of a vote “Against” the proposal, if at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock
{excluding the broker non-votes) are not voted on the proposal. Abstentions will be counted in determining the total
number of shares “entitled to vote” and “votes cast” and have the effect of a vote “Against” the proposal.

Approval of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  Approval
of the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan requires the affirmative
vote of holders of a majority of the shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock present in person or by proxy
and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting; provided, however, that under NYSE rules, the total votes cast must
represent over 50% in interest of all securities entitled to vote on the proposal. Broker non-votes are not considered
“yotes cast” and, therefore, will not be counted as a vote either “For” or “Against” the proposal and will not be
included in determining the total votes cast on that matter. As a result, broker non-votes can have the effect of a vote
“Against” the proposal, if at least 50% of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock (excluding the broker
non-vates) are not voted on the proposal. Abstentions will be counted in determining the total number of shares
“entitled to vote” and “votes cast” and have the effect of a vote “Against” the proposal.

Ratification of the Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. Ratification of the
appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm BDO Seidman, LLP for fiscal year 2008 requires
the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock present in
person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions will have the effect of a vote “Against”
the proposal.

Proxies

The enclosed proxy provides space for holders of Class A Common Stock to vote for, or withhold authority to
vote for, all of the Company’s six nominees for directors. Shares of Class A Common Stock represented by properly
executed proxies received at or prior to the Annual Meecting, which have not been revoked, will be voted in
accordance with the instructions indicated therein. If no instructions are indicated, such proxies will be voted
(i) FOR the election as directors of the six nominees for directors nominated by the Board {see “Election of
Directors; Nominees for Directors” below), (ii) FOR the approval of the amendment and restatement of the
Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, (iii) FOR the approval of the amendment and
restatement of the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, (iv) FOR the proposal to ratify the appointment of
the Company’s independent accounts and (v} in the discretion of the proxy holder, as to any other matter which may
properly come before the Annual Meeting. As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Company is not aware of any
matters that are to be presented at the Annval Meeting other than those listed above.

YOURVOTE IS IMPORTANT, WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING,
PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND RETURN YOUR PROXY (OR COMPLETE YOUR VOTING
TELEPHONICALLY OR BY EMAIL) IN ORDER TO ENSURE THAT YOUR SHARES WILL BE REPRE-
SENTED AT THE ANNUAL MEETING. THE GIVING OF SUCH PROXY DOES NOT AFFECT YOUR RIGHT
TO VOTE IN PERSON IN THE EVENT YOU ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING.

A holder of Class A Common Stock who has given a proxy may revoke such proxy at any time prior to its
exercise at the Annual Meeting by (i) giving written notice of revocation to the Secretary of the Company,
(ii) properly submitting to the Company a duly executed proxy bearing a later date, or (iii) attending the Annual
Meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the Annuzal Meeting will not automatically revoke a proxy. All writien
notices of revocation and other communications with respect to revocation of proxies should be sent to the attention
of the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s United States executive offices, located at 440 Route 22 East,
Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807.



If a quorum is not obtained, the Annual Meeting may be adjourned for the purpose of cbtaining additional
proxies or for any other purpose, and, at any subsequent reconvening of the Annual Meeting, all proxies will be
voted in the same manner as such proxies would have been voted at the original convening of the meeting (except
for any proxies which have been effectively revoked or withdrawn), notwithstanding that they may have been
effectively voted on the same or any other matter at a previous meeting.

Electronic and Telephonic Voting

You may vote your proxies by touch-tone telephone from the U.S., using the toll-free telephone number on the
proxy card, or via the Internet using the procedures and instructions described on the proxy card. Stockholders who
own their common stock through a broker, also known as “street name” holders, may vote by telephone or via the
Internet if their bank or broker makes those methods available, in which case the bank or broker will enclose
instructions with the Proxy Statement. The telephone and Internet voting procedures, including the use of control
numbers found on the proxy card, are designed to authenticate Stockholder identities, to allow Stockholders to vote
their shares of common stock, and to confirm that their instructions have been properly recorded. Stockholders
voting via the Internet should understand that there may be costs associated with electronic access, such as usage
charges from Internet access providers and telephone companies, which must be paid by the Stockholder.

.




SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Ownership of Common Stock

The following table sets forth, as of February 15, 2008 (unless otherwise noted), certain information regarding
the beneficial ownership of Class A Common Stock of (a) each person who is known to the Company to be the
beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares, (b) each director and each nominee for director of the
Company, (c) each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table under “Executive Compensa-
tion”, and (d) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, (i) each
beneficial owner possesses sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares listed for such beneficial
owner in this table, and (ii) the address of such beneficial owner is the Company’s offices at 440 Route 22 East,
Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807, This table does not include Class B Stock as it is currently 100% owned by wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company and as a result has no voting rights and is treated for financial purposes and for
" purposes of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as treasury stock.

Amount and
Nature of Percent of
Beneficial Class
Title of Class of Stock Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Qutstanding
Class A Common Stock FMR LLC(2) . .. i e e e 6,770,252 15.302%
Class A Common Stock Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc.(3). ... .......... 3,656,223 8.38
Class A Common Stock JPMorgan Chase & Co.(4) . ................... 3,354,276 7.60
Class A Common Stock Wells Fargo & Company(5) ................... 2,861,721 6.60
Class A Common Stock Cooke & Bieler, LLP.(6) ...................... 2,697,394 6.20
Class A Common Stock Royce & Associates, LLC(7) .................. 2,582,216 5.92
Class A Common Stock Thompson, Siegel & Walmsley LLC(8). .......... 2,494,209 5.71
Class A Common Stock Barclays Global Investors N.A.(9). . ... ... e 2,193,142 5.02
Class A Common Stock Dean J. Mitchell(1) ........... ... ... ... ... 141,325 *
Class A Common Stock Ronald N. Warner(1) ............. .. ......... 110,413 *
Class A Common Stock Jeffrey S. Campbell(1) . ......... ... ot 49,299 *
Class A Common Stock Carol A, Wrenn(l) .. ............. . .......... 45471 *
Class A Common Stock Carl-Aake Carlsson(1} .. ..................... 39,670 *
Class A Common Stock Robert F. Wrobel(1) . .. ... ... ... 31,330 *
Class A Common Stock Peter G. Tombros{1). . ............ ... ... ..... 27,318 *
Class A Common Stock Finn Berg Jacobsen(l) ... .......... ... ... ... 0 —
Class A Common Stock Peter W. Ladell(1) .......... ... ... .. ..., 0 —_
Class A Common Stock Ramon M. Perez(1} ........... ... ... ...... 0 —
Class A Common Stock David C. U'Prichard(1) . .......... .. ... ...... 0 —
Class A Common Stock All directors and executive officers as a group
(Mdpersons)(1}. ... ... .. i 505,650 1.25

* indicates ownership of less than 1%

(1) The shares reflected in the table include shares that the executive officer or director has the right to acquire upon
the exercise of stock options granted under the 1997 Incentive Stock Option and Appreciation Right Plan, the
Non-Employee Director Option Plan or the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, which are exercisable
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as of February 15, 2008 or within 60 days thereafter, as follows: Mr. Mitchell — 49,875 shares; Dr. Wamer —
49,826 shares; Mr. Campbell — 12,625 shares; Ms. Wrenn — 10,770 shares; Mr. Carlsson — 32,875 shares;
Mr. Wrobel — 31,330 shares; and Mr. Tombros —— 24,500 shares. All directors and executive officers as a
group — 220,551 shares. The shares in the table also include shares of unvested restricted stock granted under
the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan, over which the executive officer or director has voting control
as of February 15, 2008, as follows: Mr. Mitchell — 89,806 shares, Dr. Warnet — 36,536 shares, Mr. Camp-
bell — 32,636 shares and Ms. Wrenn — 26,636 shares. All directors and executive officers as a group —
275.420 shares. The shares reflected in the table do not include restricted stock units that convey no voting
control prior to vesting. The following lists the restricted stock units {not reflected in the table) held by the
directors as of February 15, 2008: Mr. Tombros — 23,675 units, Mr. Berg Jacobsen — 15,952 units,
Mr. Ladell — 5,117 units, Mr. Perez — 20,117 units, and Mr. U’Prichard — 5,117 units. The following lists
the restricted stock units (not reflected in the table) held by the executive officer as of February 15, 2008:
Mr. Mitchell — 23,056 units; Dr. Warner — 4,926 units; Mr. Campbell — 6,498 units; Ms. Wrenn —
4,926 units; and Mr. Carlsson — 26,396 units. The shares reflected in the table have not been pledged as
security.

The source of this information is Amendment No. 2 to Schedule 13G dated February 13, 2008, filed with the
Commission by FMR LLC (“Fidelity”). Such Schedule 13G reports that Fidelity is the beneficial owner of
6,770,252 shares and holds sole voting power as to 404,600 shares and sole dispositive power as to
6,770,252 shares. The Schedule 13G further reports that Fidelity Value Fund, an investment company registered
under the Investment Company act of 1940, held an interest amounting to 7.625% of the total outstanding
shares held by Fidelity as of December 31, 2007. The address of Fidelity is 82 Devonshire Street, Boston
Massachusetts 02109.

The source of this information is Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13G dated February 6, 2008, filed with the
Commission by Dimensional Fund Advisors L.P. (“Dimensional”). Such Schedule 13G reports that Dimen-
sional, an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, furnishes
investment advice to four investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, and
serves as investment manager to certain other commingled group trusts and separate accounts (the “Funds”). In
its role as investment adviser or manager, Dimensional possesses voting and/or investment power over the
Company shares that are owned by the Funds, and may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares. No
one Fund, to Dimensional’s knowledge, owns more than 5% of the outstanding Class A Common Stock of the
Company. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares owned by the Funds. Dimensional holds
sole voting power and sole dispositive power as to all such shares. The address of Dimensional is 1299 Ocean
Ave., Santa Monica, California $0401.

The source of this information is Schedule 13G dated February 11, 2008, filed with the Commission by
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“Chase”). Such Schedule 13G reports that Chase is the beneficial owner of
3,354,276 shares and holds sole voting power and sole dispositive power as to all such shares. The address
of Chase is 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10017.

The source of this information is Schedule 13G dated February 13, 2008, filed with the Commission by Wells
Fargo & Company (“Wells Fargo”) on behalf of itself and certain of its subsidiaries. Such Schedule 13G reports
that Wells Fargo, on a consolidated basis, is the beneficial owner of 2,879,146 shares and holds sole voting
power as to 2,861,721 shares, sole dispositive power as 10 1,920,531 shares and shared dispositive poser as to
11,000 shares. The Schedule 13G further reports that Wells Fargo Funds Management, LLC, a subsidiary of
Wells Fargo, holds sole voting power as to 2,465,304 shares and sole dispositive power as to 30,495 shares. The
address of Wells Fargo is 420 Montgomery Street, San Francisco, California 94104
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Bieler, L.P. (“Cocke & Bieler”). Such Schedule 13G reports that Cooke & Bieler is the beneficial owner of
2,697,394 shares and holds sole voting power as to 1,573,919 shares and sole dispositive power as to
2,697,394 shares. The address of Cooke & Bieler is 1700 Market Street, Suite 3222, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
19103.

The source of this information is Schedule 13G dated January 22, 2008, filed with the Commission by Royce &
Associates, LLC (“Royce”). Such Schedule 13G reports that Royce is the beneficial owner of 2,582,216 shares
and holds sole voting power and sole dispositive power as to all such shares. The address of Royce is 1414
Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10019,

The source of this information is Schedule 13G dated February 14, 2008, filed with the Commission by
Thompson, Siegel & Walmsley LLC (“Thompson™). Such Schedule 13G reports that Thompson is the
beneficial owner of 2,494,209 shares and Thompson holds sole voting power as to 2,122,665 shares, shared
voling power as to 371,544 shares and sole dispositive power as to 2,494,209 shares. The address of Thompson
is 6806 Paragon Place, Suite 300, Richmond, Virginia 23230.

The source of this information is Schedule 13G dated January 10, 2008, filed with the Commission by Barclays
Global Investors, N.A. (“Barclays™). Such Schedule 13G reports that Barclays is the beneficial owner of
756,804 shares and holds sole voting power as to 613,053 shares and sole dispositive power as to 756,804 shares.
The Schedule 13G further reports that an affiliate of Barclays, Barclays Global Fund Advisors, is the beneficial
owner of 1,391,698 shares and holds sole voting power as to 1,027,988 shares and sole dispositive power as to
1,391,698 shares. The Schedule 13G further reports that an affiliate of Barclays Global Investors, LTD, is the
beneficial owner of 44,640 shares and holds sole dispositive power as to all 44,640 shares. The address of
Barclays and Barclays Global Fund Advisors is 45 Fremont Street, San Francisco, California 94105,

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company’s executive officers

and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company's equity securities, to file
reports of ownership and changes in ownership of the Company’s stock on Forms 3, 4 and 5 with the Commission
and the NYSE. Executive officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial stockholders are required by
Commission regulation to furnish the Company with copies of ail Forms 3, 4 and 5 that they file. The Company
is not aware of any late or missed filings (or other noncompliance), during the 2007 fiscal year, by any of its
executive officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial stockholders with the Section 16(a) filing
requirements,



ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Election of Directors
The current terms of all of the Company’s directors expire at the Annual Meeting.

The Board intends to cause the nomination of the nominees listed below under “Nominees for Directors” and
all proxies received from holders of Class A Common Stock will be voted FOR the election of such nominees as
directors, except to the extent that persons giving such proxies withhold authority to vote for such nominees. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee recommended the nominees to the Board, which subsequently
approved the nominations. Each director is to be elected to hold office until the next Annual Meeting of
Stockholders and until his or her successor is elected and qualified.

Directors are elected by the affirmative vote of a plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions
and broker non-votes are not counted as votes cast in determining the plurality required to elect directors. The Board
of Directors recommends that shareholders vote for such nominees for director.

Nominees for Directors

The Company believes that each of the nominees for director will be able to serve. If any of the nominees for
director would be unable to serve, the enclosed proxy confers autherity to vote in favor of such other person or
persons as the Company’s directors recommend at the time to serve in place of the person or persons unable to serve.
The name, age, principal business experience during the last five years, and certain other information regarding each
of the persons proposed to be nominated for election as a director, are listed below.

Name Age Principal Business Experience

Finn Berg Jacobsen . ...... 67 Director of the Company since April 2005. Senior Advisor since 20035 with
Bahr Law, the Norwegian law firm. Among numerous recent consulting
engagements, was engaged by a Norwegian corporation traded on the Oslo
and NASDAQ Stock Exchanges to build an internal audit function to be
compliant with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Served as Group Executive
Vice President and Chief of Corporate Staff of Aker Kvaerner ASA, the
Norwegian oil services company, from February 2002 to March 2005, and as
Acting Chief Financial Officer (from December 2003 to November 2004)
and Chief Financial Officer (from September 2001 to January 2002) for such
company. From 1967 to 2000, served in a variety of positions, including
Country Managing Partner in Norway (from 1977 to 1999), for Arthur
Andersen & Co. Chairman and subsequently member of the Accounting
Advisory Council with the Oslo Stock Exchange, from 1977 to 2000.
Chairman and one of the founders of the Norwegian Financial
Accounting Standards Board, from 1990 to 2000. Chairman of the
Control Committee of the Oslo Stock Exchange, from 2000 to 2004.
Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee.  Member of the
Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.




Name

Peter W. Ladell

Dean J. Mitchell

Ramon M. Perez

Principal Business Experience

Director of the Company since June 2007, Formerly Chief Operating Officer
of Hoechst Marion Roussel from 1997 until the company’s December 1999
merger with Rohne-Poulenc Rorer to form Aventis Pharmaceuticals.
Subsequently served as a member of the Aventis Executive Committee
until retirement in 2001, During 35-year tenure at Hoechst Marion Roussel
and its predecessors, served in several other senior leadership positions,
including President and Chief Executive Officer, Hoechst Marion Roussel,
North America and President, Marion Merrell Dow Europe. Member of the
Company’s Compensation Committee.

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since July
2006. From October 2005 to June 2006 he was President of MGI, GP (the
company that acquired Guilford Pharmaceuticals). From December 2004
until October 2005 President and Chief Executive Officer of Guilford
Pharmaceuticals Inc. From 2001 until 2004 held various senior
management positions with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, including
President, International Pharmaceuticals, President, U.S. Primary Care,
and Vice President, Strategy. From 1987 through 2001, employed with
GlaxoSmithKline and its predecessor business, most recently as Senior Vice
President, Clinical Development and Product Strategy. Director of ISTA
Pharmaceuticals, a specialty pharmaceutical company focused on products
for serious eye conditions, since July 2004.

Director of the Company since May 2004. Managing Director of Vela
Management Group, a consulting practice focused in the healthcare
industry. Formerly served in executive and senior management positions
at Cardinal Health Inc., a global provider of products and services to
healthcare providers and manufacturers, including President, Specialty
Pharmaceutical Products & Services from 2000 to 2003, Executive Vice
President, Supply Chain Services from 1996 to 1999, and Senior Vice
President, Purchasing from 1994 to 1995. Formerly served in senior
management positions at Baxter International, Inc., a global developer,
manufacturer and distributor of products and services for healthcare and
related fields, including Vice President, Reengineering Team from 1993 to
1994, Vice President, Corporate Alliances from 1991 to 1993, Vice
President, Purchasing, Hospital Supply Division from 1990 to 1991, Vice
President, Marketing, Hospital Supply Division from 1987 to 1990, and
various other positions in its Dietary Products Division from 1978 to 1987,
including Director of Marketing. Chairman of the Company’s Compensation
Committee. Member of the Company’s Audit Committee and Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee.




Name

Peter G. Tombros. . .

David C. U’Prichard

Age
65

Principal Business Experience

Chairman of the Board since March 2006. Director of the Company since
August 1994, Commencing in 2005, Professor and Executive in Residence in
the Eberly College of Science BS/MBA Program at Pennsylvania State
University. From 2001 to 2005, served as Chief Executive Officer of
VivoQuest, Inc., a private bio-pharmaceutical company. Former Director,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Enzon, Inc., a developer and
marketer of bio-pharmaceutical products, from Aprl 1994 to June 2001.
Served in a variety of senior management positions at Pfizer, Inc., the
pharmaceutical company, for 25 years, including Vice President of
Marketing, Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Roerig
Pharmaceuticals Division, Executive Vice President of Pfizer
Pharmaceuticals Division, Director, Pfizer Pharmaceuticals Division, Vice
President-Corporate  Strategic Planning, and Vice President-Corporate
Officer of Pfizer, Inc. Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of NPS
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a biotechnology company; Director of Cambrex
Corp., a supplier of human health products to the life sciences industry,
Director of Protalex Inc., a developer of bio-pharmaceutical drugs; and Non-
Executive Chairman of the Board of Pharma Net Development Group, a
global drug development company providing a range of early and late stage
clinical drug development services to the pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
genetic drug, and medical device industries. Chairman of the Company’s
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Member of the
Company’s Audit Committee and Compensation Committee.

Director of the Company since June 2007. Venture partner for Red Abbey
Venture Partners, LP and President, Druid Consulting LLC. Venture partner
for Care Capital LLC from 2004 to 2006. Venture partner for Apax Partners
Ltd from 2003 to 2004. Chief Executive Officer of 3-Dimensional
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 1999 to 2003. Served as Chairman, Research
& Development of SmithKline Beecham Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from 1997 to
1999. Director of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc, a biopharmaceutical
company that develops and commercializes drugs to treat human cancers
and other serious disorders; and Invitrogen Corporation, a company
providing life science technology. Member of the Company’s.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board Meetings, Annual Meeting and Attendance of Directors

The Board held eighteen meetings in 2007, Each person who served as a director in 2007 attended at least 75%
of the aggregate of (i) the total number of meetings of the Board held while such person was a member, and (i) the
total number of meetings held by all committees of the Board on which such person served while a member of such
committee, except for David C. U'Prichard who attended 61.5% of the meetings. The Company does not have a
policy requiring directors to attend its annual meeting of Stockholders. However, the Company encourages the
attendance of all directors standing for reelection, and five of the current directors attended the 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders held on June 5, 2007.
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Board and Comimittee Independence

The Board complies with the independence criteria established by the NYSE and with the independence
standards of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”). In determining Board independence in
compliance with the NYSE rules, the Board considers whether directors or director nominees have a material
relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries. When assessing materiality, the Board weighs all relevant
facts and circumstances, using the following categorical standards to determine director independence: (1) whether
the director or nominee, or his or her immediate family member, is currently or has been within the last three years:
(a) an employee or executive officer of the Company; (b) receiving more than $100,000 during any 12 month period
in direct compensation from the Company (other than director and committee fees and pension or other forms of
deferred compensation for prior service — unless such compensation is contingent in any way on continued
service); (c) affiliated with or employed in a professional capacity by a present or former internal or external auditor
of the Company; (d) employed as an executive officer of another company where any of the Company’s present
executive officers serves as a member of such other company’s compensation committee; or (€) an executive officer
or an employee of another company that makes payments to, or receives payments from, the Company for property
or services in an amount which, in any of the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of $1 million or 2% of such
other company’s consolidated gross revenues; and (2) whether certain other factors or ¢circumstances external to the
Company exist that would materially interfere with the director or nominee making decisions without regard to such
factors or circumstances. The Board has reviewed all such reiationships of each outside director.

The current members of the Board are Peter G. Tombros (Chairman), Dean J. Mitchell, Finn Berg Jacobsen,
Peter W. Ladell, Ramon M. Perez and David C. U’Prichard. Glen E. Hess and Ingrid Wiik served as directors
through June 5, 2007. The Board affirmatively determined in June 2007 that the following directors, constituting a
majority of the Board, qualify as “independent” members of the Board: Peter G. Tombros, Finn Berg Jacobsen,
Peter W. Ladell, Ramon M. Perez and David C. U’Prichard, The Board affirmatively determined in May 2006 that
Mr. Hess qualified as an “independent” member of the Board; however, the Board did not analyze his independence
in June 2007 due to the fact that Mr. Hess was not standing for re-election to the Board.

None of the directors determined to be independent engaged in any transaction, relationship or arrangement
that might affect the determination of their independence, or which required Board review except for Mr. Tombros,
who serves as a director of one of the Company’s suppliers.

In determining Audit Committee independence, the Board first considers whether directors or director
nominees qualify as “independent” to serve on the Board (as set forth above), and, if answered affirmatively,
whether they satisfy two additional independence requirements: (1) whether the director or nominee currently
receives (or in the past has received), directly or indirectly, compensation of any kind (including salary, legal fees,
consulting fees and auditing fees) from the Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than director’s compensation
for prior service that is not contingent in any way on continued service, and (2) whether the director or nominee is an
“affiliated person” of the Company, in that he or she directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the Company (e.g., is an executive officer of the
Company or a stockholder holding 10% or more of any class of Company securities). Applying these standards, the
Board determined in June 2007 that the following directors, constituting the entire Audit Committee, qualify as
“independent” to serve on the Board’s Audit Committee: Finn Berg Jacobsen (Chairman), Ramon M. Perez and
Peter G. Tombros.

In determining Compensation Committee independence, the Board first considers whether directors or
director nominees qualify as “independent” to serve on the Board (as set forth above), and, if answered
affirmatively, whether they satisfy two additional independence requirements: (1) whether the director or nominee
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is 2 “Non-Employee Director” under Rule 16b-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which means
a director or nominee who: (a) is not currently an officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries; (b) does
not receive more than $120,000 in compensation annually from the Company or its subsidiaries for services
rendered as a consultant or in any capacity other than as a director; and (c) does not possess a direct or indirect
material interest in any transaction or proposed transaction in which the Company or its subsidiaries were or are to
be participants and the amount involved exceeds $120,000; and (2} whether the director or nominee is an “Outside
Director” under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), in that he or she:
(a) is not currently an officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries; (b) is not a former employee of the
Company or its subsidiaries who is currently receiving remuneration from the Company or its subsidiaries for prior
services; (¢) has not been an officer of the Company or its subsidiaries; and (d) is not currently receiving, directly or
indirectly, compensation of any kind from the Company other than director’s compensation. Applying these
standards, the Board determined in June 2007 that the following directors, constituting the entire Compensation
Committee, qualify as “independent” to serve on the Board’s Compensation Committee: Ramon M. Perez
(Chairman), Peter W. Ladell and Peter G. Tombros.

In determining Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee independence, the Board considers
whether directors or director nominees qualify as “independent” to serve on the Board (as set forth above).
Applying these standards, the Board determined in June 2007 that the following directors, constituting the entire
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, qualify as “independent” to serve on the Board’s Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee: Peter G. Tombros (Chairman), Finn Berg Jacobsen, Ramon M. Perez and
David C. U’Prichard.

Committees of the Board

Pursuant to its Bylaws, as amended, the Company has established standing Audit, Compensation and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees. The charters for each of these committees are available
on the Company’s website, at www.Alpharma.com by clicking first on the “About Alpharma” tab and then on the
“Our Business Guidelines” tab, and in print, without charge, upon a stockholder’s written request sent to the
attention of “Investor Relations” at the Company’s offices located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey
08807.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee provides assistance to the Board in fulfilling the Board’s oversight responsibility to
stockholders, potential stockholders, the investment community, and others relating to the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and the financial reporting process, compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, the systems of internal accounting
and financial controls, the annual independent audit of the Company’s financial statements, and the performance of

| the Company’s interna! audit function and independent auditors. In so doing, it is the responsibility of the committee
I to maintain free and open communications between the comittee, independent auditors, and management of the
| Company. In discharging its oversight role, the committee is empowered to investigate any matter brought to its
attention with full access to all books, records, facilities, and personnel of the Company and has the power o retain
‘ outside counsel or other experts (The Company will provide funding necessary for the committee to retain such
outside counsel and experts). The committee is charged with taking the appropriate actions to set the overall
‘ corporate “tone” for quality financial reporting, sound business risk, and ethical business behavior. The Audit
Committee has a charter which governs its operations, and requires that the committee be comprised of at least three
directors, each of whom is an “independent” director. (See “Corporate Governance; Board and Commiitee
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Independence” above for a description of such independence criteria). All committee members will be financially
literate, or will become financially literate within a reasonable period of time after appointment to the commitiee,
and at least one member will have accounting or related financial management expertise necessary to be considered
an “audit committee financial expert” in accordance with the rules of the Commission. The Board determined, in
June 2007, that Mr. Finn Berg Jacobsen, Chairman of the Audit Committee, qualifies as an “audit committee
financial expert” pursuant to these rules, based on his attributes, education and experience. In addition, the Board
also determined, in June 2007, that all of the members of the Audit Committee qualify as “financially literate.” The
current members of the Audit Committee are Finn Berg Jacobsen (Chairman), Ramon M. Perez and Peter G.
Tombres, none of whom serves on more than three audit committees of public companies. The Audit Committee
held seven meetings in 2007.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee has the authority of the Board with respect to compensation, benefit and
employment policies and arrangements for directors, the CEQ, executive officers and other key employees of the
Company. The committee leads the processes for CEO succession planning and CEQ performance evaluation. The
committee also has autherity with respect to the compensation and benefit plans generally applicable to the
Company’s employees. The Compensation Committee has a charter which governs its operations and requires that
the committee be comprised of at least three directors, each of whom is an “independent” director. (See “Corporate
Governance; Board and Committee Independence™ above for a description of such independence criteria.) The
current members of the Compensation Committee are Ramon M. Perez (Chairman), Peter G. Tombros, and Peter W,
Ladell. The Compensation Committee held eight meetings in 2007.

Compensation Committee Processes and Procedures
Scope of Authority

The Compensation Committee is responsible for establishing and administering the policies that govern the
compensation of the CEO and other members of senior management as well as our non-employee directors. The
committee’s scope of authority includes establishing the goals and objectives relevant to CEQO compensation,
establishing the compensation and benefits of the CEO, reviewing and approving the compensation and benefits for
other executive officers, highly paid employees and non-employee directors, administering our short and long-term
incentive plans, administering plans intended to qualify for exemptions under § 162(m) of the Code, and
establishing and mainfaining a management succession plan,

Delegation of Authority

The committee may from time to time form and delegate authority to a subcommittee of one or more members,
when appropriate. Generally, the committee does not delegate responsibility for the items under its purview to
subcommittees; however, the commitiee has delegated responsibility for the technical administration of the
Company’s benefit plans to a Benefits Committee made up of members of management, and as discussed below,
management takes a role in developing and making recommendations regarding compensation matters to the
committee.

Role of Executives

The CEO, EVP, Human Resources and Communications (“EVP, HR™) and a representative of the Company’s
Law Department attend all of the committee’s meetings. However, the committee conducts an executive session
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following each of these meetings. When appropriate, key members of the management team are invited to join these
executive sessions for discussion purposes. Typically during executive sessions, the Committee’s compensation
consultant remains to provide advice and counsel. Members of management also work with the Company’s outside
compensation consultant to provide data to the consultant and to ensure that data in reports and analyses is correct.

The CEO, together with the EVP, HR, develops recommendations on-compensation for the Leadership Team
(which is made up of the CEQ and the senior executives which report directly to the CEQ) other than the CEO,
which they present to the committee for consideration.

The CEO and the EVP, HR have put forward recommendations to the committee on compensation matters,
including:

« Alignment of the Company’s compensation philosophy with the Company’s strategy;

» Composition of the Compensation Comparator Group (as defined below), including defining the relevant
market for talent;

« Basic pay positioning of the Company versus the Compensation Comparator Group, including base salary,
bonus and long-term incentives;

= Specific pay levels for executives; and

+ Incentive design and long-term incentive vehicles.

Compensation Consultant

The committee has the authority to secure the services of third party service providers (e.g., accountants,
attorneys, compensation consultants and other experts) in carrying out its duties. In September 2007, the committee
retained the services of Pearl Meyer & Partners, a compensation consulting firm (the “Compensation Consultant™),
to assist it in analyzing and considering executive compensation proposals. Prior to retaining Pearl Meyer, the
committee had retained Exequity LLP. Management does not retain any compensation consultant, but as described
above, members of management may work with the Compensation Consultant to provide data and to ensure that
data in reports and analyses is correct.

The committee makes all decisions on the nature and scolﬂe of the Compensation Consultant’s role and
interactions with the Company. The Cémpensation Consultant provides no services to the Company other than
executive and Board of Director compensation consulting services, and its assignments cover the full range of
executive and Board of Director compensation issues. While the Compensation Consultant participates in all
Compensation Commitiee calls and meetings, the Compensation Consultant does not sct compensation for the
executives or directors.

The committee, in discussion with management, determines the Compensation Consultant’s assignments.
During 2007, the Compensation Consultant completed the following various projects for the committec: peer group
review/development; executive compensation competitive analysis; competitive compensation analysis for director
compensation, including a review of stock ownership guidelines and deferred compensation plans; a review of the
short-and long-term incentive plans; preparation and review of proxy materials including 280G calculations; a
review of the Company’s compensation philosophy; talty sheets; and development of the recommended long term
incentive grant guidelines. With respect to all projects completed by the Compensation Consultant, the committee
receives copies of all reports developed by the Compensation Consultant after the management team has had an
opportunity to review the report to ensure data accuracy.
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee was established in January 2007 and is entrusted with
the responsibility to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility with respect to Corporate governance
principles, directorship practices and the recommendation of qualified candidates for election to the Board. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee recommended the 2008 slate of director nominees to the Board,
which subsequently approved the nominations. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also
monitors the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
has a charter which governs its operations, and requires that the committee be comprised of at least three directors,
each of whom is an “independent” director. (See “Corporate Governance; Board and Committee Independence”
above for a description of such independence criteria). During 2007, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee held five meetings. The current members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are
Peter G. Tombros (Chairman), Finn Berg Jacobsen, Ramon M. Perez and David C. U’Prichard.

Corporate Governance Principles, Business Conduct Guidelines and Code of Ethics

The Board has adopted Corporate Governance Principles (which are available on the Company’s website at
www.Alpharma.com by clicking first on the “About Alpharma’ tab and then on the “Our Business Guidelines” tab,
and in print, without charge, upon a stockholder’s written request sent to the attention of “Investor Relations™ at the
Company’s offices located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807} to provide the general framework
for the governance of the Company. The Corporate Governance Principles specifically address the role of the Board
and management, the functions of the Board, qualifications of directors, independence of directors and committees,
the prohibition on making loans to directors and executive officers, size of the Board and selection process, Board
committees, meetings of outside (non-management) directors, setting the Board agenda, ethics and conflicts of
interest, reporting of concerns to the Audit Committee, Board compensation, access 10 senior management and
independent advisors, director orientation and continuing education, succession planning, and the Board’s annual
performance evaluation.

The Board has adopted Business Conduct Guidelines (which are available on the Company’s website at
www.Alpharma.com by clicking first on the “About Alpharma” tab and then on the “Our Business Guidelines” tab,
and in print, without charge, upon a stockholder’s written request sent to the attention of “Investor Relations™ at the
Company’s offices located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807) that set forth principles and
standards to guide the business behavior of members of the Board, officers and all other Company employees
worldwide. The Business Conduct Guidelines specifically address compliance with laws (including food and drug,
envirenmental, copyright and competition laws), fairness in employment, safety and health, reporting to govern-
mental agencies, confidentiality, the protection of Company assets, conflicts of interest, political contributions, the
extended application of certain U.S. taws, relationships with medical professionals, and fair dealings with third
parties.

The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics (which is available on the Company’s website at www. Alpharma.com
by clicking first on the “*About Alpharma” tab and then on the “Our Business Guidelines” 1ab, and in print, without
charge, upon a stockholder’s written request sent to the attention of “Investor Relations™ at the Company’s offices
located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807) that, in addition to the Business Conduct Guidelines,
applies to the Company’s CEO, Chief Financial Officer and Controller. The Code of Ethics requires such officers to
engage in and promote honest and ethical conduct, protect the Company’s and its customers’ confidential
information, produce full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in reports to the Commission
and other regulators and in other public communications, to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations of
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governments and self-regulatory organizations, and to report promptly to the Audit Committee violations of the
Code of Ethics. :

Director Identification and Selection

In identifying acceptable potential director candidates, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
seeks input from Board members and other sources so that a variety of viewpoints are considered. The Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee may also engage independent search firms to help identify director
candidates. However, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee ultimately determines which can-
didates are to be recommended to the Board for approval. Board candidates are considered based on various criteria
which may change over time and as the composition of the Board changes. At a minimum, the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee considers a candidate’s personal and professional ethics, integrity and values,
commitment to representing the interests of the stockholders, demonstrated wisdom and mature judgment and
diversity of experience at policy-making levels in business, government, education and technology, and in other
areas that are relevant to the Company’s global activities. The Board does not believe that arbitrary term limits on
directors’ service are appropriate, nor does it believe that directors should expect to be routinely re-nominated on an
annual basis. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee also considers such other factors as may be
appropriate including the current composition of the Board and evaluations of prospective candidates.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended by

stockholders. Stockholders wishing to submit a director candidate for consideration by the committee should |
submit the recommendation to Alpharma Inc. Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, ¢/o Secretary, |
440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807 not less than 120 days nor more than 150 days prior to the |
annual meeting date (determined based on the same date as the previous year’s annual meeting). The request must !
be in a writing setting forth the following information regarding the person to be nominated: (i) the name of the
person to be nominated, (ii) the number and class of all shares of each class of stock of the Company beneficially
owned by such person, (iii) the information regarding such person required by paragraphs (a), (d), (e) and (f) of
ltem 401 (director identification, family relationships, business experience and involvement in legal proceedings)
of Regulation S-K adopted by the Commission (or the corresponding provisions of any regulation subsequently
adopted by the Commission applicable to the Company), and (iv) such person’s signed consent to serve as a director
of the Company if elected. The written request must also set forth the following information regarding the
stockholder: (i) such stockholder’s name and address, as well as the name and address of the beneficial owner, if any,
(ii) the number and class of all shares of each class of stock of the Company beneficially owned or owned of record
by such stockholder and, if any, the beneficial owner, (iii) any material interest of the stockholder in the proposed
business, (iv) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Company entitled to vote at
the Annual Meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting, and (v) if the stockholder
intends to solicit proxies in support of such proposal, a statement to that effect. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee may also request additional background or other information.

Executive Sessions of Outside (Non-Management) Directors

The Chairman of the Board (currently Mr. Tombros) presides at executive sessions of outside (non-man-
agement) directors, held at regularly scheduled times throughout the year. Outside {non-management) directors are
those who are not Company officers, Except for Mr. Mitchell, all of the Company’s directors are outside (non-
management) directors and are “independent,” as set forth ‘above under “Corporate Governance; Board and
Committee Independence.”
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Communications from Stockholders and Other Interested Parties

Stockholders and other interested parties may send communications to the Board (and to individual directors)
through the Secretary of the Company, Mr. Thomas J. Spellman III. The Secretary will forward to the directors all
communications that, in his judgment, are appropriate for consideration by the directors. The Secretary will
consider most commercial solicitations and other matters not relevant to the Company’s stockholders, the Board, or
to the Company in general, to be inappropriate for consideration by the directors. Stockholders and other interested
parties may communicate directly with the Chairman of the Company’s Audit Committee by sending an ¢-mail to
auditchair@alpharma.com. Stockholders and other interested parties may communicate with outside (non-man-
agement) directors, individoally or as a group, by sending an e-mail to outsidedirectors@alpharma.com.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During fiscal year 2007, Mr. Ramon M. Perez (Chairman of the Compensation Committee), Mr. Finn Berg
Jacobsen (through June 5, 2007), Mr. Peter W. Ladell, and Mr. Peter G. Tombros served on the Compensation
Committee. All members of the committee are independent directors, and none of them are present or past
employees or officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. No member of the committee has had any
relationship requiring disclosure as a “related person transaction” as defined in our Related Persons Transactions
Policy, which is described below under “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions.” None of our
executive officers has served as a director or a member of the Compensation Committee (or other committee serving
an equivalent function) of any other entity, one of whose executive officers served on our Board or Compensation
Committee.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT*

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion
and Analysis included in this proxy statement. Based on those reviews and discussions, the Compensation
Committee has recommended to the Board that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this
proxy statement for filing with the Commission.

Compensation Committee

Ramon M. Perez, Chairman
Peter W. Ladell
Peter G. Tombros

* This Compensation Committee Report is not deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this
proxy statement into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Securities Exchange Act or 1934, as amended (the “Acts™),
excepl to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under

either of such Acts.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE IN 2007

The Committee held eight meetings in 2007. The Committee has a set calendar for taking up routine
compensation matters throughout the year and adds items and meetings, as necessary, to address non-routine
compensation matters and developments.

At each meeting there is a standing agenda of discussion topics to be addressed. As noted above, the
Committee meetings are generally attended by each Committee member, the CEQ, the EVP, HR, a representative of
the Company’s Law Department and the Compensation Consultant.

In addition to making all decisions on the compensation and benefit arrangements covering the Company’s
Leadership Team, the Committee in 2007 also:

» Evaluated the overall executive compensation philosophy, positioning, and benchmarking, and made
changes as discussed throughout this Compensation Discussion and Analysis;

Conducted a search for, and selected, a new Compensation Consultant;

Reviewed the competitive market for change in control and severance arrangements as compared to the
Company’s Leadership Team’s arrangements;

Evaluated the succession needs and assessed pay positioning with respect to an executive who retired during
2007 (Robert F. Wrobel);

¢ Reviewed the performance of the Company’s Leadership Team, and approved pay decisions commensurate
with that performance;

+ Reviewed other aspects of the Company’s relationship with its top executives, such as share ownership by
these individuals, succession planning, severance plan design, and the ability of the Company to recruit and
retain the desired level of executive talent;

* Reviewed the treatment of outstanding equity-based awards;

Reviewed the regulatory influences on executive pay in 2007;
» Reviewed the Committee’s Certificate of Incorporation; and
+ Conducted a review and assessment of the Commitiee’s own activities and performance.

During 2007, the Compensation Committee worked with the CEO and EVP, HR to determine the appropriate
terms of transition of Mr. Campbell from interim Chief Financial Officer to fully appointed Chief Financial Officer.

GENERAL COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY AND PROGRAMS
Executive Attributes '

The Company has identified several executive attributes that should be supported by prospective pay
arrangements:

+ A mindset focused on strategic corporate directives;
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« Orientation toward growth and the corporate actions necessary to spur that growth;
« A willingness to make decisions balancing business risks and potential success; and

« Acceptance of leveraged compensation opportunities that deliver targeted value only when strict perfor-
mance expectations are accomplished, ’

General Compensation Objectives

The Compensation Committee believes that the Company’s prospective strategic operating objectives will be
best supported by executives who exhibit the above attributes. The Compensation Committee believes that the
Company’s pay programs should:

+ Be supportive of a high-performance culture;

- Offer competitive tevels of pay opportunities, when evaluated against executive positions within similar
organizations and opetations;

» Introduce a significant degree of variability of pay outcome, consistent with business results over the period
that each incentive opportunity is outstanding;

» Reward contributions to Company growth and shareholder value creation;
* Reward teamwork and individual excellence;

« Attract executives to the Company by offering total compensation packages that are competitive within an
appropriate comparator group; ’

» Encourage retention of current executives through a mix of vesting-based pay elements; and

+ Motivate the executive team to achieve the Company’s short- and long-term Company objectives through
performance-based pay elements.

In addition, the Committee believes that executive pay opportunities should focus in a more tailored way on
each executive’s line-of-sight authority and accountabilities. Accordingly, the Committee is receptive to allowing
some variance between internal pay positioning, with the objective of crafting appropriate opportunities based on
each executive’s specific contributions and potential. At the same time, the Committee desires to maintain a
significant degree of internal parity in order to encourage teamwork. '

.

Attainment of the above objectives requires a mix of fixed and variable compensation, with an emphasis on
variable compensation. The mix between fixed and variable compensation emphasizes variable compensation to
support the Company’s goals of providing competitive compensation packages and motivating executives to
achieve short- and long- term Company objectives. The Company also emphasizes long over short-term com-
pensation for executives to ensure that.executives are focused on creating long-term shareholder value. The mix
between short- and long-term compensation generally targets a mix similar to Peer Group companies (as defined
below).

The Company’s executive compensation philosophy is intended to provide direction and guidance to
Compensation Committee decisions, not to initiate sudden and radical changes year to year.
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Principal Compensation Programs
Compensation Elements

The Company seeks to deliver compensation through three core compensation elements:

Compensation Element Objective

Base Salary and Benefits Attract and retain executives through compeltitive
pay and benefit programs

Short-Term Incentive Plan Create an incentive for the achievement of pre-
defined annual business objectives

Long-Term Incentive Plan Align the interests of executives with shareholders
and create a retention incentive through multi-year
vesting schedules

Each element of compensation is considered individually and in total when considering compensation
adjustments. Compensation adjustments also generally consider the interrelation between each compensation
element to ensure that the entire compensation program is appropriately aligned.

Other Executive Compensation Programs
Change in Control/General Severance Coverage

The Compensation Committee believes that offering termination protection similar to those provided at the
companies in the Peer Group is an important element of providing competitive total compensation and benefits.
These programs provide the executive a degree of security in the event of a corporate transaction and allow for better
alignment between the executive and shareholders interests.

Retirement, Savings, and Deferred Compensation Programs

The Compensation Committee believes that contemporary retirement programs that assist executives in
preparing for retirement is essential to attract and retain senior talent. The Leadership Team is currently eligible to
participate in a nonqualified deferred compensation program to help them accrue sufficient assets for retirement.
The details of that program are described more specifically in the Pension and Deferred Compensation Tables.

Perquisites

The Compensation Committee believes that an executive allowance delivered in lien of perquisites is
preferable. This allowance provides for individual flexibility in addressing financial planning, tax planning,
Company vehicle, and other perquisites offered by Peer Group companies. The Executive Allowance is $35,000 per
annum for the CEO, and $28,600 per annum for Leadership Team members based in the United States. The
Executive Allowance is delivered in lieu of executive perquisites. This arrangement provides comparable value to
executives for perquisites commonly offered to similarly situated officers in Peer Group companies.

Health, Life Insurance, Disability, and Similar Benefits

The Compensation Committee recognizes that the Company’s greatest resource is its employees, and therefore
believes that it is appropriate to offer comprehensive and affordable health and welfare benefits to all employees and
their eligible family members. Such programs vary by country. Leadership Team members based in the United
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States receive the same benefits as offered to all other full-time employees, with the exception of Company provided
life insurance and accidental death and dismemberment insurance.
Compensation Determinations and Adjustments

Specific compensation determinations for each major compensation element generally consider the following
factors:

Compensation Element Factors Generally Considered for Adjustments/Payouts

Base Salary Individual performance, tenure, market data and trends, internal
equity and Company performance.

Short-Term Incentive Plan For actual bonus payouts, performance against pre-set criteria in the
short-term incentive plan.

For target bonus. percentages, market data and trends, and internal
equity.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Individual performance, market data and trends, internal equity,
Company performance and executive potential,

In addition, the Compensation Committee will apply discretion in determining the specific compensation
levels of individual executives. The compensation programs will be evaluated annually in light of the evolving
business strategies and plans of the Company. The Compensation Committee will endeavor to ensure the
compensation programs align with shareholders interests and current market trends.

Competitive Market and Compensation Positioning
Competitive Market Defined

The Compensation Committee believes the most relevant talent pool for its executives is the specialty
pharmaceutical industry. The Compensation Committee will rely on the Committee’s Compensation Consultant to
make recommendations regarding the appropriate companies to comprise a Peer Group of comparator companies
and the appropriate compensation surveys. Generally, the factors considered for determining the Peer Group are:

« Industry similarity (with a focus on specialty pharmaceutical companies).
« Revenue similarity.
= Market capitalization similarity.

The Compensation Commitiee will track the current compensation practices for Peer Group companies and
surveys and the relative positioning of the Company’s executive pay program annually. To achieve this, an annual
process to review the Peer Group, recommend changes to it, and report on trends within it, will be undertaken by the
Committee’s Compensation Consultant. This Peer Group will serve as the primary source for determining market
trends, and assessing the market competitiveness of the Company’s pay practices. Survey data from surveys that
cover appropriate companies will be used to supplement the Peer Group data (at least four different surveys are used
covering a substantial number of size- and industry-appropriate companies).
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For 2007, the Peer Group consisted of the following companies:

Amylin Pharmaceuticals , MGI Pharma

Cephalon Millenium Pharmaceuticals
Cubist Pharmaceuticals O8I Pharmaceuticals

Endo Pharmaceuticals PDL Biopharma

Imclone Systems Sepracor

King Pharmaceuticals Valeant Pharmaceuticals
Medicis Pharmaceuticals Vertex Pharmaceuticals

Competitive Positioning of Compensation

The executive compensation competitive targeting strategy is as follows:

Compensation Program Strategy

for unique qualifications & substantial contributions

‘ Base Salary and Benefits 50" percentile in general; above median base salary
, to the Company.

Short-Term Incentive Plan 50" percentile at target. Actual bonuses will be
targeted below the median for below-target
performance and above the median for above-target
performance.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Currently 50" percentile; with the possibility of
ultimately targeting a premium to the market median.

Actual pay levels can be significantly above or below the targeted pay level depending on factors such as
individual or Company performance, tenure and executive potential. In general, the Committee desires to balance
internal and external equity but preserves the discretion to deviate when necessary to recruit executives and/or retain
the right executive talent.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION DETAILS
2007 Annual Bonus Plan

The annual bonus plan for the executive team is designed to incent executives to meet key business goals
critical to the success of the Company. Members of the Leadership Team (excluding the CEO) had 80% of their total
annual bonus opportunity tied to the achievement of corporate results at the consolidated corporate level, and 20%
of the opportunity tied to the accomplishment of goals relating to each executive's business unit or functional goals.
The CEO had 100% of his total annual bonus opportunity tied to the achievement of corporate results at the
consolidated corporate level. The Committee believes that this created the appropriate line-of-sight accountability
for each executive, based on relative contribution to overall corporate results and line of business or functional
results.
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With respect to the corporate-wide performance goals, three financial metrics were used to measure success in
2007: operating income, cash flow and revenue growth. The weightings as among these metrics was as follows:

Corporate Performance Metric ~ Weighting

Operating Income 70%
Cash Flow 20%
Revenue Growth 10%

The Committee believes that in 2007 these were the appropriate metrics to incent the executive team to drive
disciplined Company growth, while maintaining appropriate levels of profitability. In addition, these metrics are
widely understood and accepted among the executive team, and are representative of typical annual bonus program
design, and thereby contribute to the degree of conformity with market practice.

The targeted bonus amounts as a percent of base pay for Leadership Team members in 2007 were also the same
in 2006 (targeted bonus of 100% of base pay for the CEQ and 50% of base pay for the other members of the
Leadership Team). The Committee believes it is important to maintain the consistency of this relationship across the
members of the Leadership Team in order to encourage a common focus and teamwork among these executives.

The performance-payout relationship for the 2007 annual bonus opportunity for members of the Leadership
Team was similar to the 2006 design, as follows:

Percentage of Corporate/Business Unit Funding Percentage (Percent of Total

Operating Income and Cash Flow Goals Target Payouts for Combined Operating

Achieved Income and Cash Flow Components)

Less than 80% Some funding may be available at senior
leadership’s discretion to reward top
performers

80% 40%

90% 80%

100% (Target) 100%

110% 120%

120% 150%

135% 200%

Above 135% Discretionary*

*  Subject 1o the approval of the Compensation Commitiee of the Board of Dircctors.

The Committee believes that the above performance-payout relationships appropriately reward performance
above targeted levels, and provide for significantly reduced payouts when performance falls short of goals. The
Committee believes the steep performance-payout slope is properly reflective of the desired performance-based
culture sought at the Company.

In 2007, the performance of the Company on each of the corporate performance metrics was as follows:

Corporate Performance Metric Performance as a% of Target
Operating Income (70% of total) 101.4%
Cash Flow (20% of total} 160.3%
Revenue Growth (10% of total) 99.1%
Overall Weighted Performance 112.9%
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After applying the weightings for each corporate performance metric, the overall corporate performance
(weighted 809% of the total bonus opportunity) versus target was ! 12.9% which extrapolates to a target bonus payout
of 128.7%. With respect to the functional compaonent or business unit component {weighted 20% of the total bonus
opportunity), functional performance or business unit performance for the Leadership Team ranged from 50% of
target to 125% of target. After combining the corporate and functional or business unit components of the bonus
opportunity, bonus payouts ranged from 89% of target to 117.3% of target.

The Company is not disclosing the specific corporate or functional performance metrics because it believes in
good faith that disclosure of the specific metrics could cause the Company competitive harm. Specific concerns
relating to competitive harm include the fact that disclosure of the specific target metrics would provide competitors
with harmful competitive pricing information that, in a highly competitive business, could affect the value of the
Company's contracts with its customers. In addition, disclosure of the specific metrics could provide competitors
with valuable profitability information that would enable competitors to adjust their pricing accordingly and gain a
competitive advantage. The Company believes that the corporate performance metrics are set with a reasonable
level of difficulty as evidenced by the funding as a percent of target over the last few years:

Year Overall Weighted Performance as a% of Target
2006 90.4%
2005 130.0%
2004 40.0%

2007 Long Term Incentive Awards

2007 long-term incentive awards were granted to the Leadership Team in the form of a mix of stock options
and performance-based restricted stock (PBRS) awards. Stock options were granted to align executives with the
Company’s shareholders and to incent executives to increase shareholder value. PBRS awards were granted to align
executives with shareholders, incent executives to increase shareholder value, retain executives through time-based
vesting, and incent executives to meet 3-year cumulative earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA™) goals.

The above considerations resulted in awards of equity-based long-term incentives in 2007 having the following
characteristics:

* Values that on-average were at about the 30th percentile of the marketplace for the Leadership Team;

* 75% of the grant-date value being delivered in the form of stock options and the remaining 25% being
delivered in the form of PBRS; and

* Vesting and other terms of the awards being consistent. with awards made in 2006 — stock options vestona .
graded basis over the four-year period after grant, and restricted stock granted to members of the Leadership
Team vests 100% at the end of the three-year period following award grants.

Consistent with past practice, regular annual awards of equity-based incentives in 2007 were generally made in
the first quarter. As has been the Company’s practice in past years, all options were granted with an exercise price
equal to the Company’s closing stock price on the date of grant. The Committee believes that this is the most
appropriate benchmark for stock price on the date of grant.

In late 2007, it became clear to the Committee that the PBRS awards with a three-year cumutative EBITDA
measurement period were not an appropriate incentive for executives for 2008 and 2009 because the significant
amount of business and corporate development activity necessary to further the Company’s strategy made it
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impracticable to predict EBITDA over a three year period. As such, there was no line-of-sight for executives
between their activities and the potential reward. After careful deliberation and consideration of alternatives in early
2008, the Committee determined that the PBRS awards should be converted to a time-based award at 102.4% of the
initial target value (which is where performance through one year was situated), thereby eliminating the executives
ability to earn above- or below-target performance and creating a retention-oriented award with three-year cliff
vesting.

In order to enhance the retention incentives of the Company’s senior executives, the Committee placed a
heavier emphasis on time-vested restricted stock with three-year cliff vesting in the 2008 grant mix. The equity mix
for 2008 will be approximately 50% stock options and 50% time-vested restricted stock for top executives with
some variation to that mix depending on the specific executive.

EXECUTIVE RETENTION INCENTIVE AND TERMINATION
Retention Incentives

During fiscal year 2007, the Company initiated a process to review strategic alternatives for the Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API”} business. In order to help minimize the potential talent flight from API, at the
end of 2007 the Company extended a cash-based retention opportunity to the President of the Company’s API
division, Carl-Aake Carlsson. This cash based retention bonus incentive was designed to ensure that Mr. Carlsson
remained the President of API while the Company explored strategic alternatives for the APl business. The potential
bonus was established on a sliding scale depending on the sale price received for the APl business. The objective of
the bonus is to retain Mr. Carlsson throughout the sale process and to incent him to obtain the highest possible price
for the API business.

Executive Retirement

In July 2007, Mr, Wrobel retired from the Company and was provided his then-earned bonus, severance, and
other benefits as outlined in the Summary Compensation Table.

CHANGE IN CONTROL/GENERAL SEVERANCE COVERAGE

The section of this proxy entitled “Change in Control/Termination Payments” provides a comprehensive
description of the various severance benefits offered by the Company to its executive officers. The Committee
believes that offering termination protection along the lines provided in the Company’s severance programs is an
important element of providing total compensation and benefits that is competitive with the Company’s competitors
for executive talent.

Consistent with general market practice, and in line with the objective of offering compensation arrangements
aligned with median practices, the vesting of equity-based incentives that are outstanding at the time of a Change in
Control is accelerated upon consummation of the transaction. The Committee believes that, in addition to providing
market-competitive coverage, this “single trigger” activation provision appropriately protects incentive values that
have been earned up to the point of a transaction. In addition, the vesting activation encourages the successor entity-
to implement new arrangements aligned with post-change in control objectives following the close of the
transaction.

In order to further align with competitive market practices, cash severance protections associated with a
qualifying termination following a change in control become activated only upon the employment termination (i.e.,

26




“double trigger” activation). The Committee believes that, in addition to aligning with prevalent practices, this
design helps encourage executive retention following a transaction.

IMPACT OF REGULATORY AND SIMILAR REQUIREMENTS:

Section 162(m) of the Code places a limit of $1,000,000 on the annual amount of compensation (other than
compensation that qualifies as “qualified performance-based compensation”) that publicly held companies may
deduct for federal income tax purposes for certain executive officers.

The Committee believes that tax deductibility is an important factor, but only one factor, to be considered in
evaluating a compensation program. Thus, while our performance-based incentive plans have generally been
designed and administered to maintain tax deductibility, including shareholder approval of the plans, the Company
believes competitive and other circumstances may require, in some instances, that the interests of the Company and
its shareholders are best served by providing compensation that is not fully tax deductible. Accordingly, the
Committee may continue to exercise discretion to provide base salaries or other compensation that may not be fully
tax deductible to the Company.

Many other tax code requirements, Commission regulations and accounting rules affect the delivery of
executive pay and are generally taken into consideration as programs are designed and developed. The Company’s
goal is to create and maintain plans that are in full compliance with these requirements, and that provide for the most
efficient delivery of compensation, both with respect to payment by the Company and receipt by the employee.
These include but are not limited to FAS 123R and IRC 409A, and Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table provides information concerning the compensation of the President and Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the three other most highly compensated executive officers and the former
Chief Legal Officer & Secretary for fiscal 2007, our named executive officers (“NEOs”).

Change in
Pension
Value and
Non-qualified
Stock Qption Non-equity Deferred All Other
Salary Bonus Awards Awards Incentive Plan  Compensation Compensation Total
Year 5 ($) 5 ($) Compensation ($)  Eamnings ($) ($) )
Name and Principal Position (a) (b} {c) (d) ie) D {g) {h i) £}
Dean J, Mitchell . . . ... ... 2007 $646923 & — $450,132 $307.983 $845,000 $§ — % 1689%4 $2419,033
President & Chief 2006 $300,481 $100,000 $158,200 $135927 - 3$625.000 $ — § 92635 51412244
Executive Officer
Jeffrey S. Campbell. . . . ... 2007 $367,385 $164,313 $452.863 $ 71,264 $210,688 $ 563 $ 62,737 $1,329,811
Executive Vice President 2006 $291,554 $320500 $192390 $ 67,293 § — $10691 § 393534 $ 921962

& Chief Financial Officer

Carl-Aake Carlsson . . .. . .. 2007 $436,762 $299,689 $122,495 $ 69,994 $212,000 $56,785 $ 132,345 $1,330,070
President, Active
Pharmaceuticals

Ingredients

Ronald N. Wamer., ....... 2007 $414,615 $219,533 $151,736 § £9,189 $300,000 $ 1,309 § 64,501 $1,240974
President, 2006 $400,000 $619,067 $228,539 $132,844 $225,000 $14,664 $ 70,384 $1,690,499
Pharmaceuticals

Carol A. Wrenn ... ... ... 2007 $394.481 $209.533 $101,508 § 51,935 $220,000 $ 421 $ 58954 $1036,832
President, Animal Health

Robert F. Wrobel .. ... ... 2007 $220.769 $320,976 $ 47,157 § 36,33 $18,923  $1,121,642 $1,765,801

% -
Former Executive Vice 2006 $410,000 $429067 $126,020 $178,272  $200.000 $35236 § 54067 31,432,661
President, Chief Legal
Officer & Secretary

Footnotes:

Column (a) — Currency exchange rate for Carl-Aake Carlsson based on OANDA Currency Converter for Monday,
December 31, 2007 with 1 Norwegian Kroner = (.18506 U.S. Dollar

Column (d) — Includes the following bonuses paid or earned during 2007: Mr. Campbell — performance units
valued at $100,000 and guaranteed bonus of $64,313 for his continued service as interim CFO for
the first 3.5 months of 2007; Mr Carlsson — retention incentive of $218,486, retention incentive
portion of vacation allowance of $50,566 and bonus pertion of vacation allowance of $30,637;
Dr. Warner — retention incentive of $219,533; Ms, Wrenn — retention incentive of $209,533;
Mr. Wrobel — retention incentive of $214,533 and pro-rata bonus of $106,442.

Column (e) — Reflects Stock Awards valued in accordance with SFAS 123R, which requires recognition of the fair
value of stock-based compensation in net earnings, including the impact of compensation reversals
due to award forfeitures. Compensation for restricted stock is recorded based on the market value of
the stock on the grant date. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the
requisite period of individual grants, which generally equals the vesting period of the grant (ref.
Form 10-K, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). There were no restricted stock awards
forfeited in 2007 for the named executive officers.

Column (f) — Reflects Option Awards valued in accordance with SFAS 123R, which requires recognition of the
fair value of stock-based compensation in net earnings, including the impact of compensation
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reversals due to award forfeitures. The Company estimated the fair value, as of the date of grant, of
options outstanding in the plan using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company
recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite period of individual grants, which
generally equals the vesting period of the grant (ref. Form 10-K, Notes to Consolidated Financial

* Statements). The following stock option awards were forfeited in 2007: Mr. Wrobel, 20,000 shares.
These forfeitures had no impact on the reported values.

Column (g) — Reflects the annual bonuses awarded under the Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan, calculated as a
percentage of annual base salary and adjusted based on individual and company performance:
Target awards as a percent of base salary are as follows: 100% for CEQ, 50% for named executive
ofiicers other than the CEO.

Column (h) — Compensation attributable to the Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan is determined as the present value of
the frozen benefit as of the measurement date (frozen as of December 31, 2006), less the present
value of the frozen benefit as of the prior measurement date. The present values are determined
assuming retirement at carliest unreduced age (65) or actual retirement date if the participant has
commenced benefits. Other demographic assumptions are: no pre-retirement termination and
RP2000 mortality projected to 2015 with Scale AA phased out linearly over the projection period.
A discount rate of 6.25% is assumed as of the measurement date, and a discount rate of 6.00% is
assumed as of the prior measurement date. Compensation attributable to Alpharma Inc. Supple-
mental Pension Plan is determined as the lump sum that would be payable as of December 31. 2007,
less the lump sum that would have been payable January 1, 2007, There were no nonqualified
deferred compensation earnings for the named executive officers.

Column (i) — Amounts in this column include the following: Mr. Mitchell — tax gross-ups (legal fees and
supplemental disability insurance) of $43,135, legal fees reimbursement related to establishment of
citizenship and permanent residency of $36,898, executive allowance of $35,000, company
contributions to defined contribution plan of $25,000, supplemental disability insurance of
313,922, company contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan of
$12,939 and group life insurance and AD&D benefit premiums of $2,100; Mr. Campbell —
executive allowance of $28,600, company contributions to defined contribution plan of $24,208,
company contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $7,348, group life
insurance and AD&D benefit premiums of $2,100, tax gross-up of $395 and corporate gift;
Mr. Carlsson — defined contribution pension premiums for non U.S. plan of $85,752, company
contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $8,661, group life insurance
premiuvm of $3,675, supplemental insurance of $566, reimbursement due to delay in currency
exchange execution related to stock option exercise, car allowance, telephone usage, and news
subscription; Dr. Warner — executive allowance of $28,600, company contributions to defined
contribution plan of $25,000, company contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of $8,292, group life insurance and AD&D benefit premiums of $2,100, tax gross-up
of $471 and corporate gift; Ms. Wrenn - executive allowance of $28,600, company contributions to
defined contribution plan of $20,000, company contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of $7,890, group life insurance and AD&D benefit premiums of $2,100 and tax
gross-up of $364; Mr. Wrobel — severance payment of $1,068,743, company contributions to
defined contribution plan of $18,219, group life insurance premium and AD&D benefit premiums
of $2,100, company contributions under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $4,100,
tax gross-up of $2,397, executive allowance and corporate gift.
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table provides information concerning the grants made to each of our named executive officers
in fiscal 2007 under the Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan and the 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan.

All Other Al Other Grant
Stock Option Date

H :  Exercise
Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts ‘r:wu:::r ::::::r orlllltasc V:;:jerol‘

Under Non-Equity Incentive Under Equity Incentive of Shares of Securities Price of  Stock

Plan Awards Plan Awards of Stock Underlying Option  and
Gram  Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum or Units  Options Awards Option
Name Date ® (5} [43] (# # [¢3] L] L] (WSh)  Awards

(a) {b) @ (d) (e) n (g {h) i) 1) (k) U]

Dean ). Mitchell
Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan . . . . . . .. $262,000 $655.000 $1.310,000
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/2872007

Jeffrey 8. Campbell
Alpharma Inc, Executive Bonus Plan. . .. .. .. $ 80,000 $200,000 $ 400,000
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007

22,000 $527,120
99,500  $23.96 $937.360

14000 $23.96 $131,59%0

11
Y1
I

2003 Omaibus [ncentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 - 3,100 $ 14776
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 5/15/2007 — 14,000 $22.84 $127,095
2003 Omaibus [ncentive Compensation Plan. . . . 5/15/2007 — — — 3,100 $ 70,804

Carl-Aake Carlsson

Alpharma In¢. Executive Bonus Plan . . .. . ... $ 88405 $221,013 § 442026 — — —

2003 Cmnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 — — — 18,000  $23.96 $169,573

2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 — — — 4,700 $1i2.612
Ronald N. Wamner

Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan . . . ... .. $ 84,000 §210000 § 420000 — — —

2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 - — — 22,000 $2396 $207.255

2003 Omnibus lncentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/2372007 — - — 4,700 $112.612
Carof A. Wrenn

Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan . . . . . . .. $ 30,000 $200,000 § 400,000 — — —

2003 Omnibus Incentive Comgpensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 — — — 22000  $2396 $207,255

2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . 3/28/2007 — -— - 4,700 $112,612
Robert F. Wrobel

Alpharma Inc. Executive Bonus Plan. . . . . . .. — — - - = — — — - - —
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . — — — U — — —
2003 Omaibus Incentive Compensation Plan. . . . — — — —- - — — — — — —

I
I
I
I

Footnotes:

Column (¢) — Threshold is defined under the SEC Proxy regulations as the minimum amount payable for a certain
level of performance under the plan. Threshold Bonus is defined under Alpharma’s Executive
Bonus Plan (“EBP”) as an amount equal to 40% of a Participant’s Target Bonus.

Cotumn (d) — Target Bonus is defined under the SEC Proxy regulations as the amount payable if the specified
peformance target(s) are reached. Target Bonus is defined under the EBP as the targeted amount of
bonus award established for each eligible employee, expressed as a percentage of the employee’s
base salary corresponding to the employee’s position at the end of the applicable incentive year;
assuming his or her individual goals are achieved at the 100% level established in the plan.

Column (¢) — Maximum Bonus is defined under the SEC Proxy regulations as the maximum payout possible
under the plan. Maximum Bonus is defined under the EBP as an amount equal to 200% of a
Participant’s Target Bonus.

Column (i) — See the Compensation Discussion and Analysis under “2007 Long-Term Incentive Awards” for an
explanation of the Company’s performance-based restricted stock unit (PBRS) awards.
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Plan Award Terms

The plan awards reported above for the 2007 fiscal year were made under our 2003 Omnibus Incentive
Compensation Plan and our Executive Bonus Plan.

As more fully discussed in the CD& A under “Incentive Compensation Details — 2007 Annual Bonus Plan,”
awards under the Executive Bonus Plan may be made to executive officers and key employees performing services
for the Company in the form of a cash bonus at a target level. Target levels for each NEO are set as a percentage of
base salary. Each of the NEOs may receive more or less than his or her target level bonus, based upon the Company’s
ability to achieve certain operating income, cash flow and revenue growth targets for the fiscal year. In addition, for
executive officers who are responsible for a specific business segment, a portion of his or her bonus depends on such
business segment’s achievement of certain income, cash flow and revenue targets for the fiscal year, As provided in
the Executive Bonus Plan, the Compensation Committee has the discretion to vary any individual bonus award from
the amount derived by the application of the criteria described above.

Plan awards to our NEOs under our 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan for the 2007 fiscal year were
made in the form of stock options and performance-based restricted stock unit awards. Stock option awards vest at
the rate of 25% on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of grant and have a ten year term. During fiscal year
2007, performance-based restricted stock unit awards were also granted under the Plan. These awards are scheduled
to vest on the third anniversary of the grant date, and according to the original terms of the grant, the amount of
shares to be eamed upon vesting was to be determined as a percentage of a target level based on the Company’s
attainment of certain levels of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization {(EBITDA). However,
for the reasons described above in the CD&A under “Incentive Compensation Details — 2007 Long Term Incentive
Awards,” the Compensation Committee amended these awards in January 2008 to eliminate the performance
component of the vesting and such awards will cliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date. The restricted
stock units convert to Class A Common Stock on a one-for-one basis.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END

The following table provides information concerning the current holdings of unexercised and unvested stock
options and unvested restricted stock awards for each of the named executive officers as of the end of fiscal 2007.

Name
(a)

Dean J. Mitchell . ..

Jeffrey S. Campbell . . ..

Carl-Aake Carlsson . ...

Ronald N. Warner . .

Carol A. Wrenn. . ..

Robert F. Wrobel . . .

Footnotes:

Column (b) — Mr. Mitchell’s option award of 25,000 shares vested on July, 3, 2007.
Mr. Campbell’s option award of 1,875 shares vested on March 8, 2007.
Mr. Campbell’s option award of 1,875 shares vested on May 12, 2007.
Mr, Campbell’s option award of 1,750 shares vested on February 27, 2007.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Equity Awards:
Equity Incentive Market
Incentive Plan or Payout
Plan Awards: Value of
Awards: Market  Number of Unearned
Number Number  Value of  Unearned Shares,
Number of Number of of of Shares Shares or Shares, Units or
Securities Securities Securities or Units Units Units or Other
Underlying  Underlying  Underlying of Stock  of Stock Other Rights
Unexercisedd Unexercised Unexercised Option That Have That Have Rights That That Have
Options Options Unearned  Exercise Option Not Not Have Not Nat
{#h # Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Exercisable Unexercisable # $ Date #) %) #) (8)
(b} (<) (d) (e) i (g (h) (i) G}
... 25,000 75,000 — $23.730 7/3/2016 40,000 $806,000 — —
— 99,500 — $23.960 3/28/2017 — — 22,000 $443,300
1,875 1,875 — $19.800 3/8/2014 3,500 § 70,525 — —
1,875 3,750 — $11.170 5/12/20t5 3,500 $% 70,525 — —
1,750 5,250 — $31.620 /27120016 3,500 $% 70,5235 — —
— 14,000 — $23.960 3/28/2017 — — 3,100 § 62,465
— 14,000 — $22.840 5/1512017 — — 3,100 $ 62465
20,000 — — $30.110 2/23/2011 — — — —
— 3,375 —_— $19.800 3/8/2014 7200 $145,080 — —
2,500 7,500 — $31.620 22772016 4,270 § 86,041 — —
— 18,000 — $23.960 3/28/2017 — — 4700 $ 94,705
... 20,000 — —_— $12.760 12/4/2012 — — — —
13,500 4,500 — $19.800 3/8/2014 9,000 $181,350 — —
3,163 9,487 — $31.620 2/27/2016 5,400 $108.810 — —
— 22,000 — $23.960 3/28/2017 — - 4700 $ 94,705
. 2,635 7.905 — $31.620 2/27/2016 4,500 $ 90,675 — —
— 22,000 — $23.960 3/28/2017 — — 4,700 $ 94,705
... 25000 — — $190.800 3/8/2014 — — — —
6,330 — — $31.620 2/27/2016 — — — —

Mr. Carlsson’s option award of 20,000 shares vested 25% each on February 23, 2002, February 23,
2003, February 23, 2004 and February 23, 2005,

Mr. Carlsson’s option award of 2,500 shares vested on February 27, 2007.

Dr. Wamner’s option award of 20,000 shares vested 50% each on December 4, 2005 and December 4,

2006.
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Dr. Warner's option award of 13,500 shares vested 1/3 each on March 8, 2005, March 8, 2006 and
March 8, 2007.

Dr. Warner's opﬁon award of 3,163 shares vested on February 27, 2007.
Ms, Wrenn’s option award of 2,635 shares vested on Febroary 27, 2007,

Mr. Wrobel’s option award of 25,000 shares vested 25% each on March 8, 2005, March 8, 2006,
March 8, 2007 and upon his retirement on July 6, 2007.

Mr. Wrobel’s option award of 6,330 shares vested 25% on 2/27/07 and 75% upon his retirement on
July 6, 2007.

Column () — Mr. Mitchell’s option award of 75,000 shares will vest 1/3 each on July 3, 2008, July 3, 2009 and
July 3, 2010.

Mr. Mitchelt’s option award of 99,500 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on March 28, 2007.

Mr. Campbell’s option award of 1,875 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2008.

Mr. Campbell’s option award of 3,750 shares will vest 50% each on May 12, 2008 and May 12,
2009.

Mr. Campbell’s option award of 5,250 shares will vest 1/3 each on February 27, 2008, February 27,
2009 and February 27, 2010.

Mr. Campbell’s option award of 14,000 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on March 28, 2007.

Mr. Campbell’s option award of 14,000 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on May 15, 2007.

Mr. Carlsson’s option award of 3,375 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2008.

Mr. Carlsson’s option award of 7,500 shares will vest 1/3 each on February 27, 2008, February 27,
2009 and February 27, 2010.

Mr. Carlsson’s option award of 18,000 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on March 28, 2007.

Dr. Warner’s option award of 4,500 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2008,

Dr. Warner's option award of 9,487 shares will vest 1/3 each on February 27, 2008, February 27,
2009 and February 27, 2010,

Dr. Warner’s option award of 22,000 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on March 28, 2007.

Ms. Wrenn’s option award of 7,905 shares wilt vest 1/3 each on February 27, 2008, February 27,
2009 and February 27, 2010.

Ms. Wrenn’s option award of 22,000 shares will vest 25% on each of the four anniversaries
following its grant date on March 28, 2007.

Column {g) — Mr. Mitchell’s stock award of 40,000 shares will 100% vest on July 3, 2009.
Mr. Campbell’s stock award of 3,500 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2009.
Mr. Campbell’s stock award of 3,500 shares will 100% vest on May 12, 2010.
Mr. Campbell’s stock award of 3,500 shares will 100% vest on February 27, 2009.
Mr. Carlsson’s stock award of 7,200 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2009,
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Mr. Carlsson’s stock award of 4,270 shares will 100% vest on February 27, 2009,
Dr. Warner’s stock award of 9,000 shares will 100% vest on March 8, 2009.

Dr. Warner's stock award of 5,400 shares will 100% vest on Febrvary 27, 2009.
Ms. Wrenn's stock award of 4,500 shares will 100% vest on February 27, 2009.

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

The following table provides information concerning stock option exercises and the vesting of restricted stock
awards for each of the named executive officers during fiscal 2007.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Value Number of Value
Shares Realized Shares Realized
Acquired on on Acquired on
Exercise Exercise on Vesting Vesting
Name # %) i *
{(a) (b) {(c) (d) (e}
Dean ] Mitchell .. ... ..., — $ — — $ —
Jeffrey S. Campbell .. .. ... .. ... o i — $ — 25,000 $528,920
Carl-Aake Carlsson . .. ... o i i e 9,625 $128,369 10,000 $227.400
Ronmald N. Warner . .......... oo —_ b _ 15,000 $341,100
Carol A. WIeNN. . . ..o e e 42,000 $319,795 12,500 $284,250
Robert F Wrobel. .. ... ... ... .. . i 10,000 $109,025 10,200 $243,099

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2007 with respect to Alpharma’s common shares

issuable under the Company’s equity compensation plans:
Number of Securities

Remaining Available for
Future Issuance under

Number of Securities to be Equity Compensation
Issued Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average Plans
Qutstanding Options, Exercise Price of {Excluding Securities
Warrant and Rights QOutstanding Options, Reflected in Column (a))
Plan Category (a) Warrants and Rights (b)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders. . . ........... 1,388,893 $22.71 2,111,287
Equity compensation plans not )
approved by securities holders . . . .. None None None

Total . ......... ..o . 1,388,893 $22.71 2,111,287

(a) The number of shares included in this column represent shares from the following equity compensation plans
which have been approved by the Company’s shareholders: (i) Alpharma Inc. 1997 Stock Option and
Appreciation Right Plan, (ii) Alpharma Inc. Non-Employee Director Option Plan and (iii) Alpharma Inc.
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan,

(b) The number of shares included in this column represents (i) 2,025,907 shares available for future grants under
the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan and (ii) 85,380 shares available for future
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purchase under the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as the Company is no longer able to grant
shares out of either the (i} Alpharma Inc. 1997 Stock Option and Appreciation Right Plan or the (ii) Alpharma
Inc. Non-Employee Director Option Plan,

PENSION BENEFITS

The following table provides information as of fiscal year-end 2007 for each of the named executive officers
with respect to the Company’s pension plans.

Payments
During
Number of Present Value Last
Years Credited of Accumulated Fiscal
Name Plan Name Service (#) Benefit ($) Year ($)
(a) (b) () (d} )]
Dean I. Miichell ., ... N/A — $ — $ —
Jeffrey S. Campbell . .  Alpharma Inc. Penston Plan(1) 4 $ 39,938 $ —
Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan(2) 3 $ 7,613 $ —
Carl-Aake Carlsson .. Alpharma Early Retirement Plan (3) 21 $194,411 $ —
{Non U.S. Plan)
Ronald N. Warner ... Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan(1) 4 $ 53,649 5 —
Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan(2) 3 “§ 9,222 5 —
Carol A. Wrenn. .. .. Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan{1) 3 $ 40,304 5 —
Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan(2) 4 3 9,165 $§ —
Robert F. Wrobel. ... Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan(l) 9 $218,020 $8,172
Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan(2) 8 $ 41,336 &8 —

Footnotes:

(1) The Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan was frozen as of December 31, 2006. The Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan benefit
was valued assuming retirement at earliest unreduced age (65), no pre-retirement termination, RP2000
mortality projected to 2015 with Scale AA phased out linearly over the projection period, and a December 31,
2007 discount rate of 6,25%.

(2} SERP — Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan was frozen as of December 31, 2005. The Supplemental
Pension Plan as amended provides that all participants will receive a lump sum payment of their benefit as soon
as administratively practicable following the date that is six months after the participant’s termination. SERP
value shown is lump sum payable as of December 31, 2007 had the participant been eligible to commence.

(3) Present value calculation in U.S. dollars is based on year-end closing exchange rate with 1 Norwegian Kroner =
0.18506 U.S. Dollar,

Alpharma Inc. Pension Plan

Eligibility. Priorto January 1, 2007, an eligible employee became a participant in the Alpharma Inc. Pension
Plan (the “Pension Plan™) on the first July 1 or Janvary | coincident with or next following the date he had
completed 3 months of continuous service with an Alpharma company, and attained age 18 years. Effective as of
January 1, 2007, participation in the Pension Plan is frozen. Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner, Carol A. Wrenn
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| and Robert F. Wrobel and are participants in the Pensmn Plan. Dean J. Mitchell and Carl-Aake Carlsson are not
! participants in the Pension Plan.

i Vesting. A participant will be fully vested after completing five years of service. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a participant who was employed by Alpharma on December 31, 2006, is fully vested in his accrued
benefit as of such date regardless of his number of years of service. Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner, Carol A.
Wrenn and Robert F, Wrobel are vested in their benefits under the Pension Plan.

Actuarial Assumptions. For purposes of determining benefits under the Pension Plan, except lump-sum
payments, the following actuarial assumptions are used:

Mortality Table —-1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table for Males
Interest — 8.0%

For purposes of determining lump sum payments, the actuarial assumptions prescribed under Section 417(e) of the
Code, the Pension Funding Equity Act and Pension Protection Act of 2006 are used.

Normal Retirement Benefit. The annual retirement benefit payable to a participant on his normal retirement
date (age 653) in the form of a single life annuity is equal to:

0.8% of his final average earnings up to covered compensation, plus 1.45% percent of his final
average earmings in excess of covered compensation
times
years of benefit service
(not to exceed 30).

Effective as of December 31, 2006, future benefit accruals under the Pension Plan ceased.

Early Retirement Benefit. A participant who terminates employment after attaining age 55 and having at
least 5 years of service is eligible for an early retirement benefit. A participant’s normal retirement benefit will be
reduced by 7% for each year payments commence before he attains age 65 between the ages of 60 and 65 and 4% for
each year payments commence before he attains age 65 between the ages of 55 and 60. Robert F. Wrobel retired in
2007 and commenced payment of his early retirement benefit.

Compensation. The final average earnings of a participant will be the annual average of the earnings paid
during the 5 consecutive plan years for which his earnings were highest within the last 10 plan years immediately
preceding his termination of employment. If a participant has less than 5 years of employment, then his final
average earnings will be the average annual earnings paid during his employment. Generally, with respect to the
above-named participants, earnings mean base compensation.

Forms of Benefit. The normal form of benefit for a married participant is a qualified joint and survivor
annuity (“QISA™). The normal form of benefit for an unmarried participant is a single life annuity. In lieu of the
normal form of benefit, a participant may elect to have his benefit paid as a joint and (50%, 75% or 100%) survivor
annuity or a ten year certain life annuity. If a participant’s benefit is paid in a form other than a single life annuity, his
monthly benefit will be reduced to reflect the fact that benefits will be paid over two lifetimes (or, in the case of aten
year certain annuity, for a period certain).

Alpharma Inc¢. Supplemental Pension Plan

Eligibility. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Committee appointed highly compensated employees or key
management employees to participate in the Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan (the “SPP”). Effective as of
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December 31, 2005, participation in the SPP was frozen, Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner and Carol A,
Wrenn are participants in the Plan. Robert F. Wrobel received a distribution of his entire benefit under the SPP in
2008. Carl-Aake Carlsson and Dean J. Mitchell are not participants in the SSP.

Vesting. A participant will be fully vested after completing five years of service. Robert F. Wrobel was
vested in his benefit under the SPP. Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner and Carol A. Wrenn are vested in their
benefits.

Benefit.  The benefit payable to a participant is equal to the difference that the participant would have
received under the Pension Plan if his compensation was not limited by Section 401(a)(17) of the Code less his
actual benefit under the Pension Plan. The amount of compensation (as defined under the Pension Plan) that is
considered under the SPP is limited to $235,840, and compensation earned after the last payroll period ending in
2005 is not taken into account.

Actuarial Assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used to determine benefits under the SPP are the same as
those used to determine benefits under the Pension Pian.

Forms of Benefit. A participant’s benefit under the SPP will be paid in a lump sum six months after
termination from employment.

NON-QUALTFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

The following table provides information for fiscal 2007 with respect to the non-qualified defined contribution
and compensation deferral plans of the Company for each of the named executive officers.

Aggregate
Exccutive Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Balance
Contributions Contributions in Earnings Withdrawals/ at Last
in Last FY Last FY in Last FY Distributions FYE
Name ($) % (%) (%) %)
(a) (b () {d) (e) U]
Dean J. Mitchell. . ... ............ $ — $ — s — 5 — $ —
Jeffrey S. Campbell ., ............ $ — $3,249 $ 6,161 $ — $ 91,970
Carl-Aake Carlsson ............,. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ronald N. Warner. . .............. 3 — 51,263 $ 1,455 5 — $ 35,857
Carol A Wrenn . ................ $ — 33,066 3 6,243 5 — $ 68,955
Robert F. Wrobel ... .......... .. 5§ — $3,719 $21,597 5 — $305,720

Footnotes:

Column (cy — Reflects adjustment to the 2003 Supplemental Savings Plan for transmittal corrections.

Alpharma Inc. 2007 Supplemental Savings Plan

Eligibility. The Committee appoints highly compensated employees or key management employees as
eligible to participate in the Alpharma Inc. 2007 Supplemental Savings Plan (the 2007 SSP”). Jeffrey S. Campbell
is a participant in the 2007 SSP. Carl-Aake Carlsson, Dean J. Mitchell, Carol A. Wrenn and Ronald N. Warner are
not participants in the 2007 SSP. Robert F. Wrobel’s benefits were paid following his termination of employment
and thus he no longer has a benefit under the 2007 SSP.

Vesting. A participant is immediately vested in his deferrals to the 2007 SSP.
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Contributions. Participants may elect to defer up to 75% of their compensation, as described below. There
are no matching contributions under the 2007 SSP.

Compensation. Compensation means base salary, including amounts deferred under the 2007 SSP and the
Alpharma Inc. Savings Plan, and bonus under the Short-Term Incentive Plan.

Forms of Benefit. A participant’s benefit under the Plan will be paid in a luh]p sum six months after
termination from employment.

Alpharma Ine. 2005 Supplemental Savings Plan

Eligibility. The Committee appointed highly compensated employees or key management employees as
eligible to participate in the Alpharma Inc. 2005 Supplemental Savings Plan (the “2005 SSP”). The 2005 SSP was
frozen effective as of December 31, 2005. Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner and Robert F. Wrobel are
participants in the 2005 SSP. Robert F. Wrobel has terminated employment and has a benefit under the 2005 SSP.
Carl-Aake Carlsson, Dean J. Mitchell and Carol A. Wrenn are not participants in the 2005 SSP.

Vesting. A participant is immediately vested in his deferrals to the 2005 SSP. A participant is vested in his
matching contributions after three years of service.

Contributions. Participants could have elected to defer up to 25% of their compensation, as described below.
The Company credited matching contributions to a participant’s account in an amount up to six percent (6%) of the
amount of compensation deferred under the 2005 SSP.

Campehsation. Compensation means base salary, including amounts deferred under the 2005 SSP and the
Alpharma Inc. Savings Plan.

Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan

Eligibility. The Committee appointed highly compensated employees or key management employees as
eligible to participate in the Alpharma Inc. Supplemental Savings Plan (the “SSP™). The SSP was frozen effective as
of December 31, 2004. Jeffrey S. Campbell, Ronald N. Warner and Carol A. Wrenn are participants in the SSP. Carl-

_ Aake Carlsson and Dean J. Mitchell are not participants in the SSP. Robert F. Wrobel received a distribution of his
entire benefit under the SSP in 2008,

Vesting. A participant is fully vested in his deferrals to the SSP. A participant is vested in his matching
contnbutions after three years of service.

Contributions. Participants could have elected 10 defer a portion of their compensation, as described below.
In no event could a participant’s deferrals under the SSP and the Alpharma Inc. Savings Plan exceed more than 10%
of his compensation. Participants were permitted to defer a portion of their bonuses to the SSP. The Company
credited matching contributions to a participant’s account in an amount up to six percent (6%) of the amount of
compensition deferred under the SSP.

Compensation. Compensation means base salary, including amounts deferred under the SSP and the
Alpharma Inc. Savings Plan.

Forms of Benefit. A participant’s benefit under the Plan will be paid in a lump sum as soon as admin-
istratively practicable following the date that is six months after his termination from employment.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The table below summarizes the compensation paid by the Company to non-employee directors for fiscal
2007.

Change in
Pension
Yalue and
Fees Non-qualified
Earned or Non-Equity Deferred
Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan  Compensation All Other
Name Cash ($) Awards ($) Awards ($) Compensation ($) Earnings (§) Compensation ($) Total ($)
(a) (b) {c) (d) {e) ) (g) (h}
Peter G. Tombros . ... $129,500 $83883 § — 3 — 5 - 8 — $213,383
Finn Berg Jacobsen ... $ 81,600 $54,691 % — 3 — 5 — $§  — 8136291
Ramon M. Perez . . . .. $ 87600 %7188 $§ — $ — 8 — $ — $159,468
Peter W. Ladell . . . . .. 538,143 514788 § — 5 — 3 — b — $ 52,931
David C. U'Prichard .. $ 30,743 $14788 3 — 5 — 5 — $ — $ 45,531
Glen E. Hess )
(former director) ... $ 16,457 $57080 $ — 5 — $ — 8 — $ 73,537
Ingrid Wiik
(former director) ... $ 18,857 $24040 $ — $ — 5 — $20,774 $ 63,671
Footnotes:

Column (¢) — Reflects Stock Awards valued in accordance with SFAS 123R, which requires recognition of the fair
value of stock-based compensation in net earnings, including the impact of compensation reversals
due to award forfeitures. Compensation for restricted stock is recorded based on the market value of
the stock on the grant date. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the
requisite period of individual grants, which generally equals the vesting period of the grant (ref.
Form 10-K, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fair value of equity awards computed
in accordance with SFAS 123R at fiscal year end 2007 are: Mr. Tombros $164,629; Mr. Jacobsen
$109,760: Mr. Ladell $109,760; Mr. U’ Prichard $109,760; and Mr. Perez $109,760. The aggregate
number of stock awards outstanding at fiscal year end 2007 are: Mr. Tombros 23,675; Mr. Jacobsen
15,952; Mr. Ladell 5,117; Mr. U’Prichard 5,117; Mr. Perez 20,117; and Mr. Hess 10,000.

Column (d) — Option Awards are no longer granted to directors, The aggregate number of option awards
outstanding at fiscal year end 2007 are: Mr. Tombros 24,500; Ms. Wiik 125,000; and Mr. Hess
24,500.

Column (g} — Includes the following perquisites and personal benefits, the value of which was less than $10,000:
Ms. Wiik-tax advice, retirement gift and related tax gross-up.

The Compensation Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board with respect to
approving, evaluating, modifying, terminating and monitoring the compensation of members of the Board. When
developing its recommendations, the Compensation Committee is guided by the following principles: compen-
sation should fairly pay directors for work required in a company of Alpharma’s size and scope; compensation
should align directors’ interests with the long-term interests of stockholders; and the structure of the compensation
should be simple, transparent and easy for stockholders to understand. As such, in making its annual recommen-
dations to the Board regarding director compensation, the Compensation Committee considers such factors as the
time commitment expected of the Company’s Board members, the level of skill required and the types and amounts
of compensation paid to directors of peer companies.
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Outside directors receive a combination of cash and equity compensation. Mr. Mitchell, currently the only
management director on the Board, does not receive any separate compensation for his services as a director. As
compensation for serving on the Board during 2007, each outside director received an annual directors’ fee of
$30,000. In addition, on June 5, 2007, each outside director received a grant of 5,117 restricted stock units under the
Company's 2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. These units vest upon the director’s death, disability or
retirement from the Board, or upon a change in control of the Company. The Chairman of each of the Audit,
Nominating and Corporate Governance and Compensation Committees received an additional payment of $7,500.
Mr. Tombros received an additional annual fee of $30,000 and an additional 2,558 restricted stock units (also
scheduled to vest upon retirement) for his service as Chairman of the Board.

Through May 2007, each director received $1,200 for cach Board and committee meeting attended in person
and by telephone. Beginning in June 2007, each director received $2,000 for each Board meeting attended in person
and $1,200 for each Board meeting attended by telephone. Each director also received a fee of $1,500 for each
comrmittee meeting attended in person and $1,200 for each committee meeting attended by telephone. In June 2007,
the Board approved, on the Compensation Committee’s recommendation, an additional fee for any committee
member who (i) attends in person two or more committee meetings (whether of the same or different committees)
_during any one calendar month and (ii) incurs one way travel of at least 1,000 miles from his normal residence or
place of business to attend the meetings. If these requirements are met, then the committee member receives an
additional $2,400 for each of the meetings attended during that calendar month.

Until December 31, 2005, directors also had the ability to participate in the Company’s Deferred Compen-
sation Plan through which they were able to defer receipt of cash compensation and earn interest quarterly on such
deferred amounts. However, effective December 31, 2005, the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan was frozen,
prohibiting participants from making future deferrals of cash compensation. There have been no deferrals by non-
employee directors since December 31, 2005.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control of the Company

The section below describes the payments that may be made to NEOs upon termination of employment or in
connection with a sale of a business unit or a change in control (“CIC”) of Alpharma. Potential payments for
Alpharma’s NEOs for each of the following termination scenarios are outlined in detail below: “Voluntary
Termination”, “Involuntary Termination for Cause”, termination as a result of “Retirement”, “Disability” and
“Death”, “Involuntary Termination without Cause or Voluntary Termination for Good Reason absent a CIC” and
“Involuntary Termination without Cause or Voluntary Termination for Good Reason upon a CIC”.

Payments Made Upon Termination (All Executives)

An NEO may be entitled to receive the following amounts earned during the term of employment regardless of
the manner in which an NEQ's employment terminates except where indicated to the contrary.

¢ Unpaid base salary through the date of termination.
» Any accrued and unused vacation pay.

* Any unpaid annual bonus with respect to a completed performance period assuming the executive is
employed on the actual day the bonus is paid.

+ All accrued and vested balances under the Savings Plan (401k Plan), as well as the Pension Plan,
Supplemental Pension Plan, and Supplemental Savings Plan as described in the “Pension Benefits” and
“Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation” sections of the proxy. The balance under these plans includes
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balances of the Alpharma Supplemental Savings Plan (frozen on 12/31/2004), the 2005 Supplemental
Savings Plan (frozen on 12/31/2003), and the 2007 Supplemental Savings Plan.

» All outstanding and vested stock options (except in the event of termination for Cause, under which, all the
vested and unvested stock options will be forfeited).

 All other benefits under the Company’s compensation and benefits programs that are available to all salaried
employees and do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation in favor of the NEO.

Payment Made Upon Retirement (All Executives)

In the event of the retirement of an NEO, in addition to the items listed under the heading “Payments Made
Upon Termination”, the NEO will receive the following benefits: :

» Pro-rated unvested restricted stock will vest. Since none of the NEOs is of retirement age as of 12/31/2007,
they are not eligible to receive any pro-rated unvested restricted stock,

» In the case of Mr. Mitchell only, any unvested portion of his 40,000 sign-on restricted stock award granted on
July 3, 2006 immediately vests.

Payment Made Upon Death or Disability (All Executives)

In the event of death or disability of an NEQ, in addition to the benefits listed under the heading “Payment
" Made Upon Termination™ above, the NEO will receive the following:

« Benefits under Alpharma’s short-term and/or long-term disability plans or benefits under Alpharma’s life
insurance plan, as appropriate.

» All unvested stock options, unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units will vest.

The following paragraphs discuss payments (as reflected in the termination tables outlined following this
section of the proxy) upon Involuntary Termination without Cause or for Good Reason (or Constructive Termi-
nation, as the case may be) absent a CIC or Termination without Cause or for Good Reason upon a CIC for each
executive under his‘her own agreements with Alpharma.

Corporate Executives Only — Dean J. Mitchell (CEOQ) & Jeffrey S. Campbell (CFQ)

Payments Made Upon Involuntary Termination without Cause or Voluntary Termination for Good Reason
absent a Change in Control (Mr. Mitchell Only)

In the event of an involuntary termination without “Cause” (*Cause” is generally defined in Mr, Mitchell’s
agreement as (i) conviction of a felony or other crime invelving moral turpitude or (ii) willful gross neglect or
conduct resulting in material economic harm to the Company) or a voluntary termination for “Good Reason”
(generally defined as any of the following, provided the Company fails to cure the event upon 10 days written
notice, (i) a reduction in base salary or target bonus opportunity; (ii) a forced relocation of greater than 50 miles;
{iii) a material diminution of Mr. Mitchell’s job responsibilities, duties, or status within the Company; (iv) removal
as President or CEQ; (v) failure to appoint Mr. Mitchell to the Board, the removal of Mr. Mitchell from the Board, or
the failure to be re-elected to the Board; (vi) a change in Mr. Mitchell’s direct reporting relationship with the Board,
(vii) a material breach by the Company of Mr. Mitchell’s employment agreement or {vii) the failure of the
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Company to obtain the assumption in writing of its obligations under Mr. Mitchell’s agreement by any successor
entity), Mr. Mitchell’s severance would be as follows:

* Cash severance equal to 24 months of base salary plus two times his target annual bonus, all paid in equal
annua) installments over the 24 months after termination;

* Pro-rata payment of the annual bonus for the year of termination, based on the length of time worked during
the year prior to termination, and determined based on actual results;

*+ 100% accelerated vesting of the unvested portion of the 40,000 sign-on restricted stock award granted on
July 3, 2006; all other unvested stock options, unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units will be
forfeited;

» Continuation of health and welfare benefits for 24 months after termination of employment at the same cost
as is applicable to other active employees.

Payments Made Upon Involuntary Termination without Cause absent a Change in Control (Mr. Campbell
Onty)

As covered under Alpharma’s Severance Plan, Mr. Campbell will be entitled to the following payments upon
involuntary termination without Cause absent a CIC:

* Cash severance equal to 18 months of the annual base salary plus 1.5 times his target annual bonus, all paid in
equal annual installments over the 18 months after termination.

» Benefits continuation for 18 months including medical, dental, accidental death and dismemberment and/or
life insurance at the same cost as is applicable to other active employees.

+ All unvested stock options, unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units will be forfeited.

“Cause” is defined under Alpharma’s Severance Plan as conviction of a felony, habitual excessive use of drugs
or alcohol, unsatisfactory attendance, substantial and willful neglect of or inability to adequately perform job duties,
disciosure of confidential information regarding the Company, or aiding or assisting any competitor of the
Company.

Payments Made Upon a Change in Control (Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Campbell)

The benefits provided in connection with a CIC for Mr. Mitchell are governed by the terms and conditions
outlined in his employment agreement entered into on May 31, 2006, and for Mr. Campbell, as outlined in
Alpharma’s Change in Control Plan (“CIC Plan™).

Under the CIC Plan, a CIC is defined as (i) the acquisition by any person, entity or group (excluding Alpharma
and its subsidiaries) of beneficial ownership of shares of Common Stock sufficient to elect a majority of directors to
the Board; (ii) the current Board (which for this purpose includes any director subsequently elected to the Board
whose nomination or election is approved by a majority of the current Board) ceases for any reason to constitute at
least a majority of the Board: (iii) approval by the Company’s shareholders of a reorganization, merger or
consolidation of the Company (provided that these shareholders do not, immediately after the reorganization,
merger or consolidation, own shares sufficient to elect a majority of directors of the new entity); or (iv) a liquidation
or dissolution of the Company (other thari pursuant to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code) or the transfer or leasing of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company to any person. Mr. Mitchell’s agreement uses the same definition of
CIC, subject to the exception that, under certain circumstances, the acquisition of a majority of shares by or transfer
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of assets to certain parties, namely A L. Industrier AS, the shareholders of AL. Industrier AS, and E.W. Sissener
and his heirs, will not constitute a CIC.

Upon the effective date of a CIC of the Company all unvested stock options will vest and remain exercisable for
the remainder of the term of the option.

Payments Made Upon Certain Events in Connection with a Change in Control (Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Campbell)

If Mr. Mitchell’s employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason (as each such term is defined in
his agreement) or if Mr. Campbell’s employment is terminated without Cause (the CIC Plan uses the same
definition of “‘Cause™ as is described above with respect to the Severance Plan) or due to Constructive Termination
(which, under the CIC Plan, generally means (i) a reduction in base salary or target bonus opportunity; (ii} a forced
relocation of greater than 50 miles; (iii} a reduction in benefits; (iv) a substantial diminution of the executives’ job
responsibilities, duties, or status within the Company; or (v} a detrimental change in the reporting relationship of the
Executive, including, e.g., a change in the person who held the position to whom the Executive reported prior to the
CIC), and each such termination occurs in connection with a CIC of the Company (i.e., in Mr. Mitchell’s case, if the
termination occurs within the period starting three months before a CIC and ending two years after the CIC and, in
" Mr. Campbell’s case, if the termination occurs concurrently with or within two years after the CIC), the executives’
severance would be as follows:

» Cash severance equal to, for Mr. Mitchell, 36 months of annual base salary and three times his target annual
bonus and, for Mr. Campbell, 30 months of annual base salary and 2.5 times his target annual bonus, all paid
over the 36 and 30 month periods.

+ Continuation of health and welfare benefits for 36 months after termination of employment for Mr. Mitchell
and benefits continuation for 30 months after termination of employment for Mr. Campbell, in ¢ach instance
at the same cost as is applicable to other active employees.

» For Mr. Mitchell, pro-rata payment of the annual bonus for the year of termination, based on the length of
time worked during the year prior to termination, and determined based on actual results.

» All restricted stock and restricted stock units immediately vest,

* In the event that the above payments would trigger the parachute excise tax, the Company would gross-up, or
increase, Mr. Mitchell’s severance to offset the impact of the excise tax. If the above payments trigger the
parachute excise tax for Mr. Campbell, then under the CIC Plan, his payments will be reduced to the extent
necessary so that no portion would be subject to the excise tax, but only if, by reason of such reduction,
Mr. Campbell’s “net after-tax benefit” (all the parachute payments within the meaning of Section 280G of
the Code, less federal income taxes and less the excise tax) would exceed what the net after tax benefit would
have been if such reduction were not made and Mr. Campbell paid such excise tax.

For Mr. Mitchell, all of the above CIC related benefits are contingent upon his executing a release of legal
claims against the Company. Mr. Mitchell is also subject to a non-disclosure agreement which is unlimited in
duration, and a non-competition, non-solicitation and non-interference with business relationships agreement,
which is effective for a period of 12 months following Mr. Mitchell’s termination for any reason.

Division Presidents Only — Carl-Aake Carlsson (Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients Business), Ronald
N. Warner (Pharmaceuticals Business) & Carol A. Wrenn (Animal Health Business)

Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn are covered under the Alpharma Severance Plan and the CIC Plan,
which provides for security arrangements under various employment terminations. Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn have
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also each entered into a retention agreement (disclosed publicly through a Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
December 22, 2005) in connection with the sale of the Generics business in December 2005 to ensure the continuity
of the management team through the post-transaction transition period. The retention agreements of Dr. Warner and
Ms. Wrenn will expire on December 19, 2008. Mr. Carlsson also entered into a retention agreement in November
2007 associated with the exploration of a sale of the API business (the retention agreements of Mr. Carlsson,
Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn are referred to hereafier as the “Retention Agreements”). The Retention Agreements for
each of the executives provides that the executive will be entitled to benefits upon the sale of their own business unit
{Mr. Carlsson’s API business, Dr. Warner’s Pharmaceuticals Business and Ms. Wrenn’s Animal Health Business) or
a CIC of Alpharma, in lieu of the benefits set forth in the CIC Plan, as long as the Retention Agreements remain in
effect.

For purposes of the Retention Agreements, a “Sale of the Business Unit” is the sale or other transfer of all or
substantially all of the assets and business of the particular business in question to any person or entity that is
unaffiliated with Alpharma that does not result in a CIC of the Company. The definition of a CIC under the
Retention Agreements is the same as the definition used under the Company’s CIC Plan.

Payments Made Upon Involuntary Termination without Cause without a Sale of the Business Unit or absent
a Change in Control of Alpharma (Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn)

As covered under Alpharma’s Severance Plan, the executives will be entitled to the following payments upon
involuntary termination without Cause without a Sale of the Business Unit or without a CIC:

+ Cash severance equal to 18 months of the base salary plus 1.5 times the target annual bonus, all paid in equal
annual installments over the 18 months after termination.

» Benefits continuation of 18 menths including medical, dental, accidental death and dismemberment and/for
life insurance at the same cost as is applicable to other active employees.

+ All unvested stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units will be forfeited.

Payments Made Upon a Sale of the Business Unit (Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn)

As covered under their respective Retention Agreements, the executives will be entitled to the following
payments upon a sale of their own business unit:

* A pro-rata bonus based on the target annual bonus opportunity if the Sale of the Business Unit occurs on or
prior to June 30 of any calendar year; or a pro-rata bonus based on the actual performance if the Sale of the
Business Unit occurs after June 30 of any calendar year,

« All unvested stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock units immediately vest.

* A lump-sum transaction bonus to Ms. Wrenn upon a sale of the Animal Health business unit under certain
circumstances, such bonus to be paid no later than 6 months after the sale.

» A lump-sum transaction bonus to Mr. Carlsson upon a sale of the API business unit that occurs on or before
December 12, 2008 and does not result in a CIC of Alpharma, which will be paid on the earlier of the date
6 months after the sale of the API business or the date following the sale upon which Mr. Carlsson’s
employment is terminated without Cause or due to a “Constructive Termination™ (“Constructive Termi-
nation” is generally defined under the Retention Agreements as (i) a reduction in base salary or target bonus
opportunity; (ii) a forced relocation of greater than 50 miles; (iii) any material reduction in aggregate health,
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welfare and pension benefits; or (iv) a substantial diminution of the executives’ job responsibilities, duties,
or status within the Company).

Payments Made Upon a Change in Control of Alpharma (Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn)

As covered under their respective Retention Agreements, the executives will be entitled to the following
payments upon a CIC of the Company:

* A pro-rata bonus based on the target annual bonus opportunity.
*» All unvested steck options immediately vest.

* Unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units would vest upon the earlier to occur of any of the
following “Qualifying Events™; (1) the scheduled vesting date; (2) the termination of the executive’s
employment without Cause or due to a Constructive Termination within two years after the consummation of
the CIC; or (3) for Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn, the acquisition of all or substantially all of the Company’s
issued and outstanding common stock by the acquiring company.

Payments Made Upon Certain Events in Connection with a Sale of the Business Unit or upon a Change in
Control of Alpharma (Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn)

As covered under their respective Retention Agreements, in the event of a qualifying termination (involuntary
termination without Cause or voluntary termination due to a Constructive Termination) within two years of the Sale
of the Business Unit or CIC of the Company, the executives would receive the payments set forth below. For
purposes of this severance, a qualifying termination would be deemed to exist in either of the following
circumstances — an involuntary termination without “Cause” (*Cause” is generally defined under the Retention
Agreements as conviction of a felony or substantial and willful neglect of duties or willful misconduct having a
material impact on the Company) or a Constructive Termination (as defined above).

* Cash severance equal to:

» for Mr. Carlsson, 2.5 times the sum of (a) the executive's base salary and (b) target annual bonus
opportunity, each as in effect immediately prior to the Sale of the Business Unit or CIC of the Company,
payable in equal installments over 30 months.

» for Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn, 2.0 times the sum of (a) the ‘executive’s base salary and (b) target annual
bonus opportunity, each as in effect immediately prior to the Sale of the Business Unit or CIC of the
Company, payable in equal installments over 24 months,

» Benefits continuation for 24 months including medical, dental, accidental death and dismemberment and life
insurance benefit coverage (30 months for Mr. Carlsson) at the same cost as is applicable to other active
employees.

* If the termination without Cause or Constructive Termination occurs following a CIC, all restricted stock and
restricted stock units immediately vest.

In the event that any of the above amounts would result in excise taxes under tax code section 4999: (1) if the
Excise Tax would be equal to $50,000 or less, then the Parachute Payment to the executive will be reduced to
the extent necessary so that the payment is equal to 2.99 times the base amount ard no excise tax would be
due; or (2) if the Excise Tax would be greater than $50,000, then the executive will be entitled to receive from
the Company an additional payment (a “Gross-Up Payment”) in order to offset the impact to the executive of
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the excise tax, in effect putting the executive in the same after-tax position he or she would have been in had
no excise tax been imposed.

« The executives would also be entitled to outplacement services.

The payments and benefits provided under the Retention Agreements are all subject to restrictive covenants
that prohibit the following activities for the specified period following a CIC or a Sale of the Business Unit:
(i) competition with the Company for a period of 12 months, (ii) interference with the Company’s business
relationships for a period of 24 months (30 months for Mr. Carlsson), and (iii) solicitation of the Company’s
employees for a period of 24 months (30 months for Mr. Carlsson).

Assumptions Regarding Post Termination Tables

The following tables were prepared as though the NEO’s employment was terminated on December 31, 2007
(the last business day of 2007) using the closing share price of Alpharma’s common stock of $20.15 as of that day.
The amounts under the rows labeled *Change in Control Followed by Qualifying Event”, “Sale of API Business
fPharmaceuticals/Animal Health” and “Sale of Pharma/Animal Health/API Business Followed by Qualifying
Event” assume that a Sale of the Business Unit or a CIC occurred and the employment of the executive was
terminated on December 31, 2007. With these assumptions taken as a given, the Company believes that the
remaining assumptions listed below, which are necessary to produce these estimates, are reasonable in the
aggregate. However, the NEO's employment was not terminated on December 31, 2007 and a Sale of the Business
Unit or a CIC did not occur on that date. As a result there can be no assurance that a Sale of the Business Unit, a
termination of employment, a CIC or a combination of these events would produce the same or similar results as
those described if either or a combination of these events occurred on any other date or at any other price, or if any
assumption is not correct.

For the purpose of this analysis, we have made the following assumptions with respect to payments made
for termination absent a Change in Control and without a Sale of the Business Unit:

In the case of a termination without Cause or for Good Reason absent a CIC, the CEO (Mr, Miichell) is covered
_ by his employment agreement entered into on May 31, 2006 and the other executives are covered by the Alpharma
Inc. Severance Plan (“Severance Plan™), effective June 22, 2006.

Cash Severance.

+ All the executives are assumed to have terminated on 12/31/2007 (last day of the fiscal year 2007). However,
none of the executives actuaily terminated on the aforementioned date.

« For this analysis, we are assuming that the annual bonus for fiscal year 2007 has been paid.

« For the purpose of this analysis, we have assumed that none of the executives have any accrued or unused
vacation remaining at the time of termination,

Benefits Continuation.

« Mr. Mitchell’s employment agreement provides for the continuation of all health and welfare benefits (i.e.,
medical, dental, prescription, vision, employee assistance program, basic life insurance and accidental death
and dismemberment}, available to him prior to termination.
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* For the other executives, the Severance Plan provides for the continuation of medical (which also includes
the prescription and vision plans), dental, employee assistance program, basic life insurance and accidental
death and dismemberment benefits as available to the executive prior to termination.

Retirement Plan Benefits,
* The values reflect the total account balances in the following plans:

* The lump sum present value of the accrued benefits under the Pension Plan and Supplemental Pension
Plan as determined by Alpharma’s actuary for Mr. Campbell, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn only.

* All three executives have fully vested benefits under the Pension Plan and the Supplemental Pension
Plan as they have completed 5 years of service required by the plans. The lump-sum present value of the
benefits will be provided upon any termination, except for death prior to retirement in which case 50%
of the accrued benefits will be provided to the executive’s spouse or designated beneficiary.

* Vested account balance in the 401(k) plan as of 12/31/07 for z.dl the US executives.

* Account balances in the 401(k) are fully vested for Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Campbell, Dr. Warner and
Ms. Wrenn because they were employed by 12/31/2006.

* Total account balance in the Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation plans (all the Savings Plans) as of
12/31/07 for Mr. Campbell, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn.

* Benefits under all savings plans are fully vested for Mr. Campbell, Dr. Wamner and Ms. Wrenn because
they have completed 3 years of services as required by the plans.

Equity.

* For Mr. Mitchell, his employment agreement provides the executive with accelerated vesting of the “Sign-on
Restricted Stock Grant” that was awarded on July 3, 2007.

* Any unvested options or restricted stock grants other than the “Sign-on Restricted Stock Grant™ will be
forfeited.

+ The values reflect the in-the-money value for all vested stock options plus the value of unvested Sign-on
Restricted Stock Grant of 40,000 shares which were unvested as of 12/31/2007 based on a fiscal year end
2007 stock price of $20.15.

» Other executives will be entitled to vested stock options only, according to the Severance Plan.
* Any unvested options, restricted stock or restricted stock units will be forfeited.
» The equity values reflect the in-the-money value for all vested stock options as of 12/31/2007, based on a

fiscal year end 2007 stock price of $20.15.

For the purpose of this analysis, we have made the following assumptions with respect to paymenis made
JSor termination following a Change in Control or Sale of the Business Unit (for Mr. Carisson, Dr. Warner
and Ms. Wrenn):

Upon a termination without Cause, for Good Reason or due to Constructive Termination following a CIC, the
executives were covered by the following agreements:

* Mr. Mitchell is covered by his employment agreement entered into on May 31, 2006.
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» Mr. Campbell is covered by the Alpharma Inc. CIC Plan, effective January 29, 2007.

= Mr. Carlsson is covered by his retention agreement signed on November 9, 2007,

+ Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn are covered by their retention agreements entered into in December 2005.
Cash Severance.

« A CIC was assumed to have occurred on 12/31/2007 (last day of the fiscal year 2007). However, no CIC
actually occurred on the aforementioned date.

s+ All the executives are assumed to have terminated on 12/31/2007 (last day of the fiscal year 2007). However,
the employment of the executives was not actually terminated on the aforementioned date.

* For this analysis, we are assuming that the annual bonus for FY 2007 has been paid.

» For the purpose of this analysis, we have assumed that none of the executives have any accrued or unused
vacation remaining at the time of termination,

Benefits Continuation.

« Mr. Mitchell’s employment agreement provides for the continuation of all health and welfare benefits (i.e., .
medical, dental, prescription, vision, employee assistance program, basic life insurance and accidental death
and dismemberment), available to the executive prior to termination.

« For the other executives, the retention plans and the CIC Plan provides for the continuation of medical
(which also includes the prescription and vision plans), dental, employee assistance program, basic life
insurance and accidental death and dismemberment benefits as available to the executive prior to
termination.

Retirement Plan Benefits.
« All executives receive the same benefits as those received under termination absent a Change in Control,
Equity.

« All the agreements (CEO’s employment agreement, the CIC Plan, the retention agreements of Mr. Carlsson,
Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn) provide for full acceleration of all unvested stock options upon a CIC (single
trigger), and full acceleration of all unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units upon termination
following a CIC (double trigger). For this analysis, we assumed that termination occurs on the date of the
CIC, so all awards accelerate.

+ The values reflect the in-the-money value of all vested and unvested stock options and the value of all
restricted stock based on a fiscal year end 2007 stock price of $20.15.

Ouiplacement.

» Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn are entitled to professional outplacement services of a maximum of
$20,000, as provided in their retention agreements.

Golden Parachute (280G Gross-up).
» The agreements provide different treatment of “Golden Parachute™ excise tax for each executive.

+ Mr. Mitchell’s employment agreement provides a “Gross-up” treatment for the “Golden Parachute”
excise tax, which means in the event parachute excise taxation would be triggered by the CIC payments
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and benefits, Alpharma would gross up Mr. Mitchell’s CIC payments to offset the impact of the excise
taxes.

* The CIC Plan provides for a “Best Net Benefit” approach for Mr. Campbell. This means that the total CIC
payments would be reduced to the extent that no portion of the payment would be subject to the excise tax,
but only if, the executive's “net after-tax benefit” would exceed what the net after-tax benefit would have
been if such reduction were not made and the executive paid such excise tax.

* Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn who are governed by their retention agreements are entitled to a
“Modified Gross-up”, which means Alpharma will gross up executives’ CIC payments to offset the
impact of the excise tax, but only if the excise tax is greater than $50,000. i the excise tax is equal to
$50,000 or less, then the CIC payments will be reduced so that the payment is equal to 2.99 times the base
amount of the executive and no excise tax is triggered.

For the purpose of this analysis, we have made the following assumptions with respect to payments made
Sfellowing a Sale of the Business Unit (for Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn):

Cash Severance.

* A Sale of the Business Unit was assumed to have occurred on 12/31/2007 (last day of the fiscal year 2007).
However, no sale actually occurred on the aforementioned date.

* Mr. Carlsson is eligible to receive a transaction bonus calculated based on a percentage of the cash
consideration that the acquiring company pays to Alpharma either 6 months after the sale of APl or upon
termination without Cause or due to Constructive Termination after the sale of API. The potential range of
the transaction bonus is from $0 to $1,040,000. For the purpose of this analysis, we have assumed that
Mr. Carlsson would receive the maximum bonus payout opportunity.

» Ms. Wrenn is eligible to receive a transaction bonus in the amount of $100,000 if the acquiring company
pays to Alpharma an amount equal to or in excess of $250M neo later than 6 months after the sale of the
Animal Health business. For the purpose of this analysis, we have assumed that Ms. Wrenn would receive
the $100,000 bonus payout opportunity.
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Post Termination Payments Table

Retirement Excise
Health and Equity an Tax
Cash Welfare Value Benefits Insurance  Outplacement Gross-Up
Severance Continuation (6) [ies] 300 (10 - {1 Total

Name $) ($) $) $) $) ($) &)} $)
Mr. Dean J. Mitchell
Relirement . . ... oo M 000 3 000 8 0.00 § 5693470 § 000 § 0.00 NA 5 5693470
Disability. . . ... ... P 3 000 3 000  $124930000 § 5693470 $5203,10038 §. 000 N/A  $6,509.335.08
Death. .. ..o $ 000 3§ 000 $1249,300.00 $ $6934.70 $2,000,00000 § 0.00 NIA $3,306.234.70
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — For

Cause . ...t $ 0 3 000 § 000 § 56934.70 3 000 § 000 NA § 5693470
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — Not

forCause . . ... ... .. $2,620,000.00(2) $28.143.16(4) $ 806,000.00 § 56.934.70 $ 000 % 0.00 N/A  $3,511,082.86
Involuntary Termination (Severance) —

GoodReason . .. .............. $2,620000.00(2) $28,148.16(4) $ 806,00000 $ 56,934.70 § 000 § 0.00 N/iA  $3.511,082.86
Change in Control Followed by a Qualifying

Bvent .. ... $3.930,000.00(3) $42,222.24(5) $1,249.300.00 $ 56934.70 § 000 $ 0.00 $0.00  $5.278.456.94
Mr. Jeffrey S, Campbell
Retirement . . . . v oo e e e e e $ 000§ 000 $ 1749375 $270.667.15 § 000 $ 0.00 N/A  § 28816090
Disability, . . ............. ... .. $ 000 % 000  § 388.330.00 $270,667.15 $1,86725530 § 0.00 NiA $2,526,25245
Death........ ... nnn $ 000 % 000  § 388330.00 $246801.44 $2,000,00000 $ 0.00 N/A  $2,035221.44
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — For

Cause .. ..o M 600§ 000 % 0.00 $270.667.15 § 000 § 0.00 N/A  § 270,667.15
Involuntary Termination {Severance) — Not

for Cawse ... ..... e $ 500000002 $2L111.12(4) § 1749375 $270667.15 § 000 § 0.00 NiA  $1,209.272.02
Involuntary Termination (Severance) —

GoodReason . . .. .....vviiunnn $ 000 § 000 § 1749375 $270667.15 § 000 % 0.00 NiA  § 28816090
Change in Control Followed by a Qualifying

Event . .........ciuiniian $1,500,000.00(3) $35,185.2(5) § 388.330.00 $270.667.15 § 0o0 § 0.00 $0.00  $2,194,182.35
Mr. Carl-Aake Carlsson(1)
Retirement , .. . .............0.. $ 000 % 000 3 0.00 $194,411.08 § 000 § 0.0 N/A 5§ 19441108
Disability, .. .......... .. .. ... $ 000 % 000 § 32700675 $194411.08 NA 8 0.00 NA  § 52141783
Death. . ...... ... $ 00 % 000§ 32700675 $194.411.08 $2,00000000 $ 0.00 N/A  $2,521,417.83
Involuntary Termination {Severance) — For -

Calse . ... s $ 000 8 000 3§ 0.00 $194411.08 $ 000 § 0.00 N/IA  § 19441108
Iavoluntary Termination {Severance) — Not

forCause ................... $ 982.713.992) $ 6361534 § 000 $194411.08 $ 000 $ 0.00 N/A  $1.183.486.60
Invotuntary Termination (Severance) —

Good Reason . . . . ............. H 000 3 000 % 000 $194411.08 § 000 § (00 NiA % 19441108
Change in Control Follewed by a Qualifying

Evenl . ................ ..., $1,637.856.64(3) $10.602.55(5) $ 327,006.75 $194,411.08 § 000 $20,000.00 $0.00  $2,189,877.03
Sale of API Business . . . ........... $1,040,000.00(3) 3 0.00 § 327,00675 $194411.08 § 00§ 0.00 N/IA  $1,561,417.83
Sale of API Business Followed by a

Qualifying Event . . . ... ......... $1,637.856.64(3) $10.602.55(5) $ 327,006.75 319441108 $ 0.00  $20.000.00 $0.00  $2,189,877.03
Dr. Ronald N. Warner
Retirement . ... ..o vveenmeeann . 5 000 % 000 § 15252500 $227,793.17 3§ 000 $ 0.00 NfA  § 380318.17
Disability. .. .. ....... ... 0. $ 000§ 000 5 53896500 $227,793.17 $1,353,18275 § 0.00 N/A  $2,119940.92
Death. . . ..ot $ 000 % 000 $ 53896500 $196,357.49 $2,00000000 $§ 0.00 N/A  $2.735,32249
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — For

Cause ... $ 000 § 000 % 0.00 $227,793.17 § 000 % 0.00 N/A§ 227.193.07
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — Not

forCause .. ..., $ 94500000(2} $2L101.12(4) § 15252500 $227.79317 § 000 §$ 0.00 N/A $1,346420.29
Involuntary Termination (Severance) —

GoodReason . ... .. ........... $ 000 8 000 $ 15252500 $227.793.17 § 000 $ 0.00 N/A  § 380318.17
Change in Cantrol Followed by a Qualifying

L $1317,20000(3) $26,148.16(3) § 53896500 $227.793.17 § 000 $20,000.00 $000  $2.132,106.33
Sale of Branded Pharma Business. . . .. .. $ 000 § 000§ 53896500 $227.793.17 3 000 3 0.00 N/A  § 766,758.17
Sale of Branded Pharma Business Followed

by a Qualifying Event . . ... .. .. ... $1,317,200.003) $28,148.16(5) $ 538.965.00 $227,793.17 § 0.00  $20,000.00 $0.00  $2,132,106.33
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Retirement Excise

Health and Equity Plan Tax
Cash Welfare Value Beneflts Insurance  OQutplacement Gross-Up
Severance Continuation (6) %] (BN (10) (11) Total

Name s ) 8 ($) (8) ($) ) $)
Ms. Carol A. Wrenn
Retirement . . .. ... ........ ... .. $ 000 $ 000 S 0.00 $265,710.54 § 000§ 000 NiA  § 265710.34
Disability. . ... ................ $ 000 % 000 § 185380.00 $265710.54 $2.24146475 8 0.00 N/A  $2,692,555.29
Death. ... ... oo $ 000 § 000 $ 18538000 $240975.99 $2,000.00000 3 0.00 NiA  §2426355.99
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — For

Cause .......... ..., $ 000 §$ 000 S 0.00 $265.710.54 § 000 $ 000 NIA  § 265.710.54
Involuntary Termination (Severance) — Not

forCause .. ................. $ 900,000.00(2) $ 3.182434) § 0.00 $265,71054 § 000 $ 000 N/A  51,168.392.97
TInvolumary Termination (Severance) —

GoodReason .. . .............. s 000 § 000 $ 000 $26571054 § 000 § 000 NfA  § 265,710.54
Change in Control Followed by a Qualifying

A $1.257,200.0003) $ 4,243.24(5) § 185380.00 $265,710.54 § 0.00  $20,000.00 $0.00  $1,732,533.78
Sale of Animal Health Business. . . . .. .. $ 100,000.00(3) 3 000  $ 18538000 $265.710.54 § 000 § 0.00 NA  § 55109054
Sale of Animal Health Business Followed by

a Qualifying Event . . . ... .. ...... $1,257,200.003) § 4243.24(5} § 185380.00 $265,710.54 § 0.00 $2000000  $0.00 S$1.73253378
(1) For the purpose of this analysis, we have converted all the compensation and benefits paid to Mr, Carlsson in

@

3

)

3)

NOK into USD, based on an exchange rate as of December 31, 2007: 1| NOK = 0.18506 USD.

The cash severance provision for termination without Cause (all executives) or for Good Reuson (for
Mr. Mitchell only) absent a CIC reflects 18 months (24 months for Mr. Mitchell) of the annual base salary and
target bonus. Mr. Mitchell also is also eligible to receive a pro-rated bonus for the year of termination. We
assumed that the executive terminates on 12/31/07 and therefore the annual bonus has been paid. The value of
accrued vacation pay is not included in the calculation.

The cash severance provision for termination without Cause or for Good Reason following a CIC or following
a Sale of the Business Unit (for Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn) reflects 30 months (36 months for
Mr. Mitchell and 24 months for Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn) of the annual base salary and target bonus.
Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Wamer and Ms. Wrenn are also eligible to receive a pro-rated bonus for the year of
termination. We assumed that the executive terminates on 12/31/07 and therefore the annual bonus has been
paid. The value of accrued vacation pay is not included in the calculation. Upon a Sale of the Business Unit
that does not result in a CIC of Alpharma: Mr, Carlsson is eligible to receive a transaction bonus calculated
based on a percentage of the cash consideration that the acquiring company pays to Alpharma either 6 months
after the sale of API or upon termination without Cause or for Good Reason after the sale of APL. The potential
range of the transaction bonus is from $0 to $1,040,000. For the purpose of this analysis, we have assumed that
Mr. Carlsson would receive the maximum bonus payout opportunity. Ms. Wrenn is eligible to receive a
transaction bonus in the amount of $100,000 if the acquiring company pays to Alpharma an amount equal to or
in excess of $250M no later than 6 months afier the sale of the Animal Health business. For the purpose of this
analysis, we have assumed that Ms. Wrenn would receive the $100,000 bonus payout opportunity. The
calculation also includes 2 years of the executive altlowance for Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn only.

Benefits continuation for termination without Cause (all executives) or for Good Reason (Mr. Mitchell only)
absent a CIC reflects 18 months (24 months for Mr. Mitchell) continuation of Alpharma’s health and welfare
program available to the executive.

Benefits continuation for termination without Cause or for Good Reason following a CIC or following a Sale
of the Business Unit (for Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn) reflects 30 months (36 months for
Mr. Mitchell and 24 months for Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn) continuation of Alpharma’s health and welfare
program available to the executive.
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(6

(N

(8)

®

Reflects the equity value as of 12/31/07 based on the FYE stock price of $20.15. Under the termination as a
result of “Retirement” absent a CIC, the executive will be entitled to vested stock options and pro-rated
unvested restricted stock. However, the executive is not of retirement age as of 12/31/07, therefore is not
eligible for pro-rated unvested restricted stock. Under the termination as a result of “Disability” or “Death”
absent a CIC, the executive will be entitled 1o vested and unvested stock options, unvested restricted stock and
restricted stock units. Under the “Involuntary Termination for Cause” absent a CIC, all vested and unvested
stock options will be immediately terminated and no longer exercisable. Under the situations of “Involuntary
Termination without Cause” or “Involuntary Termination for Good Reason” absent a CIC, the executive will
be entitled to vested stock options (all executives) and unvested “Sign-on Restricted Stock Grant” defined in
the employment agreement (Mr. Mitchell only). As of 12/31/07, the Sign-on Restricted Stock Grant of
40,000 shares were unvested and will fully vest. All other unvested awards will be forfeited. Under the
situations of “Involuntary Termination without Cause”, “Involuntary Termination for Good Reason” fol-
lowing a CIC or following a Sale of the Business Unit (for Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn), the
executive will be entitled to vested and unvested stock options, unvested restricted stock and restricted stock
units.

Reflects the vested balance in the Pension Plan, Supplemental Pension Plan, 401(k) plan and Supplemental
Savings Plans under all the situations, except for termination as a result of “Death”. If the executive is
terminated as a result of “Death” as of 12/31/07, his spouse or designated beneficiary will be entitled to 50%
(100% for Messrs. Mitchell and Carlsson) of the vested benefits under the Alpharma Pension Plan and
Supplemental Pension Plan as the pre-retirement death benefit.

Reflects the maximum payouts for disability. Payment will vary depending on nature of disabling loss.
Disability coverage for Mr. Carlsson was not available.

Reflects the maximum life insurance payout assuming an accidental pre-retirement death.

{10} Under the Retention Agreements for Mr. Carlsson, Dr. Warner and Ms. Wrenn, each executive is eligible to

receive a payment for professional outplacement services.

(11} None of the executive’s parachute payments trigger the 280G tax gross-up payment.
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PROPOSAL TO APPROVE THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF
THE ALPHARMA INC. 2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

The Company’s shareholders are being asked to approve the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc.
2003 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan™). A general discussion of the principal terms of the
proposed amendment and the Plan subsequent to such amendment are set forth below. This description is qualified
in its entirety by reference to the Plan, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A to this Proxy Statement. A copy of
the Plan is also available, without charge, upon written request to “Investor Relations” at the Company’s offices
located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807,

In accordance with the listing requirements of the NYSE, sharcholder approval of the amendment and
restatement of the Plan requires the affirmative vote of a majority of vores cast on the proposal where total votes cast
represent over 50% of all shares entitled to vote. Abstentions will be counted in determining whether the votes cast
represent 30% of the shares entitled to vote on the proposal, but will have the effect of a negative vote with respect 1o
approval of this proposal. Broker non-votes will be disregarded and will have no effect on the outcome of this
proposal.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT

The amendment to the Plan increases by 2,000,000 shares the total number of shares available for issuance
under the Plan. The maximum number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan, as
amended, may be not more than 6,750,000 shares of Class A Common Stock. Of the current authorized shares, as of
March 4, 2008, 1,855,562 shares were subject to outstanding options, 670,807 shares were subject to outstanding
restricted stock awards, 216,670 shares were subject to outstanding restricted stock unit awards, and 920,637 shares
were available for future awards,

To qualify under Section 162(m), the material terms under which the particular performance-based com-
pensation is to be paid, including the performance goals, must be disclosed to and approved by shareholders. Such
shareholder approval must be obtained under Section 162{m) prior to payment of the compensation, Section 162(m)
requires that the disclosure to shareholders must be specific enough so that shareholders can determine the
“maximum amount” of compensation that could be payable to the employee under a performance goal during a
specifted period. The amendment to the Plan increases the limit on the maximum amount of stock-based awards
(from 100,000 to 300,000 shares) and the maximum amount of cash-based awards (from $1,000,000 to $2,000,000)
that one participant may receive in a single fiscal year.

The amount of a Plan participant’s award for any calendar year will be based upon performance goals
established by the Compensation Committee relating to one or more business criteria that apply to a Plan
participant. The permissible list of performance goals under the Plan has been expanded to include clinical work
targets and regulatory targets. As such, the full list of permissible performance goals under the Plan is as follows: net
earnings; earnings per share; net sales growth; net income (before or after taxes); net operating profit; return
measures (including, but not limited to, return on assets, capital, equity, or sales); cash flow (including but not
limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow); cash flow return on capital; earnings before or after taxes,
interest, depreciation, and/or amortization; gross or operating margins; productivity ratios; revenue growth; share
price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return); expense targets; margins;
operating efficiency; customer satisfaction; economic value added; employee satisfaction metrics; human resources
metrics; working capital targets; clinical work targets; and regulatory targets (collectively referred to as “Perfor-
mance Measures”). Any Performance Measure may be used to measure the performance of the Company as a whole
or any business unit of the Company, and any Performance Measure may be adjusted to include or exclude the
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following special items: asset write-downs; litigation claims or settlements; the effect of changes in applicable law
or accounting principles; any reorganization or restructuring; extraordinary non-recurting items; acguisitions or
divestitures; and foreign exchange gains or losses. Awards for a calendar year will be payable to participants under
the Plan following the close of such year, but not earlier than the date on which the Compensation Committee
certifies in writing that the performance goals have been achieved. Shareholder approval will constitute approval of
these performance goals for purposes of awards to Covered Employees for deductibility under Section 162(m) of
the Code.

The amendment to the Plan also removes the limit on the number of shares which may be issued for Awards
other than stock options or SARs and effects a series of technical revisions in order to address changes in the way the
Plan is administered, mainly as the result of recent tax and accounting developments.

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

Shares Available for Issuance

The aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan will not exceed
6,750,000 (subject to the adjustment provisions discussed below),

Administration and Eligibility

The Plan will be administered by a Committee of the Board (the “Committee™) consisting of two or more
directors, each of whom will qualify as a “non-employee director” within the meaning set forth in Rule 16b-3 under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and as an “outside director” under
Section 162(m) of the Code. The Committee will approve the aggregate Awards and the individual Awards for the
most senior elected officers and non-employee directors. The Committee may delegate the administration of the
Plan in accordance with the terms of the Plan. Individuals eligible to participate in the Plan (“Participants™) include
all full-time, permanent employees of the Company as well as.all members of the Board.

Participants may not receive in any fiscal year (subject to the adjustment provisions discussed below): (i) stock
options relating to more than 500,000 shares; (ii) restricted stock or restricted stock units relating to more than
300,000 shares; (iii) SARs relating to more than 500,000 shares; (iv) performance shares or performance units
relating to more than 300,000 shares; (v} stock-based awards relating to more than 300,000 shares; or (iv) cash-
based awards exceeding $2,000,000.

Plan Benefits

Future grants under the Plan are discretionary and are not currently determinable. During fiscal year 2007, the
total number of stock options awarded under the Plan to the NEOs and to the executive officers as a group, and to
other employees as a group were: Mr. Mitchell, President & Chief Executive Officer, 99,500; Mr. Campbell,
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, 28,000; Mr. Carlsson, President, API, 18,000; Dr. Warner,
President, Pharmaceuticals, 22,000; Ms. Wrenn, President, Animal Health, 22,000; Mr. Wrobel, former Executive
Vice President, Chief Legal Officer & Secretary, 0; and all executive officers as a group, 279,500,

During fiscal year 2007, the total number of restricted stock unit awards granted under the Plan for non-
employee directors as a group was 28,143. ’

During fiscal year 2007, the total number of performance-based restricted stock unit awards (which were later
amended to eliminate the performance component of vesting as discussed above in the “Plan Award Terms” section
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following the Grants of Plan-Based Award Table) granted under the Plan to the NEQOs and executive officers as a
group were: Mr. Mitchell, President & Chief Executive Officer, 22,000; Mr. Campbell, Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer, 6,200, Mr. Carlsson, President, API, 4,700; Dr. Warner, President, Pharmaceuticals, 4,700,
Ms. Wrenn, President, Animal Health, 4,700; Mr, Wrobel, former Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer &
Secretary, 0; and all executive officers as a group, 58,550.

Awards
Stock Options

The Committee is authorized to grant stock options to Participants (“Optionees™), which may be either
incentive stock options (“ISOs™) or nonqualified stock options (*NQSQO™), and determines the number of shares
subject to each such option. [SOs and NQSOs are collectively referred to as “Stock Options.” The exercise price of
any Stock Option is determined by the Committee and must be equal to or greater than the fair market value of the
shares on the date of the grant; provided, however, that NQSOs granted outside the United States may be granted
with an exercise price less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of the grant if necessary to utilize a
locally available tax advantage. The term of a Stock Option cannot exceed 10 years, unless such option is granted to
an Optionee outside of the United States, due to local country laws and accounting treatment. ISOs may not be
granted more than 10 years after the date that the Plan was adopted by the Company’s stockholders. At the time of
grant, the Committee in its sole discretion will determine when Stock Options are exercisable and when they expire.
Under no circumstances may outstanding Stock Options be transferable for consideration.

For purposes of the Plan, fair market value is determined in such manner as the Committee may deem
equitable, or as required by applicable law or regulation. The market value of the Class A Common Stock
underlying the Stock Options as of March 4, 2008 was $25.30. '

Payment for shares purchased upon exercise of a Stock Option must be made in full at the time of purchase.
Payment may be made in cash, by transferring to the Company, in accordance with FASB Statement No. 123(R),
shares owned by the Participant valued at fair market value on the date of transfer, or in such other manner as may be
authorized by the Committee.

SARs

The Committee has the authority to grant SARs (in tandem with Stock Options or freestanding) to Participants
and to determine the number of shares subject to each SAR, the term of the SAR, the time or times at which the SAR
may be exercised, and all other terms and conditions of the SAR. The term of a SAR cannot exceed 10 years, unless
such SAR is granted to a participant outside of the United States, due to local country laws and accounting
treatment. A SAR is aright, denominated in shares, to receive, upon exercise of the right, in whole or in part, without
payment to the Company, an amount, payable in shares, in cash or a combination thereof, that is equat to: (i) the
difference between the fair market value of Common Stock on the date of exercise of the right over the grant price of
the SAR, multiplied by (ii) the number of shares for which the right is exercised. The grant price of a freestanding
SAR is based on 100% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant, and the grant price of a
tandem SAR will be equal to the option price of the related Stock Option. Under no circumstances may outstanding
SARs be transferable for consideration.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

Restricted Stock consists of shares which are transferred or sold by the Company to a Participant, but are
subject to substantial risk of forfeiture and to restrictions on their sale or other transfer by the Participant. Restricted
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Stock Units are the right to receive shares at a future date in accordance with the terms of such grant upon the
attainment of certain conditions specified by the Committee.

The Commitiee determines the eligible Participants to whom, and the time or times at which, grants of
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units will be made, the number of shares or units to be granted, the price to be
paid, if any, the time or times within which the shares covered by such grants will be subject to forfeiture, the time or
times at which the restrictions will terminate, and all other terms and conditions of the grants. Restrictions or
conditions could include, but are not limited to, the attainment of performance goals (as described below),
continuous service with the Company, the passage of time or other restrictions or conditions.

Subject to the discretion and approval of the Board, each director will receive a grant of Restricted Stock Units
immediately following each annual meeting of stockholders of the Company, the number of which will be
determined by the Board and may be based on a specific dollar amount. A director will be fully vested in all units,
subject to the terms of the award agreement, upon death, disability or retirement from the Board. If a director
voluntarily resigns from his or her position as a director, other than as a result of disability or retirement, all unvested
Restricted Stock Units will be automatically forfeited.

Performance Stock/Performance Units

A Participant who is granted Performance Stock or Performance Units has the right to receive shares or cash or
a combination of shares and cash equal to the fair market value of such shares at a future date in accordance with the
terms of such grant and upon the attainment of performance goals specified by the Committee. The award of
Performance Stock or Performance Units to a Participant will not create any rights in such Participant as a
stockholder of the Company until the issuance of Common Stock with respect to an award.

Stock-Based Awards

The Committee may award other types of equity-based or equity-related awards to Participants, including
shares of Common Stock or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of shares, without payment
therefor, as additional compensation for service to the Company or a subsidiary. Stock-based awards may be subject
to other terms and conditions, which may vary from time to time and among Participants, as the Committee
determinks to be appropriate.

Cash-Based Awards

A cash-based award consists of a monetary payment made by the Company to a Participant as additional
compensation for his or her services to the Company or a subsidiary. A cash award may be made in tandem with
another award or may be made independently of any other award. Cash awards may be subject to other terms and
conditions, including performance goals, which may vary from time to time and among Participants, as the
Committee determines to be appropriate.

Performance Measures

Awards of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Stock, Performance Units and other
incentives under the Plan may be made subject to the attainment of performance measures relating to one or
more of the following business criteria within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code: net earnings; earnings per
share; net sales growth; net income (before or after taxes); net operating profit; return measures (including, but not
limited to, return on assets, capital, equity, or sales); cash flow (including but not limited to, operating cash flow and
free cash flow): cash flow return on capilal; earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or
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amortization; gross or operating margins; productivity ratios; revenue growth; share price (including, but not
limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return); expense targets; margins; operating efficiency; customer
satisfaction; economic value added; employee satisfaction metrics; human resources metrics; working capital
targets; clinical work targets; and regulatory targets (collectively referred to as “Performance Measures™).

Any Performance Measure may be used to measure the performance of the Company as a whole or any
business unit of the Company, and any Performance Measure may be adjusted, subject to Section 162(m) of the
Code, to include or exclude the following specific events: asset write-downs; litigation claims or settlements; the
effect of changes in applicable law or accounting principles; any reorganization or restructuring; extraordinary non-
recurring items; acquisitions or divestitures; and foreign exchange gains or losses.

Annual Incentive Awards

The Committee has the authority to grant Annual Incentive Awards to designated executive officers of the
Company or any subsidiary. Annual Incentive Awards, in the event awarded, will be paid out of an incentive pool
equal to 10% of the Company’s net income for each fiscal year. The Committee will allocate an incentive pool
percentage to each designated Participant for each fiscal year. In no event may the incentive pool percentage for any
one Participant exceed 30% of the total pool or $2,500,000, For purposes of the Plan, “net income” will mean the
consolidated net income of the Company for the fiscal year, computed in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. After the determination of the incentive pool, the Participants’ incentive awards are
determined by the Committee based on a percentage of the incentive pool established by the Committee at the
beginning of the fiscal year, subject to adjustment in the sole discretion of the Committee. In no event may the
portion of the incentive pool allocated to a Participant who is a Covered Employee be increased in any way,
including as a result of the reduction of any other Participant’s allocated portion.

Amendment of the Plan

The Company, acting through its Board, has the right and power to amend the Plan; provided, however, that the
Plan may not be amended in a manner which would impair or adversely affect the rights of the holder of an Award
without the holder’s consent. If the Code or any other applicable statute, rule or regulation, including, but not limited
to, those of any securities exchange, requires stockholder approval with respect to the Plan or any type of
amendment thereto, then to the extent so required, stockholder approval will be obtained. The Board has also
delegated to the Benefits Committee the authority to adopt administrative amendments to the Plan so long as such
amendments do not involve a change in the costs or liability of the Company or alter the benefits payable under the
Plan. Subject to the Code or regulations thereunder, the Board has also delegated to the Compensation Committee
the authority to adopt all other amendments to the Plan that do not significantly increase or decrease benefit
amounts,

Termination of the Plan

The Company, acting through its Board, may terminate the Plan at any time only to the extent permitted under
Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder. Termination will not in any manner impair or adversely
affect any Award outstanding at the time of termination.

Modification

Any Award granted may be converted, modified, forfeited, or canceled, in whole or in part, by the Committee if
and to the extent permitted in the Plan, or applicable agreement entered into in connection with an Award grant or
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with the consent of the Participant to whom such Award was granted. The Committee may grant Awards on terms
and conditions different than those specified in the Plan to comply with the laws and regulations of any foreign
jurisdiction, or to make the Awards more effective under such laws and regulations.

Neither the Board nor the Committee, without the prior approval of the Company’s stockholders, may reprice,
replace or regrant any outstanding Stock Option through cancellation or by lowering the exercise price of a
previously granted option. In addition, no SAR issued under the Plan may be repriced, replaced, or regranted
through cancellation, or by lowering the grant price.

Change in Control

The effect, if any, on Awards upon a Change in Control will be set forth in the Company’s Change in Control
Plan as in effect from time to time or pursuant to specific action by the Board.

Adjustments

If there is any change in the Common Stock by reason of any unusual or nonrecurring event, such as a stock
split, stock dividend, spin-off, split-up, spin-out, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, reorganization, combi-
nation, or exchange of shares, then the totat number of shares available for Awards, the maximum number of shares
which may be subject to an award in any calendar year, the number of shares subject to outstanding Awards, and the
price of each of the foregoing, as applicable, will be equitably adjusted by the Committee in its discretion. In the
case of an unusual or nonrecurring event that is determined by the Committee to be an equity restructuring under
FASB Statement 123(R), then the terms and conditions of Awards will be appropriately adjusted by the Committee.

Subject to any Change in Control provisions set forth in Award Agreements or elsewhere, and without
affecting the number of shares reserved or available hereunder, either the Board or the Committee may authorize the
issuance or assumption of Awards in connection with any merger, consolidation, acquisition of property or stock, or
reorganization upon such terms and conditions as it deems appropriate. ‘

Reusage

If a Stock Option granted under the Plan expires or is terminated, surrendered or canceled without having been
fully exercised or if Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares or SARs granted under the Plan
are forfeited or terminated without the issuance of all of the shares subject thereto, the shares covered by such
Awards will again be available for use under the Plan. Shares covered by an Award granted under the Plan would not
be counted as used unless and until they are actually issued and delivered to a Participant. Shares withheld to pay
withholding taxes in connection with the exercise or payment of an Award will not be counted as used. Shares
covered by an Award granted under the Plan that is settled in cash will not be counted as used.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following is a brief description of the federal income tax consequences generally arising under present law
with respect to awards that may be granted under the Plan:

IS0y

An Optionee does not generally recognize taxable income upon the grant or upon the exercise of an ISO. Upon
the sale of ISO shares, the Optionee recognizes income in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the

. exercise price of the ISQ shares and the fair market value of those shares on the date of sale. The income is taxed at
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long-term capital gains rates if the Optionee has not disposed of the stock within two years after the date of the grant
of the ISO and has held the shares for at least one year after the date of exercise and the Company is not entitled 10 a
federal income tax deduction. The holding period requirements are waived when an Optionee dies.

The exercise of an ISO may in some cases trigger liability for the alternative minimum tax.

If an Optionee sells ISO shares before having held them for at least one year after the date of exercise and two
years after the date of grant, the Optionee recognizes ordinary income to the extent of the lesser of: (i) the gain
realized upon the sale; or (it) the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the
date of exercise. Any additional gain is treated as long-term or short-term capital gain depending upon how long the
Optionee has held the 1SO shares prior to disposition. In the year of disposition, the Company receives a federal
income tax deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income which the Optionee recognizes as a result of the
disposition.

NQSOs

An Optionee does not recognize taxable income upon the grant of an NQSO. Upon the exercise of such a Stock
Option, the Optionee recognizes ordinary income to the extent the fair market value of the shares received upon
exercise of the NQSO on the date of exercise exceeds the exercise price. The Company receives an income tax
deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income that the Optionee recognizes upon the exercise of the Stock
Option.

Restricted Stock

A Participant who receives an award of Restricted Stock does not generally recognize taxable income at the
time of the award. Instead, the Participant recognizes ordinary income in the first taxable year in which his or her
interest in the shares becomes either: (i) freely transferable, or (ii) no longer subject to substantial risk of forfeiture.
The amount of taxable income is equal to the fair market value of the shares less the cash, if any, paid for the shares.

A Participant may elect to recognize income al the time he or she receives Restricted Stock in an amount equal
to the fair market value of the Restricted Stock (less any cash paid for the shares but irrespective of any risk of
forfeiture) on the date of the award.

The Company receives a compensation expense deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income
recognized by the Participant in the taxable year in which restrictions lapse (or in the taxable year of the award if, at
that time, the Participant had filed a timely election to accelerate recognition of income).

Other Awards

In the case of an exercise of a SAR or an award of Restricted Stock Units, Performance Stock, Performance
Units, or Common Stock or cash, the Participant will generally recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to
any cash received and the fair market value of any shares received on the date of payment or delivery. In that taxable
year, the Company will receive a federal income tax deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income which the
Participant has recognized.

Million Dollar Deduction Limitation

The Company may not deduct compensation of more than $§,000,000 that ts paid to an individual who, on the
last day of the taxable year, is either the Company’s chief executive officer or is among one of the four other most
highly-compensated officers for that taxable year (excluding the chief financial officer). The limitation on
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deductions does not apply to certain types of compensation, including qualified performance-based compensation.
The Company believes that Awards in the form of Stock Options, Performance Stock, Performance Units, SARs,
performance-based Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units and cash payments under Annual Incentive Awards
constitute qualified performance-based compensation and, as such, will be exempt from the $1,000,000 limitation
on deductible compensation.

The foregoing provides only a general description of the application of federal income tax laws to certain types
of awards under the Plan. This discussion is intended to assist shareholders in considering how to vote at the Annual
Meeting and not as tax guidance to participants in the Plan, as the consequences may vary with the types of awards
made, the identity of the recipients and the method of payment or settlement. Different tax rules may apply in the
case of variations permitted under the Plan. The summary does not address the effects of all federal taxes,
employment taxes or taxes imposed under state, local or foreign tax laws.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR”
THE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE
ALPHARMA INC. 2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN.
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PROPOSAL TO APPROVE THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF
THE ALPHARMA INC. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Company’s shareholders are being asked to approve the amendment and restatement of the Alpharma Inc,
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) to (1) increase the number of authorized shares available for issuance
under the ESPP and (2) allow the expansion of the class of employees eligible to participate in the ESPP to re-
include the employees of the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients business (“API") should the sale of API be
terminated. A general discussion of the principal terms of the ESPP and the proposed amendment are set forth
below. This description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the ESPP, a copy of which is attached as
Appendix B to this Proxy Statement. A copy of the ESPP is also available, without charge, upon written request to
“Investor Relations™ at the Company’s offices located at 440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807,

In accordance with the listing requirements of the NYSE, shareholder approval of the amendment and
restatement of the ESPP requires the affirmative vote of a majority of votes cast on the proposal where total votes
cast represent over 50% of all shares entitled to vote. Abstentions will be counted in determining whether the votes
cast represent 50% of the shares entitled to vote on the proposal, but witl have the effect of a negative vote with
respect to approval of this proposal. Broker non-votes will be disregarded and will have no effect on the outcome of
this proposal.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT

The amendment to the ESPP increases by 500,000 shares the total number of shares available for issuance
under the ESPP. The maximum number of shares of Class A Commen Stock that may be issued under the ESPP, as
amended, may be not more than 2,150,000 shares of Class A Common Stock. Of the current authorized shares, as of
March 4, 2008, 85,380 shares were available for future purchases.

The amendment to the ESPP also states that employees of API will be excluded from the class of employees
eligible to participate in the ESPP after March 31, 2008, the last day of the first fiscal quarter in 2008, in anticipation
of the closing of the sale of AP (the “Transaction™). As previously announced by the Company on February 6, 2008,
the closing of the Transaction is currently anticipated to occur during the second quarter of 2008. However, under
the terms of the amended and restated ESPP, should the closing of the Transaction not occur prior to August 1, 2008,
then the employees of APl will once again be eligible to participate in the ESPP, effective on the first day of the
following calendar quarter.

SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE PLAN

Plan Administration

The ESPP is administered by the Benefits Committee (the *“ Benefits Committee™), which consists of executive
officers of the Company. Members of the Benefits Committee are designated by and may be removed at the
discretion of the Board. The Benefits Committee is responsible for the management and general administration of
the ESPP, including determining those employees eligible to participate, interpreting provisions of the ESPP,
adopting rules which may be necessary in the operation of the ESPP and delegating certain of its duties to an agent
to facilitate the purchase and transfer of shares.
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Eligibility and Participation

An employee of the Company is eligible to participate in the ESPP if he or she (i) regularly works at least
9 months during the calendar year, (ii) has an average work week of at least 20 hours during the period worked,
(iii) has attained age 18, (iv) does not, and will not by reason of participating in the ESPP, own stock in the Company
possessing 5% or more of the total combined voting power or the value of all classes of stock of the Company or its
subsidiaries, and (v) is not an employee of a domestic or international subsidiary of Alpharma which s (a) prohibited
by law from participating in the ESPP, or (b) in the discretion of the executive management Benefits Committee (for
purposes of this proposal, the “Committee™), precluded from participating in the ESPP by government regulation or
other action. Effective March 31, 2008, the employees of the API business will not be eligible to participate in the
ESPF, However, under the terms of the amended and restated ESPP, should the closing of the Transaction not occur
prior to August [, 2008, then the employces of API will once again be eligible to participate in the ESPP, effective
on the first day of the following calendar quarter.

Participation in the ESPP is entirely voluntary. As of January 1, 2008, approximately 2,000 employees were
eligible to participate in the ESPP, and 655 employees had elected to participate.

Plan Benefits

The number of shares that may be purchased by any participant under the ESPP is not currently determinable
because the number is determined based on the amount contributed by the participant. During fiscal year 2007, the
total number of shares purchased under the ESPP by the NEOs, the executive officers as a group and other
employees as a group were: Mr. Mitchell, President & Chief Executive Officer, 1,644; Mr. Campbell, Executive
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer, 940; Mr. Carlsson, President, API, 1,030; Dr. Warner, President,
Pharmaceuticals, 1,054; Ms. Wrenn, President, Amimal Health, 1,003; Mr. Wrobe!, former Executive Vice
President, Chief Legal Officer & Secretary, 486; all executive officers as a group, 7,745; and all employees as
a group, 101,227. Non-employee directors are not eligible to participate in the ESPP. The average per share
purchase price of these shares was $23.68.

Shares Subject to the ESPP

The shares to be offered under the ESPP are shares of Class A Common Stock. The aggregate number of shares
that may be issued under the ESPP will not exceed 2,150,000 (subject to the adjustment provisions discussed
below).

Contributions

All contributions made under the ESPP are credited to a cash account established on behalf of each participant
by payroll deduction each payroll period. At the end of each calendar guarter, the amount in each cash account is
used to purchase shares on behalf of the participant.

Employee Contributions. Each participant can contribute between 1% and 4% (in whole percentages) of his
or her compensation paid by the Company during the plan quarter. For purposes of the ESPP, “compensation”
includes any salary reduction amounts credited to deferred compensation programs but excludes commissions,
overtime pay, bonus and other incentive compensation. A participant may increase or decrease his or her rate of
contributions or withdraw from participation at any time.

Company Matching Contributions. On the last day of each plan quarter, the Company makes a matching
contribution to each participant’s cash account equat to 50% of the participant’s contributions made during that plan
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quarter. The Company, in its sole discretion and with the consent of the committee, may elect to make additional
contributions to cash accounts of participants in excess of the matching contributions. The Benefits Commitice may
allocate its veluntary contributions among participants in any mananer, and in any proportion, as the Company
desires. As of March 4, 2008, the Company has not made any such voluntary contributions.

Purchasing Shares

Prior to the end of each plan quarter, the Benefits Committee will determine the number of shares to be
purchased for the benefit of participants, and whether such shares are to be purchased on the open market, by private
purchase, or from the Company. With respect to shares purchased on the open market, the cost per share to
participants will be determined by the actual average price per share paid for the shares. Shares purchased by private
purchase will be at a cost equal to the average closing market price on the NYSE on the dates such shares were
actually purchased. Shares purchased from the Company will be at a cost equal to the average closing market price
on the NYSE during such plan quarter. Shares purchased from the Company may be from currently or subsequently
authorized and unissued shares or shares anthorized, issued and owned now or hereafter by the Company. The
number of whole or fractional shares purchased on each participant’s behalf is deposited in each participant’s share
account at the end of each plan quarter.

Voting and Other Rights

Participants have the right to vote the shares held in their accounts. Shares held in the share accounts under the
ESPP also carry full rights to receive any dividends which may be declared by the Company. Any cash dividends
paid by the Company are automatically reinvested in shares of Class A Common Stock which are added to the share
account.

Withdrawal Rights and Termination of Employment

A participant may withdraw or transfer the shares held in his or her share account at any time, subject to any
restrictions that the Benefits Committee may impose in its discretion. In the event of a participant’s retirement,
death, resignation or discharge, he or she will cease to be eligible to participate in the ESPP. As soon as
administratively practicable after retirement, death, resignation or discharge, the participant {or designated
beneficiary of the participant in the event of your death) will receive a share certificate for the number of whole
shares held in the participant’s share account, together with a check for any balance in the participant’s cash account
plus the value of any fractional share held in the participant’s share account.

Non-Assignability
Benefits or rights which a part1c1pant may expect to receive (contingent or otherwise) under the ESPP may not
be assigned or pledged.

Capitalization Adjustments

If a stock split or stock dividend is declared by the Company, the number of shares held in each share account
will automatically be adjusted to reflect the change in the number of shares resulting from the stock split.or stock
dividend. In the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, merger, consolidation or other event causing
an increase or change in the shares, the Benefits Committee will make appropriate changes in the number and type
of shares that remain available for purchase under the ESPP at the time of such event.
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Termination and Amendment

The Company, acting through the Board, may amend the ESPP at any time provided, that no such amendment
may affect any participant’s right to the contributions made by such participant and by the Company prior to the date
of the amendment. The Board has delegated to the Benefits Committee the authority to adopt administrative
amendments to the ESPP, so long as the amendments do not involve any change in the costs or liability of the
Company or alter the benefits payable under the ESPP. The Board has delegated to the Compensation Committee
the authority to adopt all other amendments to the ESPP, provided that such amendments do not significantly
increase or decrease benefit amounts, or are required to be adopted by the Board under the Code or the regulations
thereunder, The Board retains authority to adopt amendments to the ESPP that significantly increase or decrease
benefit amounts.

The Company, acting through the Board, may terminate the ESPP at the end of any plan quarter, In the event of
termination of the ESPP, the Benefits Committee will make an allocation of shares to the share accounts of the
participants in the usual manner. As soon as practicable, the Benefits Committee will distribute to each participant
share certificate for the number of whole shares held in the participant’s share account, together with a check for any
balance in the participant’s cash account plus the value of any fractional share held in the participant’s share
account,

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a brief description of the federal income tax consequences generally arising under present law
with respect to shares purchased under the ESPP.

The ESPP is not a tax-qualified “employee stock purchase plan” within the meaning of Section 423(b) of the
Code. As such, contributions by participants are made on an after-tax basis. Matching contributions paid by the
Company are considered taxable income to the participant at the time such contributions are made, For each type of
contribution made, all applicable income, social security and unemployment taxes are withheld by the Company.

Cash dividends credited to a participant’s share account are considered taxable income to the participant. There
is no taxable income to a participant at the time that shares are withdrawn from the share account. If a participant
sells his or her shares, the participant is required to report a taxable gain or loss on his or her tax return. Generally, a
participant will report a gain if the proceeds of the sale are more than the “cost” of the shares or a loss if the proceeds
of the sale are less than the “cost” of the shares. For this purpose, “cost” is equal to a participant’s contributions plus
matching contributions and dividends credited to the account. The gain or loss on the sale of shares will be treated as
either long-term or short-term capital gain depending upon the length of time that the participant held the shares
before selling them.

The foregoing provides only a general description of the application of federal income tax laws to the purchase
of shares under the ESPP. This discussion is intended to assist shareholders in considering how to vote at the Annual
Meeting and not as tax guidance to participants in the ESPP. The summary does not address the effects of all federal
taxes, employment taxes or taxes imposed under state, local or foreign tax laws.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR”
THE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF THE ALPHARMA INC.
EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN.
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PROPOSAL TO RATIFY APPOINTMENT OF
BDO SEIDMAN, LLP AS THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE 2008 FISCAL YEAR

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and the full Board of Directors has approved BDO Seidman,
LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm to audit its consolidated financial statements
for the 2008 fiscal year. During the 2007 fiscal year, BDO Seidman, LLP served as the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm and also provided certain other audit related accounting services. The Company is
not required to seek Stockholder ratification for the appointment of its independent accountants, however, the Board
of Directors believes it to be sound corporate practice to seek such ratification. Representatives from BDO Seidman,
LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to any appropriate questions, and they will be given the
opportunity to make a statement to the stockholders.

Ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2008
requires the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock present
in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. Abstentions would have the same effect as a vote
against ratification. If the appointment is not ratified, the Audit Committee will investigate the reasons for
Stockholder rejection and the Board of Directors will reconsider the appointment.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION
OF THE APPOINTMENT OF BDO SEIDMAN, LLP AS THE COMPANY’S INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE 2008 FISCAL YEAR.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed or expected to be billed by BDO Seidman, LLP, the
Company's independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, for
professional services rendered in connection with the audits of the Company’s financial statements and reports for fiscal
years 2007 and 2006 and for other services rendered during fiscal years 2007 and 2006 on behalf of the Company and its
subsidiaries, as well as all “out-of-pocket” costs incurred in connection with these services, which have been or will be
billed to the Company:

2067 2006
Audit Fees(1) ... .o oon i $1,896,221  $2,085,980
Audit-Related Fees(2) .. ......oooveniiiniaine... JUNUR $ 149,800 0
Tax Fees .. ... . e e e 0 0
AllOther Fees. . ... ... ou i 0 0
TOtal(3) . - ot et e $2,046,021  $2,085,980

(1) Audit Fees for fiscal years 2007 and 2006 were for professional services rendered by the auditor for the audit
and review of the Company’s annual and quarterly financial statements and services provided in connection
with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

(2) Audit-Related Fees for fiscal year 2007 were for assurance and related services rendered by the auditor that
were related to the performance of the audit and review of the Company’s financial statements, but not included
in Audit Fees above. These services related primarily to increased audit procedures related to a business
segment that is being divested.
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(3) With the adoption of its Audit & Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy in May 2004, and subsequent
modification and re-approval, most recently in July 2006, the Audit Committee commenced pre-approval of
fees and services included within the scope of its policy. During 2007, the Audit Committee did not utilize the
de minimis exception to pre-approval offered by the Commission, and as such, all fees disciosed above were
approved by the Committee.

Audit & Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy

Pursuant to its charter (available on the Company's website and in print — See “Corporate Governance;
Committees of the Board” above), the Audit Committee adopted its “Audit & Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval
Policy” in May 2004 to establish procedures by which it pre-approves all audit and non-audit services provided by
its independent auditor. This policy was subsequently re-approved on July 31, 2006. Through this policy, the Audit
Committee ensures that the audit and non-audit services provided by its independent auditor are compatible with
maintaining the independence of such auditor and maximizing efficiency overall. The Company’s policy sets forth a
list of those types of audit, audit-related and tax services that its independent auditor is permitted to provide, and
therefore have the general pre-approval of the Audit Committee. If a type of service has not received such “general”
pre-approval, it will require “specific” pre-approval by the Audit Committee, based on a review of facts and
circumstances, before such service may be provided by the independent auditor. Any proposed services exceeding
pre-approved cost levels or budgeted amounts will also require specific pre-approval by the Audit Committee. The
policy also sets forth those non-audit services that the Company’s independent auditor is prohibited from providing,
based upon legal requirements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding internal accounting and
financial controls, accounting principles and auditing practices, and it is responsible for the engagement of the
independent registered public accounting firm, the scope of the audits to be undertaken by such accountants,
administration of the Company’s Related Persons Transactions Policy and internal auditing. (See “Corporate
Governance; Committees of the Board” above for further information.} .

The Audit Committee reviews with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm the results
of its audit and of its interim quarterly reviews and the overall quality of the Company’s accounting policies. The
Company's independent registered public accounting firm assists management, as necessary, in updating the Audit
Committee concerning new accounting developments and their potential impact on the Company’s financial
reporting. The Audit Committee also meets regularly with the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm without management present. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses with management the Company’s
annual audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements, including the Company’s disclosures under
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The Audit Commitiee
also meets with Company management, without the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm
present, to discuss management’s evaluation of the performance of the independent registered public accounting
firm.

The Audit Committee also meets regularly with the Company’s internal audit director to discuss the
Company’s internal audit process and the results of ongoing or recently completed internal audits.

66




With respect to fiscal year 2007, the Audit Committee;

« reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited financial statements with BDO Seidman, LLP and with
management;

* discussed with BDO Seidman, LLP the scope of its services, including its audit plan;
» reviewed the Company’s internal control processes and procedures;

* discussed with BDO Seidman, LLP the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards
No. 61, Communicaticn with Audit Committees, as amended;

* reviewed the written disclosures and confirmation from BDO Seidman, LLP required by Independence
Standards Board Standard No. 1, Independence Discussions with Audit Committees, and discussed with
BDO Seidman, LLP their independence from management and the Company; and

« approved the audit and non-audit services provided by BDO Seidman, LLP during fiscal year 2007.

Based on the foregoing review and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors
that the audited financiat statements be included in the Company’s Annual Repert on Form 10-K for fiscal year
2007. The Audit Committee also evaluated and recommended to the Board of Directors the reappointment of BDO
Seidman, LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2008,

Pursvant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, management is required to prepare, as part of the
Company’s 2007 Annnal Report on Form 10-K, a report by management on its assessment of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting, including management’s assessment of the effectiveness of such internal
control. BDO Seidman, LLP has issued an audit report relative to internal control over financial reporting. During
the course of fiscal year 2007, management regularly discussed its internal control review and assessment process
with the Audit Committee, including the framework used to evaluate the effectiveness of such internal controls, and
at regular intervals updated the Audit Committee on the status of this process and actions taken by managerment to
respond to issues identified during this process. The Audit Committee also discussed this process with BDO
Seidman, LLP. Management’s assessment report and the auditors’ audit report are included as part of the 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This report of the Audit Committee shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that
the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference.

By the Audit Committee:
Finn Berg Jacobsen (Chairman)

Ramon M. Perez
Peter G. Tombros
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Certain Other Relationships and Transactions

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, there were no transactions with the Company in which any
related person had a direct or indirect material interest that would need to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of
Regulation S-K, and there are currently no proposed plans for any such transaction.

STOCKHOLDERS’ PROPOSALS FOR THE 2009 ANNUAL MEETING

In order to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
Stockholder proposals must be received at the Company’s principal executive offices on or before November 20,
2008. Such proposals will need to comply with Commission regulations regarding the inclusion of Stockholder
proposals in Company-sponsored proxy materials. Similarly, in order for a Stockholder proposal to be raised from
the floor during next year’s annual meeting, written notice must be received at the principal executive offices of the
Company no earlier than December 9, 2008, nor later than January 8, 2009 in accordance with the Company’s
Bylaws.

OTHER BUSINESS

As of the date hereof, the foregoing is the only business which management intends to present, or is aware that
* others will present, at the Annual Meeting. If any other proper business should be presented at the Annval Meeting,
the proxies will be voted in respect thereof in accordance with the discretion and judgment of the person or persons
voting the proxies.

. Stockholders sharing a common address may receive only one set of proxy materials to such address unless

they have provided the Company with contrary instructions. Any such stockholder who wishes to receive a separate
set of proxy materials now or in the future may write or call the Company by contacting: Secretary, Alpharma Inc.,
440 Route 22 East, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807, or (866) 322-2525. Similarly, Stockholders sharing a common
address who have received multiple copies of the Company’s proxy materials may write or call the above address
and phone number to request delivery of a single copy of these materials in the future.

By order of the Board of Directors,
Thomas J. Spellman 11

Secretary
ALPHARMA INC.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT
PLEASE PROMPTLY COMPLETE AND SIGN THE ENCLOSED
FORM OF PROXY AND RETURN IT IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE
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ALPHARMA INC.
2003 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN
February 22, 2008

Article 1. Establishment, Purpose, and Duration

1.1 Establishment of the Plan. Alpharma Inc., a Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company™), establishes an incentive compensation plan to be known as the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan (hereinafter referred to as the “Plan™), as set forth in this document.

The Plan permits the grant of Annual Incentive Awards, Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options,
Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”), Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance
Units, Cash-Based Awards, and Stock-Based Awards.

The Plan shall become effective upon stockholder approval of the Plan (the “Effective Date™) and shall remain
in effect as provided in Section 1.3 hereof. The Plan was last amended and restated in its entirety effective January 1,
2008. The Plan is being amended and restated in its entirety effective February 22, 2008.

With respect to awards/options granted under the Plan that are subject to Section 409A of the Code, the
Company intends that Section 409A of the Code, the regulations issued there under and any other applicable IRS
guidance shall apply.

1.2 Purpose of the Plan. 'The purpose of the Plan is to promote the success and enhance the value of the
Company by linking the personal interests of the Participants to those of the Company’s stockholders, and by
providing Participants with an incentive for outstanding performance.

The Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain
the services of Participants upon whose judgment, interest, and special effort the successful conduct of its operation
largely is dependent.

1.3 Duration of the Plan. The Plan shall commence as of the Effective Date, as described in Section 1.1
herein, and shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Committee or the Board of Directors to amend or
terminate the Plan at any time pursuant to Article 17 herein, until all Shares subject to the Plan have been purchased
or acquired according to the Plan’s provisions.

Article 2. Definitions

Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below, and when the meaning
is intended, the initial letter of the word shall be capitalized.

2.1 “Affiliate” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules and
Regulations of the Exchange Act.

2.2 “Annual Incentive Award” means an Award granted to a Participant as described in Article 12 herein.

2.3 “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under this Plan of Annual Incentive Awards,
Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, SARs, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Perfor-
mance Shares, Performance Units, Cash-Based Awards, or Stock-Based Awards.
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2.4 “Award Agreement” means either (i) an agreement entered into by the Company and each Participant
setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to Awards granted under this Plan; or (ii) a statement issued by the
Company to a Participant describing the terms and provisions of such Award.

2.5 “Beneficial Owner or Beneficial Ownership” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in rule 13d-3
of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act.

2.6 “Board” or “Board of Directors™ means the Board of Directors of the Company.
2.7 “Cash-Based Award” means an Award granted to a Participant as described in Article 10 herein.

2.8 “Cause” means a conviction of, or a plea of no contest to, a felony, habitual excessive use of drugs or
alcohol, unsatisfactory attendance, substantial and willful neglect of job duties, failure or inability to adequately
perform job duties (for a reason other than a disability that is protected under state or federal law), disclosure of
confidential information regarding the Company or its operations, or the aiding or assisting of any person or entity
which is competitive with the Company or its successors.

_The determination of whether an Employee is terminated for Cause or not for Cause (as it relates to eligibility
to receive benefits under the Plan) shall be made by the Committee in its sole discretion and shall be final and
conclusive.

2.9 “Change in Control” shall have the meaning set forth in the Company’s Change in Control Plan, as
amended and in effect from time to time, or any successor thereto.

2.10 “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any successor
thereto.

2.11 “Committee” means the compensation commitiee of the Board of Directors. The members of the
Committee shall be appointed from time to time by and shall serve in the manner provided in the constituent
documents of the Company.

2.12 “Company” means Alpharma Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto as provided in
Article 19 herein.

2.13 “Covered Employee” means a Participant who is a “covered employee,” as defined in Section 162(m) of
the Code and the regulations promulgated under Section 162(m) of the Code.

2.14 “Director” means any individual who is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.15 “Employee” means a full-time permanent salaried or hourly employee of the Company, as determined by
the Committee. An Employee shall not include any individual classified by the Company as a temporary employee,
a leased employee, or a Director (regardless of whether such individual is classified or retroactively reclassified as
an employee of the Company by any person, entity or agency).

2.16 “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any
successor act thereto.

2.17 “Fair Market Value” or “FMV" means a price that is based on the opening, closing, actual, high, low, or
average selling prices of a Share on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or other established stock exchange
{or exchanges) on the applicable date, the preceding trading day, the next succeeding trading day, or an average of
trading days, as determined by the Committee in its discretion.

A4




FMY shall be specified in the Award Agreement and may differ depending on whether FMYV is in reference to
the grant, exercise, vesting, or settlement or payout of an Award. If, however, the accounting standards used to
account for equity awards granted to Participants are substantially modified subsequent to the Effective Date of the
Plan, the Committee shall have the ability to determine an Award’s FMV based on the relevant facts and
circumstances. If Shares are not traded on an established stock exchange, FMV shall be determined by the
Committee based on objective criteria,

2.18 “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company; provided that if the Company changes the period for
its fiscal year, the prior fiscal year period shall continue to apply for purposes of the Award Limits specified in
Section 4.1, unless stockholder approval is obtained for the new fiscal year period under Section 4.1.

2.19 “Freestanding SAR” means an SAR that is granted independently of any Options, as described in
Article 7 herein.

2.20 “Grant Price” means the price at which a SAR may be exercised by a Participant, as determined by the
Committee and set forth in Section 7.1 herein.

2.21 “Incentive Stock Option” or “ISO” means an Option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 herein
and that is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and is intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the
Code, or any successor provision.

2.22 “Insider” shall mean an individual who is, on the relevant date, an officer, Director, or more than ten
percent (10%) Beneficial Owner of any class of the Company’s equity securities that is registered pursuant to
Section 12 of the Exchange Act, as determined by the Board in accordance with Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

2.23 “Nonqualified Stock Option” or “NQSO" means an Option to purchase Shares, granted under Article 6
herein, which is not intended to be an Incentive Stock Option or that otherwise does not meet such requirements.

2.24 “Option"” means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option, as described in Article 6
herein.

2.25 “Option Price” means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to an
Option, as determined by the Committee,

2.26 “Participant” means an Employee or Director who has been selected to receive an Award or who has an
outstanding Award granted under the Plan,

2.27 “Performance-Based Compensation” means compensation under an Award that is granted in order to
provide remuneration solely on account of the attainment of one or more preestablished, objective performance
goals under circumstances that satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m)} of the Code.

2.28 “Performance Measures” means measures as described in Article t1, the attainment of which may
determine the degree of payout and/or vesting with respect to Awards to Covered Employees that are designated to
qualify as Performance-Based Compensation. '

2.29 “Performance Period” means the period of time during which the performance goals must be met in
order to determine the degree of payout and/or vesting with respect to an Award.

2.30 “Performance Share” means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.

2.31 “Performance Unit” means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.
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2.32 “Period of Restriction” means the period when Awards are subject to forfeiture based on the passage of
time, the achievement of performance goals, or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the
Committee, at its discretion.

2.33 “Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and used
in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a “group” as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

2.34 “Restricted Stock” means an Award of Shares granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8 herein.
2.35 “Restricted Stock Unit” means an Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8 herein.
2.36 “Shares” means the Shares of Class A Common Stock of the Company.

2.37 “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means an Award, designated as an SAR, pursuant to the terms of
Article 7 herein.

2.38 “Stock-Based Award” means an Award granted pursuant to the terms of Section 10.7 herein.

2.39 “Subsidiary” means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, or other entity
{other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of entities beginning with the Company if each of the entities other
than the last entity in the unbroken chain owns more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power in
one of the other entities in such chain.

2.40 “Tandem SAR” means an SAR that is granted in connection with a related Option pursuant to Article 7
herein, the exercise of which shall require forfeiture of the right to purchase a Share under the related Option (and
when a Share is purchased under the Option, the Tandem SAR shall similarly be cancelled) or an SAR that is
granted in tandem with an Option but the exercise of such Option does not cancel the SAR, but rather results in the
exercise of the related SAR.

Article 3. Administration

3.1 General. The Committee shall be responsible for administering the Plan. The Committee may employ
attorneys, consultants, accountants, and other persons, and the Committee, the Company, and its officers and
Directors shall be entitled to rely upon the advice, opinions, or valuations of any such persons. All actions taken and
all interpretations and determinations made by the Committee shall be final, conclusive, and binding upon the
Participants, the Company, and all other interested parties.

3.2 Authority of the Committee. The Committee shall have full and exclusive discretionary power to
interpret the terms and the intent of the Plan and to determine eligibility for Awards and to adopt such rules,
regulations, and guidelines for administering the Plan as the Committee may deem necessary or proper. Such
authority shall include, but not be limited to, selecting Award recipients, establishing all Award terms and
conditions and, subject to Article 17, adopting modifications and amendments, or subplans to the Plan or any Award
Agreement, including without limitation, any that are necessary to comply with the laws of the countries in which
the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries operate.

3.3 Delegation. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more agents or
advisors such administrative duties as it may deem advisable, and the Committee or any person to whom it has
delegated duties as aforesaid may emptoy one or more persons to render advice with respect to any responsibility
the Committee or such person may have under the Plan. Except with respect to Awards to Insiders, the Committee
may, by resolution, authorize one or more officers of the Company to do one or both of the following: (a) designate
officers, Employees, or Directors of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries to be recipients of Awards;
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and (b) determine the size of the Award; provided, however, that the resolution providing such authorization sets
forth the total number of Awards such officer or officers may grant.

Article 4, Shares Subject to the Plan and Maximum Awards

4.1 Number of Shares Available for Awards. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.2 herein, the
number of Shares hereby reserved for issuance to Participants under the Plan shall be four million seven hundred
fifty thousand (4,750,000).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective February 22, 2008, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.2
herein, two million (2,000,000} additional number of Shares are hereby reserved for issuance to Participants under
the Plan.

Any Shares related to Awards which terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or otherwise without the
issuance of such Shares, are settled in cash in lieu of Shares, or are exchanged with the Committee’s permission for
Awards not involving Shares, shall be available again for grant under the Plan. Moreover, if the Option Price of any
Option granted under the Plan or the tax withholding requirements with respect to any Award granted under the Plan
are satisfied by tendering Shares to the Company (by either actual delivery or by attestation), or if an SAR is
exercised, only the number of Shares issued, net of the Shares tendered, if any, will be deemed delivered for
purposes of determining the maximum number of Shares available for delivery under the Plan. The maximum
number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan shall not be reduced to reflect any dividends or dividend
equivalents that are reinvested into additional Shares or credited as additional Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock
Units, Performance Shares, or Stock-Based Awards. In addition, the Committee, in its discretion, may establish any
other appropriate methodology for calculating the number of Shares issued pursuant to the Plan,

The Shares available for issuance under the Plan may be authorized and unissued Shares or treasury Shares.

Unless and until the Committee determines that an Award to a Covered Employee shall not be designed to
qualify as Performance-Based Compensation, the following limits (“Award Limits™) shall apply to grants of such
Awards under the Plan:

(a)} Options. The maximum aggregaie number of Shares that may be granted in the form of Options,
pursuant to any Award granted in any one Fiscal Year to any one Participant shall be five hundred thousand
{500,000).

(b) SARs. The maximum number of Shares that may be granted in the form of Stock Appreciation
Rights, pursuant to any Award granted in any one Fiscal Year to any one Participant shall be five hundred
thousand (500,000).

(c) Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units. The maximum aggregate grant with respect to Awards of
Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units granted in any one Fiscal Year to any one Participant shall be three
hundred thousand (300,000).

{d) Performance Shares/Performance Units. The maximum aggregate Award of Performance Shares
or Performance Units that a Participant may receive in any one Fiscal Year shall be three hundred thousand
(300,000) Shares, or equal to the value of three hundred thousand (300,000) Shares determined as of the date of
vesting or payout, as applicable.

(e) Cash-Based Awards. The maximum aggregate amount awarded or credited with respect to Cash-
Based Awards to any one Participant in any one Fiscal Year may not exceed two million dollars ($2,000,000)
determined as of the date of vesting or payout, as applicable.
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() Stock Awards. The lﬁaximum aggregate grant with respect to Awards of Stock-Based Awards in any
one Fiscal Year to any one Participant shall be three hundred thousand (300,000) Shares.

{g) Annual Incentive Award. The maximum aggregate amount awarded or credited in any one Fiscal
Year with respect to an Annual Incentive Award to a Participant who is a Covered Employee shall be
determined in accordance with Article 12.

4.2 Adjustments in Authorized Shares. In the event of any corporate event or transaction (including, but not
limited to, a change in the Shares of the Company or the capitalization of the Company} such as a merger,
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up,
spin-off, or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, combination of securities, exchange of
securities, dividend in kind, or other like change in capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash
dividends) to stockholders of the Company, or any similar corporate event of transaction, the Committee, in its sole
discretion, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of Participants’ rights under the Plan, shall substitute or
adjust, in an equitable manner, as applicable, the number and kind of Shares that may be issued under the Plan, the
number and kind of Shares subject to outstanding Awards, the Option Price or Grant Price applicable to outstanding
Awards, the Award Limits, the limit on issuing Awards other than Options granted with an Option Price equal to at
least FMV on the date of grant or Stock Appreciation Rights with a Grant Price equal to at least FMV on the date of
grant, and other value determinations applicable to outstanding Awards.

Appropriate adjustments may also be made by the Committee in the terms of any Awards under the Plan to
reflect such changes or distributions and to modify any other terms of outstanding Awards on an equitable basis,
including modifications of performance goals and changes in the length of Performance Periods. The determination
of the Committee as to the foregoing adjustments, if any, shall be conclusive and binding on Participants under the
Plan. |

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4.2 of the Plan that may suggest otherwise, if one of the events
described in the first paragraph hereof is determined by the Committee to be an equity restructuring under FASB
Statement No. 123(R), Shareholder Based Payment, then the Committee shall make such adjustments to the terms
of existing Awards as are necessary to prevent dilution of such Awards.

Subject to the provisions of Article 16 and any applicable law or regulatory requirement, without affecting the
number of Shares reserved or available hereunder, the Committee may authorize the issuance, assumption,
substitution, or conversion of benefits under this Plan in connection with any merger, consolidation, acquisition
of property or stock, or reorganization, upon such terms and conditions as it may deem appropriate. Additionally,
the Committee may amend the Plan, or adopt supplements to the Plan, in such manner as it deems appropriate to
provide for such issuance, assumption, substitution, or conversion, all without further action by the Company’s
stockholders.

Article 5. Eligibility and Participation

5.1 Eligibiliry. Individuals eligible to participate in the Plan include all Employees and Directors.

5.2 Actual Participation.  Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may from time to time, select
from all eligible Employees and Directors, those to whom Awards shali be granted and shall determine the nature

and amount of each Award.
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Article 6. Stock Options

6.1 Grant of Options.  Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted to Participants
in such number, and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the
Committee, provided that [SOs shall not be granted to Directors. In addition, ISOs may not be granted following the
tenr (10) year anniversary of the Effective Date.

6.2 Award Agreement. Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shatl specity the
Option Price, the duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, the conditions upon
which an Option shall become vested and exercisable, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine
which are not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan. The Award Agreement also shall specify whether the Option is
intended to be an [SO or a NQSO.

6.3 Option Price. 'The Option Price for each grant of an Option under this Plan shall be as determined by the
Committee; provided, however, that the Option Price shall not be less than one hundred percent (100%) of the FMV
of a Share on the date the Option is granted.

6.4 Duration of Options. Each Option granted to a Participant shall expire at such time as the Committee
shall determine at the time of grant; provided, however, that no Option shall be exercisable later than the tenth (10™)
anniversary of the date of its grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, {a) for Options granted to Participants ouiside
the United States, the Committee has the autherity to grant Options that have a term greater than ten (10) years.

6.5 Exercise of Options. QOptions granted under this Article 6 shall be exercisable at such times and be
subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Committee shall in each instance approve, which need not be the
same for each grant or for each Participant.

6.6 Payment. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of
exercise to the Company, setting forth the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is to be exercised,
accompanied by full payment for the Shares.

The Option Price upon exercise of any Option shall be payabtle to the Company in full either: (a) in cash or its
equivalent; (b) by tendering (either by actual delivery or attestation) previously acquired Shares having an aggregate
FMYV at the time of exercise equal to the total Option Price (provided, however, that tendering of Shares shall be in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 123(R) (¢) by a combination of (a) and {b); or (d) any other method approved
by the Committee in its sole discretion at the time of grant and as set forth in the Award Agreement.

The Committee also may allow cashless exercise as permitted under the Federal Reserve Board’s Regulation T,
subject to applicable securities law restrictions, or by any other means which the Committee determines to be
consistent with the Plan’s purpose and applicable law.

Subject to Section 6.7 and any governing rules or reguiations, as soon as practicable after receipt of a written
notification of exercise and full payment, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, Share certificates or
evidence of bock entry Shares, in an appropriate amount based upon the number of Shares purchased under the
Option(s).

Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, all payments under all of the methods indicated above shall be
paid in United States dollars.

6.7 Restrictions on Share Transferabiliry. The Committee may impose such restrictions on any Shares
acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option granted under this Article 6 as it may deem advisable, including,
without limitation, requiring the Participant to hold the Shares acquired pursvant to exercise for a specified period of
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time, restrictions under applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market
upon which such Shares are then listed and/or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to
such Shares. Under no circumstances shall outstanding Options be transferable for consideration (value).

6.8 Termination of Employment. Each non-Director Participant’s Award Agreement shall set forth the extent
to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the Option following termination of the Participant’s
employment or directorship with the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries. Except for Awards made to
Directors, such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the
Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Options issued pursuant to this
Article 6, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination. A termination from employment is
deemed to occur whether based on the facts and circumstances, the Company and the Participant reasonably
anticipated that no further services would be performed after a certain date or that the level of bona fide services the
Participant would perform afier such date (whether as an employee or as an independent contractor) would
permanently decrease to no more than 20% of the average level of bona fide services performed (whether as an
employee or an independent contractor) over the immediately preceding 36-month period (or the full period of
services to the Company if the Participant has been providing services to the Company less than 36 months).

6.9 Transferability of Options.

(a) Incentive Stock Options. No ISO granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or
otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, all 1SOs
granted to a Participant under this Article 6 shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.
Under no circumstances shall outstanding [SOs be transferable for consideration (value).

(b} Nongualified Stock Options. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Award Agreement, and
except for NQSOs granted to the Company’s Directors, no NQSO granted under this Article 6 may be sold,
transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent
and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Award Agreement, and except for NQSOs
granted to the Company’s Directors, all NQSOs granted to a Participant under this Article 6 shall be exercisable
during his or her lifetime only by such Participant. Under no circumstances shall outstanding NQSOs be
transferable for consideration (value).

6.10 Notification of Disqualifving Disposition. The Participant will notify the Company upon the dispo-
sition of Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of an Incentive Stock Option. The Company will use such
information to determine whether a disqualifying disposition as described in Section 421(b) of the Code has
occurred.

6.11 Annual Limit on Incentive Stock Options. To the extent that the aggregate FMV (determined as of the
date the 1SO is granted) of the Shares with respect to which ISOs granted to a participant under this Plan and all
other option plans of the Company and any subsidiary become exercisable for the first time by the Participant during
any calendar year exceeds the limit with respect to 1SOs as set forth in the Code, such ISOs shall be treated as
NQSOs.

Article 7. Stock Appreciation Rights

7.1 Grant of SARs. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to Participants at
any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee may grant Freestanding
SARs, Tandem SARs, or any combination of these forms of SARs.
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Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee shall have complete discretion in determining
the number of SARSs granted to each Participant and, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, in determining the
terms and conditions pertaining to such SARs.

The SAR Grant Price for each grant of a Freestanding SAR shall be determined by the Committee and shall be
specified in the Award Agreement. Subject to the limitation set forth in Section 4.1 herein, the SAR Grant Price
shall be based on one hundred percent (1009%) of the FMV of the Shares on the date of grant. The Grant Price of
Tandem SARs shall be equal to the Option Price of the related Option.

7.2 SAR Agreement. Each SAR Award shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the
Grant Price, the term of the. SAR, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.

7.3 Term of SAR. The term of an SAR granted under the Plan shall be determined by the Committee, in its
sole discretion, and except as determined otherwise by the Committee and specified in the SAR Award Agreement,
no SAR shall be exercisable later than the tenth (10") anniversary date of its grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
for SARs granted to Participants outside the United States, the Commitiee has the authority to grant SARs that have
a term greater than ten (10) years.

74 Exercise of Freestanding SARs. Freestanding SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and
conditions the Committee, in its sole discretion, imposes upon them.

1.5. Exercise of Tandem SARs. Tandem SARs may be exercised for all or part of the Shares subject to the
related Option upon the surrender of the right to exercise the equivalent portion of the related Option. A Tandem
SAR may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which its related Option is then exercisable.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, with respect to a Tandem SAR granted in
connection with an ISO: (a) the Tandem SAR will expire no later than the expiration of the underlying 1SO; (b) the
value of the payout with respect to the Tandem SAR may be for no more than one hundred percent (100%) of the
difference between the Option Price of the underlying 1SO and the FMV of the Shares subject to the underlying 1SO
at the time the Tandem SAR is exercised; and (c) the Tandem SAR may be exercised only when the FMV of the
Shares subject to the [SO exceeds the Option Price of the ISO.

7.6 Payment of SAR Amount.  Upon the exercise of an SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive piyment
from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:

(a) The difference between the FMV of a Share on the date of exercise over the Grant Price; by
(b) The number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised.

At the discretion of the Committee, the payment upon SAR exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent
value, in some combination thereof, or in any other manner approved by the Committee at its sole discretion. The
Commitiee's determination regarding the form of SAR payout shall be set forth in the Award Agreement pertaining
to the grant of the SAR.

1.7 Termination of Employment or Directorship. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which
the Participant shall have the right to exercise the SAR following termination of the Participant’s employment or
directorship with the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole
discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with Participants, need not be
uniform among all SARs issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for
termination.




7.8 Nontransferability of SARs. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Award Agreement, no SAR
granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other
than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s
Award Agreement, all SARs granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime
only by such Participant. Under no circumstances shall outstanding SARs be transferable for consideration (value).

7.9 Other Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares
received upon exercise of a SAR granted pursuant to the Plan as it may deem advisable. This includes, but is not
limited to, requiring the Participant to hold the Shares received upon exercise of an SAR for a specified period of
time.

Article 8. Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

8.1 Grant of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the
Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units
to Participants in such amounts, as the Committee shall determine. Restricted Stock Units shall be similar to
Restricted Stock except that no Shares are actually awarded to the Participant on the date of grant.

8.2 Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Each Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock
Unit grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Period(s) of Restriction, the number of
Shares of Restricted Stock or the number of Restricted Stock Units granted, and such other provisions as the
Committee shall determine.

8.3 Director’s Restricted Stock Units. Subject to the discretion and approval of the Board, each Director
shall receive a grant of Restricted Stock Units immediately following each annual meeting of stockholders of the
Company. At the discretion of the Board, the grant of Restricted Stock Units shall be for a specific number of
Restricted Stock Units or for a specific dollar amount.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement, upon death, disability or Retirement, a Director
shall be fully vested in all Restricted Stock Units under the Award Agreement. For purposes of this Section 8.3,
Retirement shall have the same meaning as it does under the Award Agreement.

In the event that the Director voluntarily resigns his or her position as a director of the Company, other than as a
result of disability or Retirement of the Director, all unvested Restricted Stock Units under the Award Agreement
shall be automatically forfeited by the Director.

8.4 Transferabiliry. Except as provided in this Article 8, the Shares of Restricted Stock and/or Restricted
Stock Units granted herein may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated
until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction established by the Committee and specified in the Award
Agreement (and in the case of Restricted Stock Units until the date of delivery or other payment), or upon earlier
satisfaction of any other conditions, as specified by the Committee, in its sole discretion, and set forth in the Award
Agreement. All rights with respect to the Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units granted to a Participant
under the Plan shall be available during his or her lifetime only to such Participant.

8.5 Other Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares
of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to the Plan as it may deem advisable including,
without limitation, a requirement that Participants pay a stipulated purchase price for each Share of Restricted Stock
or each Restricted Stock Unit, restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance goals, time-based
restrictions on vesting following the attainment of the performance goals, time-based restrictions, restrictions under
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applicable federal or state securities laws, or any holding requirements or sale restrictions placed on the Shares by
the Company upon vesting of such Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units.

To the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, the Company may retain the certificates representing
Shares of Restricted Stock in the Company’s possession until such time as all conditions and/or restrictions
i applicable to such Shares have been satisfied or lapse.

Except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock
Award shall become freely transferable by the Participant after all conditions and restrictions applicable to such
Shares have been satisfied or lapse, and Restricted Stock Units shall be paid in cash, Shares, or a combination of
cash and Shares as the Committee, in its sole discretion shall determine,

8.6 Certificate Legend. In addition to any legends placed on certificates pursuant to Section 85 herein, each
certificate representing Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to the Plan may bear a legend such as the
following:

The sale or other transfer of the Shares of stock represented by this certificate, whether voluntary, involuntary,
or by operation of law, is subject to certain restrictions on transfer as set forth in the Alpharma Inc. 2003 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan, and in the associated Restricted Stock Award Agreement. A copy of the Plan and
such Restricted Stock Award Agreement may be obtained from Alpharma Inc.

8.7 Voting Rights. 'To the extent permitted or required by law, as determined by the Committee, Participants
holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may be granted the right to exercise full voting rights with
respect to those Shares during the Period of Restriction. A Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to any
Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder.

8.8 Dividends and Other Distributions. During the Period of Restriction, Participants holding Shares of
Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder may, if the Committee so determines, be credited with
dividends paid with respect to the underlying Shares or dividend equivalents while they are so held in a manner
determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, The Committee may apply any restrictions to the dividends or
dividend equivalents that the Committee deems appropriate. The Committee, in its sole discretion, may determine
the form of payment of dividends or dividend equivalents, including cash, Shares, Restricted Stock, or Restricted
Stock Units.

8.9 Termination of Employment or Directorship. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which
the Participant shall have the right to retain Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units following termination of
the Participant’s employment or directorship with the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries. Such
provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement
entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock
Units issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

8.10 Section 83(b) Election. The Commitiee may provide in an Award Agreement that the Award is
conditioned upon the Participant making or refraining from making an election with respect to the Award under
Section 83(b) of the Code. If a Participant makes an election pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code concerning an
Award, the Participant shall be required to file promptly a copy of such election with the Company.
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Article 9. Performance Shares and Performance Units

9.1 Grant of Performance Shares and Performance Units.  Subject to the terms of the Plan, Performance
Shares and/or Performance Units may be granted to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any
time and from time to time, as shall be determined by the Committee.

9.2 Value of Performance Shares and Performance Units. Each Performance Share shall have an initial
value equal to the FMV of a Share on the date of grant. Each Performance Unit shall have an initial value that is
established by the Committee at the time of grant. The Committee shall set performance goals in its discretion
which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the value and/or number of Performance
Shares/Performance Units that will be paid out to the Participant.

9.3 Earning of Performance Shares and Performance Units. Subject to the terms of this Plan, after the
applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Shares/Performance Units shall be entitled to
receive payout on the value and number of Performance Shares/Performance Units earned by the Participant over
the Performance Period, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance goals
have been achieved. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company has the ability to require the Participant to hold
the Shares received pursuant to such Award for a specified period of time.

9.4 Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Shares and Performance Units. Payment of earned
Performance Shares/Performance Units shall be as determined by the Committee and as evidenced in the Award
Agreement. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance
Shares/Performance Units in the form of cash or in Shares (or in a combination thereof) equal to the value of the
earned Performance Shares/Performance Units at the close of the applicable Performance Period. Any Shares may
be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee. The determination of the Committee
with respect to the form of payout of such Awards shall be set forth in the Award Agreement pertaining to the grant
of the Award.

9.5 Dividends and Other Distributions. At the discretion of the Committee, Participants holding Perfor-
mance Shares may be entitled to receive dividend equivalents with respect to dividends declared with respect to the
Shares. Such dividends may be subject to the accrual, forfeiture, or payout restrictions as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion.

9.6 Termination of Employment or Directorship. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which
the Participant shall have the right to retain Performance Shares and/or Performance Units following termination of
the Participant’s employment or directorship with the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries. Such
provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement
entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Awards of Performance shares or Performance
Units issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

9.7 Nontransferability. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Award Agreement, Performance
Shares/Performance Units may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated,
other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s
Award Agreement, a Participant’s rights under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such
Participant.




Article 10. Cash-Based Awards and Stock-Based Awards

10.1 Grant of Cash-Bused Awards.  Subject to the terms of the Plan, Cash-Based Awards may be granted to
Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time, as shall be determined by
the Committee.

10.2 Vaiue of Cash-Based Awards. Each Cash-Based Award shall have a value as may be determined by the
Committee. The Committee may establish performance goals in its discretion. If the Committee exercises its
discretion to establish performance goals, the number and/or value of Cash-Based Awards that will be paid out to
the Participant will depend on the extent to which the performance goals are met.

10.3 Earning of Cash-Based Awards. Subject 10 the terms of this Plan, the holder of Cash-Based Awards
shall be entitled to receive payout on the number and value of Cash-Based Awards earned by the Participant, 1o be
determined as a function of the extent to which applicable performance goals, if any, have been achieved.

10.4 Form and Timing of Payment of Cash-Based Awards. Payment of earned Cash-Based Awards shall be
as determined by the Committee and as evidenced in the Award Agreement. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the
Committee, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Cash-Based Awards in the form of cash or in Shares (or in a
combination thereof) that have an aggregate FMV at the time payment was earned under the Cash-Based Award
equal to the value of the earned Cash-Based Awards. Such Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed
appropriate by the Committee. The determination of the Committee with respect to the form of payout of such
Awards shall be set forth in the Award Agreement pertaining to the grant of the Award.

10.5 Termination of Employment.  Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent 1o which the Participant
shall have the right to receive Cash-Based Awards and Stock-Based Awards following termination of the
Participant’s employment with the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries. Such provisions shall be
determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with
each Participant, need not be uniform among all Awards of Cash-Based Awards and Stock-Based Awards issued
pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

10.6 Nontransferability. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant’s Award Agreement, Cash-Based
Awards and Stock-Based Awards may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or
hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in
a Participant’s Award Agreement, a Participant’s rights under the Plan shall be exercisable during the Participant’s
lifetime only by the Participant. )

10.7 Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may grant other types of equity-based or equity-related Awards
(including the grant or offer for sale of vnrestricted Shares) in such amounts and subject to such terms and
conditions, as the Committee shall determine. Such Awards may entail the transfer of actual Shares to Participants,
or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of Shares and may include, without limitation,
Awards designed to comply with or take advantage of the applicable local laws of jurisdictions other ‘than the
United States.

Article 11. Performance Measures

Unless and until the Committee proposes for stockholder vote and the stockholders approve a change in the
general Performance Measures set forth in this Article 11, the performance goals upon which the payment or vesting
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of an Award to a Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation shall be
limited to the following Performance Measures:

(a) Net earnings;

(b) Earnings per share;

{c) Net sales growth;

(d) Net income (before or after taxes);

(e) Net operating profit;

(f) Return measures (including, but not'limited to, return on assets, capital, equity, or sales);
(g) Cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow);
(h) Cash flow return on capital;

(1) Earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or amortization;

(j) Gross or operating margins;

{k) Productivity ratios;

(I) Revenue growth;

(m) Share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return);
{n) Expense targets;

(0) Margins;

{p) Operating efficiency;

{g) Customer Satisfaction;

(r) EVA®,

(s) Employee satisfaction metrics,

{t) Human resources metrics;

{u) Working capital targets;

(v) Clinical work targets; and

{w) Regulatory targets,

Any Performance Measure(s) may be used to measure the performance of the Company as a whole or any
business unit of the Company or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem appropriate, or any of the
above Performance Measures as compared to the performance of a group of comparator companies, or published or
special index that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate, or the Company may select Performance
Measure (m) above as compared to various stock market indices. The Committee also has the authority to provide
for accelerated vesting of any Award based on the achievement of performance goals pursuant to the Performance
Measures specified in this Article 11.
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The Committee may provide in any such Award that any evaluation of performance may include or exclude
any of the following events that occurs during a Performance Period: (a) asset write-downs; (b) litigation or claim
judgments or settlements; (c) the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, or other {aws or provisions
affecting reported results; (d) any reorganization and restructuring programs; (e) extraordinary nonrecurring items
as described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and/or in management’s discussion and analysis of
financial condition and results of operations appearing in the Company’s annual report to stockholders for the
applicable year; (f) acquisitions or divestitures; and (g) foreign exchange gains and losses. To the extent such
inclusions or exclusions affect Awards to Covered Employees, they shall be prescribed in a form that meets the
requirements of Code Section 162(m) for deductibility.

Awards that are designed to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation, and that are held by Covered
Employees, may not be adjusted upward. The Committee shall retain the discretion to adjust such Awards
downward.

In the event that applicable tax and/or securities laws change to permit Committee discretion to alter the
governing Performance Measures without obtaining stockholder approval of such changes, the Committee shall
have sole discretion to make such changes without obtaining stockholder approval. In addition, in the event that the
Committee determines that it is advisable to grant Awards that shall not qualify as Performance-Based Compen-
sation, the Committee may make such grants without satisfying the requirements of Code Section 162(m).

Article 12. Annual Incentive Awards

The Committee may designate Company executive officers who are eligible to receive a monetary payment in
any Fiscal Year based on a percentage of an incentive pool equal to ten percent (10%}) of the Company’s net income
for the Fiscal Year. The Committee shali allocate an incentive pool percentage to each designated Participant for
each Fiscal Year. In no event may the incentive pool percentage for any one Participant exceed thirty percent (30%)
of the total pool. In addition, all Annual Incentive Awards are subject to an overriding limitation. The maximum
aggregate payout of an Annual Incentive Award for any one Fiscal Year to any one Participant may not exceed two
million five hundred thousand dollars ($2,500,000).

Net income shall mean the consolidated net income for the Fiscal Year, as reported in the annual report to
stockholders or as otherwise reported to stockholders, and as computed in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

As soon as possible after the determination of the incentive poo! for a Fiscal Year, the Board shall calculate the
Participant’s allocated portion of the incentive pool based upon the percentage established at the beginning of the
Fiscal Year. The Participant’s Annual Incentive Award then shail be determined by the Board based on the
Participant’s allocated portion of the incentive pool subject to adjustment in the sole discretion of the Board. In no
event may the portion of the incentive poo! allocated to a Participant who is a Covered Employee be increased in any
way, including as a result of the reduction of any other Participant’s allocated portion.

Article 13. Beneficiary Designation

A Participant’s “‘beneficiary” is the person or persons entitled to receive payments or other benefits or exercise
rights that are available under the Plan in the event of the Participant’s death. A Participant may designate a
beneficiary or change a previous beneficiary designation at any time by using forms and following procedures
approved by the Committee for that purpose. If no beneficiary designated by the Participant is eligible to receive
payments or other benefits or exercise rights that are available under the Plan at the Participant’s death, the
beneficiary shall be the Participant’s estate.
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If a Participant designates his or her spouse as a beneficiary and subsequently becomes legally divorced from
such spouse, such spouse shall cease to be a beneficiary unless the Participant re-affirms, in writing to the Company
following the effective date of the divorce, his or her designation of such spouse (the then ex-spouse) as a
beneficiary. In the event that the Participant fails to re-affirm such ex-spouse as a beneficiary and fails to designate a
new beneficiary following a divorce, the beneficiary upon such Participant’s death shall be the Participant’s estate.

Notwithstanding the provisions above, the Committee may, in its discretion and after notifying the affected

Participants, modify the foregoing requirements, institute additional requirements for beneficiary designations, or

suspend the existing beneficiary designations of living Participants or the process of determining beneficiaries
under this Article 13, or both. If the Committee suspends the process of designating beneficiaries on forms and in
accordance with procedures it has approved pursuant to this Article 13, the determination of who is a Participant’s
beneficiary shall be made under the Participant’s will and applicable state law.

Article 14. Deferrals and Share Settlements

The Committee may permit or require a Participant to defer such Participant’s receipt of the payment of cash or
the delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due to such Participant by virtue of the exercise of an Option or SAR,
or with respect to the lapse or waiver of restrictions with respect to Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units or the
satisfaction of any requirements or performance goals with respect to Annual Incentive Awards, Performance
Shares, Performance Units, Cash-Based Awards, or Stock-Based Awards. If any such deferral election is required or
permitted, the Committee shall, in its sole discretion, establish rules and procedures for such payment deferrals and
such payments shall be made through a separate, company-sponsored non-qualified plan. The Committee shall
permit or require deferral under this Article 14 only to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code.

Article 15. Rights of Employees and Directors

15.1 Relationship. Nothing in the Plan or an Award Agreement shall interfere with or limit in any way the
right of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries to terminate any Participant’s employment or other
relationship at any time, nor confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the capacity in which he or she is
employed or otherwise serves the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries.

Neither an Award nor any benefits arising under this Plan shall constitute part of an employment contract with
the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries and, accordingly, subject to Articles 3 and 17, this Plan and the
benefits hereunder may be terminated at any time in the sole and exclusive discretion of the Committee without
giving rise to liability on the part of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries for severance payments.

For purposes of the Plan, transfer of employment of a Participant between the Company, its Affiliates, and/or
its Subsidiaries shall not be deemed a termination of employment. Additionally, the Committee shall have the
ability to stipulate in a Participant’'s Award Agreement that a transfer to a company that is spun-off from the
Company shall not be deemed a termination of employment with the Company for purposes of the Plan until the
Participant’s employment is terminated with the spun-off company.

15.2 Participation. No Employee or Director shall have the right to be selected to receive an Award under
this Plan, or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award,

15.3 Rights as a Stockholder. A Participant shall have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to
Shares covered by an Award until the Participant becomes the record holder of such Shares.

A-18




Article 16. Change in Control

A Change in Control shall have no effect upon Awards except as provided in the Company’s Change in Control

- Plan, as in effect from time to time, or as specified by the Board.

Article 17. Amendment, Modification, Suspension, and Termination

17.1 Amendment, Modification, Suspension, and Termination. The Company, acting through its Board, may,
at any time and from time to time, alter, amend, modify, suspend, or terminate the Plan in whole or in part. The
Company, acting through its Board, may terminate the Plan only to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the
Code and the regulations thereunder.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, without the prior approval of the Company’s stockholders,
Options issued under the Plan will not be repriced, replaced, or regranted through cancellation, or by lowering the
exercise price of a previously granted Option. SARs issued under the Plan will not be repriced, replaced, or
regranted through cancellation, or by lowering the Grant Price of a previously granted SAR. No amendment of the
Pian shall be made without stockholder approval if stockholder approval is required by law, regulation, or stock
exchange rule.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board has delegated to the executive management Benefits Committee the
authority to adopt administrative amendments to the Plan, provided, that such amendments do not involve a change
in the costs or liability of the Company or alter the benefits payable thereunder. The Board has delegated to the
Compensation Committee the authority to adopt all other amendments to the Plan, provided, that such amendments
do not significantly increase or decrease benefit amounts, or are required to be adopted by the Board under the Code
or the regulations thereunder. The Board retains the authority to adopt amendments to the Plan that significantly
increase or decrease benefit amounts, or are required to be adopted by the Board under the Code or regulations
thereunder.

17.2 Adjustment of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events.  The Com-
mittee may make adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards in recognition of
unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, the events described in Section 4.2 hereof) affecting
the Company or the financial statements of the Company or of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or
accounting principles, whenever the Committee determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to
prevent unintended dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under
the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if as a result of an unusual or nonrecurring event (including, without
limitation, the events described in Section 4.2 hereof), which event is determined by the Committee to be an equity
restructuring under FASB Statement No. 123(R), Shareholder Based Payment, then the terms and conditions of the
Awards shall be appropriately adjusted by the Committee in order 1o prevent dijution of the benefit or potential
benefits intended to be available under the Plan. The determination of the Committee as to the foregoing
adjustments, if any, shall be conclusive and binding on Participants under the Plan.

17.3 Awards Previously Granted. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, no
termination, amendment, suspension, or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect in any material way any
Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant holding such Award.

Article 18.  Withholding

18.1 Tax Withholding. The Company shall have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a
Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or

A-19




o

foreign (including the Participant’s FICA obligation), required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to
any taxable event arising or as a result of this Plan.

! 18.2 Share Withholding. With respect to withholding required upon the exercise of Options or SARs, upon
the lapse of restrictions on Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units, or upon the achievement of performance
goals related to Performance Shares, or any other taxable event arising as a result of Awards granted hereunder,
Participants may elect, subject to the approval of the Committee, to satisfy the withholding requirement, in whole or
in part, by having the Company withhold Shares having a FMV on the date the tax is to be determined equal to the
tax that could be imposed on the transaction. All elections shall be irrevocable, made in writing, and signed by the
! Participant, and shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems
appropriate.

Article 19. Successors

All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder, shall be binding on
any successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase,
merger, consolidation, or otherwise, of all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company.

Article 20. Legal Construction

20.1 Gender and Number. . Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein
also shall include the feminine, the plural shall include the singular, and the singular shall include the plurai.

20.2 Severability. In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the
illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as
if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

20.3 Requirements of Law. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject
to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national
securities exchanges as may be required. The Company shall receive the consideration required by law for the
issuance of Awards under the Plan.

20.4 Securities Law Compliance. With respect to Insiders, transactions under this Plan are intended to
comply with-all applicable conditions of Rule 16b-3 or its successors under the Exchange Act, To the extent any
provision of the Plan or action by the Committee fails to so comply, it shall be deemed null and void, to the extent
permitted by law and deemed advisable by the Committee. )

20.5 Governing Law. The Plan and each Award Agreement shail be governed by the laws of the State of
New Jersey, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or
interpretation of the Plan to the substantive law of another jurisdiction. Unless otherwise provided in the Award
Agreement, recipients of an Award under the Plan are deemed to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of
the federal or state courts of New Jersey, to resolve any and all issues that may arise out of or relate to the Plan or any
related Award Agreement.

Article 21, General Provisions

21.1 Forfeiture Events. The Committee may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant’s rights,
payments, and benefits with respect to an Award shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, or
recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or
performance conditions of an Award. Such events shall include, but shall not be limited to, termination of
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employment for Cause, violation of material Company, Affiliate, and/or Subsidiary policies, breach of non-
competition, confidentiality, or other restrictive covenants that may apply to the Participant, or other conduct by the
Participant that is detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries.

21.2 Legend. The certificates for Shares may include any legend which the Committee deems appropriate to
reflect any restrictions on transfer of such Shares.

21.3 Listing. The Company may use reasonable endeavors to register Shares allotted pursuant to the
exercise of an Award with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or to effect compliance with the
registration, qualification, and listing requirements of any national or foreign securities laws, stock exchange, or
automated quotation system.

21.4 Delivery of Tirle.  The Company shall have no obligation to issue or deliver evidence of title for Shares
issued under the Plan prior to:

(a) Obtaining any approvals from governmental agencies that the Company determines are necessary or
advisable; and

{b) Completion of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any applicable national or
foreign law or ruling of any governmental body that the Company determines to be necessary or advisable.

21.5 Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory
body having jurisdiction, which authority is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful
issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, shall relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue
or sell such shares as to which such requisite authority shall not have been obtained.

21.6 Investment Representations. The Committee may require each Participant receiving Shares pursuant to
an Award under this Plan to represent and warrant in writing that the participant is acquiring the Shares for
investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares.

21.7 Employees Based Outside of the United States. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the
contrary, in order to comply with the laws in other countries in which the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its
Subsidiaries operate or have Employees or Directors, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and
authority to:

(a) Determine which Affiliates and Subsidiaries shall be covered by the Plan;

(b) Determine which Employees and Directors outside the United States are eli gible to participate in the
Plan;

(c) Modify the terms and conditions of any Award granted to Employees or Directors outside the
United States to comply with applicable foreign laws;

(d) Establish subplans and modify exercise procedures and other terms and procedures, to the extent such
actions may be necessary or advisable. Any subplans and modifications to Plan terms and procedures
established under this Section 21.7 by the Committee shall be auached to this Plan document as
appendices; and

{e) Take any action, before or after an Award is made that it deems advisable to obtain approval or
comply with any necessary local government regulatory exemptions or approvals.
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Notwithstanding the above, the Committee may not take any actions hereunder, and no Awards shali be
granted, that would violate the Exchange Act, the Code, any securities law, or governing statute or any other
applicable law.

21.8 Uncertificated Shares. To the extent that the Plan provides for issuance of certificates to reflect the
transfer of Shares, the transfer of such Shares may be effected on a noncertificated basis, to the extent not prohibited
by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange.

21.9 Unfunded Plan. Participants shall have no right, title, or interest whatsoever in or to any investments
that the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries may make to aid it in meeting its obligations under the Plan.
Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a
trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries and any
Participant, beneficiary, legal representative, or any other person. To the extent that any person acquires a right to
receive payments from the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries under the Plan, such right shali be no
greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company. All payments to be made hereunder shall be
paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be established and no segregation
of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Plan is not
intended to be subject to ERISA.

21.10 No Fractional Shares. No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any
Award. The Committee shall determine whether cash, Awards, or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of
fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.
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ALPHARMA INC.

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
March 11, 2008

\. History of The Plan. 'This plan was originally adopted by A L. Laboratories, [nc. on September 7, 1990 as
the A.L. Laboratories, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan with an effective date of October 1, 1990. The Plan was
subsequently amended from time to time and amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of October 1, 2002 as
the Alpharma Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan was last amended and restated in its
entirety effective as of January 1, 2005. The Plan is being amended and restated in its entirety effective as of
March 11, 2008.

The Plan is maintained by Alpharma Inc. (the “Company”) and any of its domestic or international subsidiaries
that may adopt the Plan from time to time (each such adopting subsidiary referred to herein as a “Covered Entity”)
with the Company’s consent.

2. Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to give employees wishing to do so a convenient means of purchasing
shares of Alpharma Inc. Class A Common Stock (the “Shares™) through after-tax payroll deductions, supplemented
by contributions made by the Company or a Covered Entity. The Company believes that ownership of Shares by
employees will foster greater employee interest in the Company’s growth and development,

3. Effective Date. The “effective date” of this amendment and restatement of the Plan is March 11, 2008.

4. Plan Administration. The Plan shall be administered by a committee appointed for such purpose by the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Benefits Committee™). As Plan administrator, the Benefits Committee shall
have complete control of the administration of the Plan, which includes the determination of employees’ eligibility
for participation in accordance with the standards set forth in Section 6 hereof, the interpretation of provisions of the
Pian, the adoption of any rules or regulations which may be necessary, advisable or desirable in the operation of the
Plan, including restrictions on the sale by employees of Shares purchased under the Plan, and the delegation of
certain of the duties of the Benefits Committee to an agent to facilitate the purchase and transfer of Shares and to
otherwise assist in the administration of the Plan. The Benefits Commiittee shall control the general administration
of the Plan with all powers necessary to enable it to carry out its duties in that respect, except that, if for any reason a
Benefits Committee shall not have been appointed or shall cease to exist or function, all authority and duties of the
Benefits Committee under this Plan shall be vested in and exercised by the Board of Directors of the Company.

5. Number of Shares. Two million one hundred fifty thousand (2,150,000) Shares are available for purchase
under the Plan. This Share limitation is subject to adjustment to reflect subsequent stock splits, stock dividends,
recapitalizations or other capital changes affecting the Shares.

6. Eligibility. Any employee of the Company or a Covered Entity shall be eligible to participate in the Plan
on the Januvary I, April 1, July 1 or October 1 (or at special entry dates approved by the Benefits Committee)
coinciding with or next following the completion of three months of employment (the “Plan Entry Date™) provided
such employee (i) regularly works at least 9 months during the calendar year (or the Company anticipaies as of the
Plan Entry Date that the employee shall work at least ¢ months during the calendar year), (ii) has an average work
week of 20 hours or more during the period worked, (iii) has attained age 18, (iv) does not, and shall not by reason of
participating in the Plan, own stock in the Company possessing 5% or more of the total combined voting power or
the value of all classes of stock of the Company or its subsidiary corporations, and {v} is not an employee of a
domestic or international subsidiary of the Company which is (a) prohibited by law from participating in the Plan, or
(b} in the discretion of the Benefits Committee, precluded from participating in the Plan by government regulation
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or other action (“Eligible Employees™). The Benefits Committee shall determine which employees are eligible to
participate in the Plan in accordance with the standards set forth in this Section.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, employees of the Company’s Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients business shall
not be eligible to participate in the Plan after March 31, 2008. In the event that the sale of the Company’s Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients business does not close by August 1, 2008, the employees of the Company’s Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients business shall be eligible to participate in the Plan on the first day of the following
calendar quarter.

7. Farticipation. Participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary. An Eligible Employee may become a
participant at a Plan Entry Date by submitting an election to participate on a form supplied by the Company and
submitting such form to the Company at least 30 days prior to the Plan Entry Date (or otherwise in accordance with
administrative procedures approved by the Benefits Committee) on which that Eligible Employee would like to
begin participation. -

8. Payroll Deductions and Other Contributions. A participant may authorize payroll deductions under the
Plan, in an amount equal to one to four percent (in whole percentages) of a participant’s compensation paid by the
Company or other Covered Entity during the Plan Quarter. For this purpose, “compensation” means the basic
earnings paid to the participant excluding overtime pay, bonuses and commissions and any other incentive pay. For
purposes of the preceding sentence, a participant’s compensation paid by the Company or Covered Entities shall
include any salary reduction amounts elected by the participant and credited to a qualified or nonqualified deferred
compensation program during the Plan Year notwithstanding the fact that amounts deferred under such programs
are not reflected on the participant’s federal withholding tax statement, Form W-2 (or other comparable wage
staternent designated by the Company).

Payroli deductions can be changed as of the beginning of any calendar quarter only by giving written notice to
the Company adequately in advance of the beginning of such calendar quarter. Reductions in payroll deductions to
zero may be changed effective as of the next payroll date, by giving written notice to the Company adequately in
advance of such payroll date. The Benefits Committee may prospectively impose restrictions on participants who
reduce their payroll deductions to zero.

9. Contributions by the Company. The Company or the Covered Entity by whom a participant is employed
on the last day of a calendar quarter will make contributions to the Plan in an amount equal to 50% of the total
amount of participant contributions paid to the Plan during such quarter. Such contributions, whether made by the
Company or a Covered Entity, as appropriate, are sometimes referred to herein as “Company Contributions.”
Neither the Company nor the Covered Entity shall be required to make any contributions for a participant for the
Plan Quarter in which such participant’s employment terminates. The Company or the Covered Entity may elect to
make such additional contributions into the Plan in excess of the 50% contribution as it, in the exercise of its sole
discretion, deems appropriate. These additional contributions to the Plan by the Company or the Covered Entity in
excess of 50% (“Company Voluntary Contributions™), if any, shall be made on an ad hoc basis and may vary based
upon the discretion of the management of the employing entity with the consent of the Benefits Committee. The
Benefits Committee shall distribute Company Voluntary Contributions among participants in any manner the
Company desires, and the Company or Covered Entity may direct that such Company Voluntary Contributions be
distributed in a manner other than in proportion to the participants’ own contributions to the Plan.

10. The Plan Year. The Plan shall operate on a fiscal year beginning on the first day of January in each year
and ending on the 31st day of December. This fiscal year is referred to herein as the “Plan Year.”

B-4




11. Plan Quarters. The Plan Year shall be divided into four Plan quarters ending March 31, June 30,
September 30 and December 31. Each such quarter is referred to herein as a “Plan Quarter.” Notwithstanding the
foregoing, with respect to participants whose employment is transferred from the controlled group that includes the
Company to the controlled group that includes Actavis Group hf. on December 16, 2005, the last day of the Plan
Quarter shall mean December 16, 2005 rather than December 31, 2005,

12. Allocation of Participant and Company Contributions. The Benefits Committee will establish a “cash
account” and a “Share account” for each participant under the Plan for bookkeeping purposes. As soon as
practicable on or after the last day of each Plan Quarter, but in no case later than the fifteenth day of the month
immediately following the end of the Plan Quarter, the Benefits Committee will credit each participant’s cash
account with such participant’s payroll deductions during the Plan Quarter (“Credited Payroll Deductions™), and
will pay and aflocate the Company Contributions applicable to such participant. The date of crediting of such
Credited Payrell Deductions and Company Contributions is referred to herein as the “Deduction Crediting Date”.

The Benefits Committee will allocate Company Contributions to each participant’s cash account in an amount
equal to 50% of each participant’s Credited Payroll Deductions; provided, however, that Company Voluntary
Contributions may be allocated among participants’ accounts in any manner the Company may choose, The
Company shall not be required to pay or accrue interest on payroll deductions, the cash balances in participants’
cash accounts or on the value of participants’ Share accounts.

Benefits or rights which any person may expect to receive (contingently or otherwise) under the Plan may not
be assigned or pledged.

13. Share Purchases. The Benefits Committee shall determine before the end of each Plan Quarter the
number of Shares to be purchased for the benefit of participants, and whether such Shares shall be purchased on the
open market, by private purchase or from the Company. The Benefits Committee shall then promptly notify its
agent, if any, of this determination. The Benefits Committee will use the entire balance of funds in participants’ cash
accounts to purchase the Shares to be allocated to participants’ accounts within the first 15 working days following
the end of each Plan Quarter. Shares to be purchased from the Company pursuant to the Plan shall be made available
from currently or subsequently authorized and unissued Shares or Shares authorized, issued and owned now or
hereafter by the Company. In the event of a purchase by the Benefits Committee (or its agent) on the open market,
the cost per Share to participants will be determined by the actual average price per Share paid for the Shares by the
Benefits Committee {or its agent}. In the event of a private purchase or purchases by the Benefits Committee (or its
agent), the cost per Share to participants shall be equal to the average closing market price on the New York Stock
Exchange per Share on the dates such Shares were actually purchased. In the event of a purchase from the Company
by the Benefits Committee (or its agent), the cost per Share to participants shall be equal to the average closing
market price on the New York Stock Exchange per Share during such Plan Quarter. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Benefits Committee will use the contributions made by participants’ of the Company’s Active Pharmaceutical
Ingredients business to purchase the Shares to be allocated to such participants’ accounts within the first 15 working
days following the end of first calendar quarter of 2008,

14. Allocation of Shares. As soon as practicable after all necessary Shares have been purchased by the
Benefits Committee (or its agent) for the benefit of participants, the Benefits Committee will allocate such Shares to
participants’ Share accounts (the date of such allocation to be referred to as the “Share Allocation Date™) in the
following manner:

(a) The Company will determine the average cost per Share to participants of all Shares purchased,
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(b) The Company will then allocate whole Shares and fractional Shares to the Share accounts of the
individual participants to the extent of the balances in their respective cash accounts. The cash accounts will be
charged with the cost to participants of all Shares so allocated. No cash balances will remain in the
participants’ cash accounts immediately after each Share Allocation Date;

(c) Until certificates are issued, no person shall have any right to sell, assign, mortgage, pledge,
hypothecate or otherwise encumber any of the Shares allocated to a participant’s Share account, except as
permitted under Section 15 by satisfying the specific administrative procedures directing the Share Admin-
istrative Agent 1o sell Shares directly from the participant’s Share account.

15. Issuance, Transfer or Sale of Share Certificates. Share certificates for the number of whole Shares in
each participant’s Share account may be issued to such participant or his brokerage account in paper form or
electronically. Share certificates shall be issued only upon receipt by the Share Administrative Agent, {who shall be
selected from time to time in the discretion of the Benefits Committee), of a participant’s request indicating the
number of Shares (up to a maximum of the number of whole Shares in the participant’s Share account) for which the
participant wishes to receive certificates. Such request shall be made on a form or in such other manner as
prescribed by the Benefits Committee. Share certificates shall be issued to the participant or his brokerage account
as soon as practicable after such request is properly made. If a participant requests the withdrawal of all whole
Shares in his account, the whole number of Shares will be distributed to him in the form of Share certificates and, if
requested, the remaining fractional Shares will be distributed to him in cash.

A participant may sell any or all of his Shares by providing a request (made in accordance with administrative
procedures adopted by the Benefits Committee) to the Share Administrative Agent. The participant’s Shares will be
sold as soon as administratively practicable after such request is received by the Share Administrative Agent and the
participant will receive the net proceeds of the sale of the Shares in the form of a local currency check (no US check
fee and a foreign check fee of $35.00) or a wire transfer (for non-US participants, a fee of $35.00 and for US
participants, a fee of $25.00) shortly thereafter. As of January 1, 2008, net proceeds equals the gross proceeds from
the actual sale of Shares less a processing fee of US $17.00 and a commission of 12 cents ($0.12) per Share
sold — the term “net proceeds” is subject to modification by the Benefits Committee, in its sole discretion,

The Benefits Committee, in its discretion, may impose additional restrictions on the issuance, transfer or sale
of Shares, provided that (i) participants are provided with notice in advance of the effective date of any such
restrictions, (i) such restrictions would only apply to Shares which participants purchase after the effective date of
such restrictions and (iii) such restrictions are administered in a nondiscriminatory and uniform manner.

A participant may elect in writing or in such other manner as prescribed by the Benefits Committee on a form
prescribed by and filed with the Benefits Committee (or its agent) to have such Share certificates issued to both such
participant and a designated individual, in joint tenancy with right of survivorship or in tenancy in common. A joint
ownership election will be effective with respect to the date that such Share certificates are issued. Such joint
ownership election will remain in effect for Share certificates issued to such participant on or before the earlier to
occur of (i) the participant’s death or (ii) the date which is 31 days after the participant files a proper written
revocation of such election with the Benefits Committee (or its agent). A participant who revokes a joint ownership
election may not make another joint ownership election during the 12 month period fol]owmg the date the written
revocation was received by the Benefits Committee (or its agent}.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section or any other provisions contained in this Plan, no
Share certificates will be issued, transferred or sold on behalf of any participant who is an “Officer” of the Company,
as such term is defined in Rule 16a-i(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, until
six months after such Shares have been purchased for the account of the participant.
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16. Expenses. The Company or the Covered Entity will bear the costs associated with administering the Plan
and purchasing Shares, including any brokers’ fees, commissions, postage or transfer taxes. No expenses attrib-
utable to a participant’s sale or transfer of Shares, however, will be borne by the Company or the Covered Entity.

17. Cash Dividends and Share Distributions.

a. Cash Dividends. Cash dividends attributable to Shares allocated to participants’ Share accounts as of the
record date for which such cash dividends are declared will be credited to participants’ Share accounts as of the
dividend payment date and applied to Share purchases and allocations on such date in accordance with the methods
set forth in Sections 13 and 14 hereof.

b. Share Distributions and Share Splits.  Share distributions and Share splits attributable to Shares allocated
to participants’ Share accounts as of the Share distribution record date or the Share split effective date will be
credited directly to participants’ Share accounts as of the record date and the effective date, respectively, of such
Share distributions and such Share splits.

c. Share Rights and Warrants. The Company may, from time to time, in the exercise of its sole discretion,
declare Share rights or warrants with respect to Shares. Following and as of the record date for determining those
shareholders of record entitled to receive Share rights or warrants with respect to their Shares, the Company shall
issue, and the Benefits Committee shall allocate, such Share rights andfor warrants directly to the appropriate
participants as though the Shares allocated to the account of each such participant were held of record by such
participant. Certificates representing such Share rights or warrants, if any such certificates have been authorized by
the Board of Directors of the Company, may be issued to participants pursuant to the procedures set forth in
Section 15 of this Plan.

d. Changes in Common Stock. In the event of a reorganization, recapitalization, stock split, merger,
consolidation or other event causing an increase or change in the Shares, the Benefits Committee shall take
appropriate changes in the number and type of Shares that at the time of such event remain available for purchase
under the Plan. '

18. Voring Rights. Holders of Shares have the right to vote on matters affecting the Company. If one of these
matters is submitted to the stockholders for a vote, then following the record date for any stockholder meeting at
which such vote is to occur, the Benefits Committee shall advise the Company of the number of participants for
whom Shares are held in Share accounts on such record date, and the Company shalf furnish the Benefits Committee
(or its agent) with sufficient sets of its proxy soliciting materials to deliver one set to each such participant, The
Benefits Committee shall thereupon forward one set to each participant for whom allocated Shares are being held
and request voting instructions. Upon receipt of voting instructions, the Benefits Committee shall vote the Shares as
instructed. The Benefits Committee shall not vote any Share allocated to a participant’s Share account unless voting
instructions have been received from the participant.

19. Records and Reports to Participanis. The Benefits Committee shall cause to be maintained true and
accurate books of account, and a record of all transactions under the Plan, and such accounts, béoks and records
relating thereto shall be open to inspection and audit by such person or persons designated by the Company. At least
annually, but in all cases on or before March 31 of each year, the Benefits Committee shall fite with the Treasurer of
the Company a written report setting forth all receipts and disbursements and other transactions effected on behalf
of the Plan during the last preceding Plan Year, including a description of all Shares purchased together with the cost
of all such Shares. Such report shall also disclose any liabilities of the Plan and shall show, as of the close of the Plan
Year, the value of each active cash account and Share account of each participant together with the record of Share
certificates delivered to each of the participants during such Plan Year. The Benefits Committee shall have the right
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to maintain one or more bank accounts for funds contributed to the Plan, and to make deposits in and withdrawals
therefrom in connection with its administration of the Plan,

An annual report shall be rendered to each participant in the Plan annually within 90 days after the close of the
Plan Year, showing for the Plan Year just ended:

a. the amounts of employee payroll deductions made for such participant;

b. the amounts of Company Contributions made for such participant;

c. the amounts of any Company Voluntary Contributions allocated to such participant’s account;
d. the amounts of cash dividends credited to such participant’s cash account;

e. the number of Shares acquired for such participant’s Share account (including the amounts of Share
distributions or Share splits so allocated or credited);

f. the cost to the participant per Share of Shares purchased for such participant;
g. the number of Shares, if any, for which certificates were delivered to such participant; and
h. the beginning and ending balances in the participant’'s Share and cash accounts.

20. Termination of Employment. Settlement of the accounts of participants whose employment has termi-
nated shall be made as soon as possible following the date on which termination of employment occurred. As
promptly as practicable after the date on which termination of employment occurred, the Benefits Committee wiil
deliver to such former participant (or such former participant’s brokerage account, if elected by such participant on
a timely basis) a certificate for the number of whole Shares allocated to such participant’s Share account and not
previously distributed, together with a check for (i) any remaining cash balance and (ii) the value of any fractional
Shares allocated to such participant’s Share account. Alternatively, the terminated participant may elect on a timely
basis to have the Share Administrative Agent sell the Shares in order to receive the net proceeds in lieu of the Shares.

In the event of a participant’s death, settlement will be made to the participant’s designated beneficiary, if any.
If no beneficiary has been designated, or if such beneficiary does not survive the participant, settlement will be
made to the participant’s duly appointed legal representative after the satisfaction of any applicable legal
requirements. If a participant has been married for at least one year at the time of his death, his spouse must
consent (or have consented) in writing for any nonspousal beneficiary designation to be effective.

21. Amendment and Termination of the Plan. The Company, acting through its Board of Directors, reserves
the right to amend the Pian at any time, provided, that no such amendment shall affect any participant’s right to a
benefit of contributions made by such participant and by the Company prior to the date of the amendment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board of Directors has delegated to the Benefits Committee the authority
to adopt administrative amendments to the Plan, provided, that such amendments do not involve a change in the
costs or liability of the Company or alter the benefits payable thereunder. The Board of Directors has delegated to
the Compensation Committee the authority to adopt all other amendments to the Plan, provided, that such
amendments do not significantly increase or decrease benefit amounts, or are required to be adopted by the Board of
Directors under the Code or the regulations thereunder. The Board of Directors retains the authority to adopt
amendmentts to the Plan that significantly increase or decrease benefit amounts, or are required to be adopted by the
Board of Directors under the Code or regulations thereunder.

The Company, acting through its Board of Directors, may terminate the Plan at the end of any Plan Quarter.
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In the event of termination of the Plan, the Benefits Committee will make an allocation of Shares to the Share
accounts of the participants in the usual manner. As soon as practicable, the Benefits Committee will distribute to or
on behalf of each participant the number of whole Shares held in such participant’s Share account plus an amount of
cash equal to the balance in such participant’s cash account and the value of any fractional Shares allocated to such
participant’s Share account.

22. Limitation on Sale of Shares. No Shares will be sold under the Plan to any employee residing or
employed in any jurisdiction where the sale of such Shares is not permitted under the applicable laws.

23. Amendments to Effect Registration. The Benefits Committee is authorized upon advice of counsel to
make such amendments to the Plan as may be necessary or desirable to facilitate obtaining an effective registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933 and covering Shares
issued pursuant hereto.
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